MINISTRY OF EDUCATION, YOUTH AND SPORT



AIB RESEARCH SERIES

VOLUME II

PHNOM PENH, 2022

The Institute for your successful professional career

this page is intertionally let blank

EDITORS AND REVIEWERS

Editorial Boards

Dy Samsideth, Ph.D., Chair Heng Kreng, Ph.D., Vice-Chair Phon Narin, Ph.D. Rath Rattanak Norng Phirum

Editor-in-Chief

Sam Chanphirun, Ph.D. Peou Chivoin, Ph.D.

Associate Editors

Norng Sokha **ACLEDA** Institute of Business Hok Pisith Ngam Phorn

Peer Reviewers

Hor Chantha, Ph.D. Sam Chinho, Ph.D. Sau lay, Ph.D. No Fata. Ph.D. Chhay Phang, Ph.D. So Suthy, Ph.D. Phou Sambath, Ph.D. Eam Phyrom, Ph.D. Pradeep Panthi, Ph.D. Al Muizzuddin Fazaalloh, Ph.D Ministry of Education, Youth and Sport Ministry of Education, Youth and Sport **ACLEDA** Institute of Business **ACLEDA** Institute of Business **ACLEDA** Institute of Business

Phnom Penh Teacher Education College Royal University of Phnom Penh

ACLEDA Institute of Business **ACLEDA** Institute of Business

ACLEDA Bank Plc Pannasastra University of Cambodia National University of Management World Bank National University of Management Royal Academy of Cambodia Royal University of Phnom Penh CDRI ADBI Nagoya University, Japan

Key Remarks from Managing Director of AIB

ACLEDA Institute of Business, the leading business school with the highest quality standard to develop future generations to support the socio-economic development in Cambodia and the Region is a subsidiary company of ACLEDA Bank Plc's, which recognized by the Royal Government of Cambodia in 2016 as a private higher education institution was transformed from ACLEDA Training Center (ATC). The mission of AIB is to provide learners with the superior quality of higher education services and professional training in business education so that they can develop their knowledge, skills, experiences, ethics and networking in order to enhance their professional future careers.

As per basic of applied research have currently been a central focus in order to transform Cambodia into a digital economy, AIB has been committed to take part of contribution of promoting a research culture of Cambodia in line with its vision and mission. AIB has integrated industry attachment and lifelong learning into teaching and learning curriculum and extracurricular activities. For instance, the programs of AIB are conducted by using problem-based, inquiry-based, project-based, mini-research, and presentation.

As part of a strategic leadership, AIB has encouraged outstanding students to conduct thesis writing in order to fulfill their graduate requirements; and several of the top quality papers have been selected systematically by using double-blind review and editorial process, so that they could be published in AIB Research Series. Furthermore, AIB has integrated research publications into career development scheme, especially for the full-time faculty members, so that they could be promoted from a senior lecturer to an assistant professor and all the ways up to a professor title.

Last but not least, AIB is going to publish the Research Series two issues per volume annually; moreover, a local and a regional researcher will be invited to publish his or her work in AIB Research Series, so that an academic community can be initially created and sustainably developed in Cambodia and the Region.

-hoan

Phon Narin, Ph.D. Managing Director

Key Remarks from Editorial Board

Academic Affairs Committee is a technical arm of the Board of Directors of AIB to advise on teaching, learning and research domains. Quality and relevance of teaching and learning are our priority to ensure that students will be useful citizens and well accepted in the world of work after their graduation from AIB. We are committed to the empowerment of the faculty members through capacity building and professional development for the betterment of their respective services.

AIB Research Series is the first attempt to promote a sharing of knowledge. Against this backdrop, I would like to draw your attention that authors take weeks, months and years to conduct research and write research articles, but you may spend only hours and days to read and comprehend their articles. Thus, I would like to congratulate the authors on their efforts and I also encourage you to read with interest for your professional development.

On behalf of the Committee, I would like to wish the faculty members and the students of the AIB every success in their future endeavors and academic society.

7. Edeller

Dy Samsideth, Ph.D. Chairman of the AACO and Editorial Board

Key Remarks from Editor-in-Chief

We are delighted to celebrate the launch of the AIB Research Series II after the series I. This AIB Research Series will be another important contribution to the advancement of knowledge and improvement of relevant situations. On behalf of the AIB Editorial Team, I would like to extend a very warm welcome to the readership of the AIB Research Series. I would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere thanks to all authors, board members, editors, and reviewers, all of whom have contributed to the success of the Research Series, which is developed in line with one of the missions of AIB to promote research activities within its academic community to ensure quality education.

The AIB Research Series II primarily focuses on research examining issues centering around the fields of business and education. This provides a crucial forum to address important issues and share research findings, and discuss various aspects in business and education, from which the readership in the field can benefit. This volume consists of a variety of research topics which include customer satisfaction, training and development, blended learning, etc., in which the research employs qualitative and quantitative approaches.

We believe that the regular research publications in the AIB Research Series involving various topics will pave the way for AIB to become the leading institution in academic research and development in Cambodia.

Sam Chanphirun, Ph.D. Editor-in-chief

Key Remarks from Editor-in-Chief for AIB Research Series

It is our great pleasure to bring you this second volume of AIB Research Series. This series may have been a relatively small contribution to knowledge production in the fields of finance, education, and ICT4D, yet the dire need to build and document the experiences and developments in Cambodia and from Cambodian perspectives has made this series highly valuable. The authors and editorial and reviewing team are highly commended for bringing together such a collection of knowledge.

This second volume brings together efforts to understand the problem of technological innovation and acceptance around mobile payment applications from different experiences, as well as document several instances of career and skill developments in Cambodia. However, limited these efforts may be in terms of theoretical approaches and settings, the articles in this volume provide a rather rich illustration of diverse behaviors and motivations involving current major developments in Cambodia. I believe this collection is a foundation for further knowledge building both at AIB and within the country.

Peou Chivoin, Ph.D. Editor-in-chief

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	Promoting Research Productivity at Cambodian Higher Education Institution from a Leadership Perspective: The Case Study of ACLEDA Institute of Business <i>By Sokha Norng, Chanphirun Sam.</i>	1-17
2.	Impact of Training and Development on Employee Performance through Job Satisfaction: A Case Study at ACLEDA Bank Plc. By Chanthorn Thabm, Rattanak Rath, Phirum Norng	18-33
3.	Equity Valuation in Practice: What shall be the share price of ACLEDA Bank Plc. (ABC)? <i>By Pisith Hok, Sokha Norng, Meardey Phlek, Sokhom Ma, Muoyseam Chang</i>	34-46
4.	Adoption of Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT) Model on Students' Perceptions Towards Online Learning By Bun Khem, Sokunthy Oum, Lundy Sem	47-61
5.	Adopting Theory of Planned Behavior on the Study of Blended Learning at the Higher Education Institutions in Cambodia By Sokha Norng, Pisith Hok, Lay Sau	62-84
6.	Investigating Factors Influencing Students' Intention to Learn Mathematics Using the Theory of Planned Behavior: A Case at ACLEDA Institute of Business By Sokha Norng, Chanrey Pang, Mady Sen, Phorn Ngam	85-104
7.	The Adoption of SERVQUAL Model on the Study of Customer Satisfaction of ACLEDA Unity Toanchet <i>By Dinasane San, Raingsey Keo, Chanthorn Thab</i>	105-120
8.	Consumers' Attitudes Towards the Intention to Adopt Mobile Payment System: A Study on Bakong App of the National Bank of Cambodia <i>By Putheary Phan, Sovannary Long, Laychamnan Meas, Vanda Vong</i>	121-140
9.	Impact of Promotion Strategies on Adoption of Mobile Banking: A Case Study of ACLEDA Mobile By Vimeanpichta Prak, Kimdaneth Ou, Monyta Chamroeun, Khunsopheakneath Pen, Nimol Nou, Bun Khem	141-158
10.	Factors Hindering University Students to Adopt ACLEDA Mobile By Phorn Ngam, Sokha Norng	159-171
11.	Factors Influencing Students' Major Choice Intention: A Case Study of Finance and Banking Major at AIB By Dina Lim, Ratha Long, Chandara Sam, Phorn Ngam	172-187



Promoting Research Productivity at Cambodian Higher Education Institution from Leadership Perspective: The Case Study of ACLEDA Institute of Business

Sokha Norng¹ & Chanphirun Sam²

Corresponding Author. Email: norng.sokha@acleda-aib.edu.kh 1. ACLEDA Institute of Business 2. Phnom Penh Teacher Education College

ABSTRACT

Research productivity can be developed only if there is stakeholder involvement, especially from a leadership perspective. Thus, this study attempts to examine how institutional and leadership characteristics influence research productivity at a Cambodian higher educational institution. The study employed a qualitative approach, including document analysis, interviews, and focus group discussions in order to seek insights into research productivity at ACLEDA Institute of Business (AIB). Using theme-based analysis, the study has found that research productivity at AIB is currently at a very early stage of development – so-called infant stage, at which research articles are mainly produced by both lecturers and students. The study has also found that most of the institutional characteristics such as clear coordinating goals, research emphasis, culture, positive group climate, communication with professional networks, resources, sufficient work time, communication, rewards, brokered opportunities, decentralized organization, and assertive participative government do exist at AIB. However, there were some characteristics missing concerning the institutional factors, namely recruitment and selection, mentoring, and size, experience and expertise. More importantly, leadership characteristics such as scholarship, research orientation, capability fulfilling all critical leadership roles, and participative leadership do play important roles in promoting research productivity at AIB.

Keyword: research productivity, institutional characteristics, leadership characteristics



1. Introduction

The Cambodian government has recently focused on research activities in order to make Cambodia become a knowledge-based society. According to the Royal Government's Rectangular Strategy (Phase IV 2014-2018), the Royal Government in the sixth Legislature of the National Assembly has emphasized "creating mechanisms to help weak students with concrete incentives, research, and development of new teaching and learning methods" (p.21). Likewise, as stated in the Cambodia Industrial Development Policy 2015-2025, the Royal Government also focuses on strengthening education quality for research development. In line with the strategy, as summarized in Heng (2020), the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sport (MoEYS) has developed several policies namely Policy on Research Development in Education Sector, Master Plan for Research Development in Education Sector, Policy on Higher Education Quality and Capacity Improvement Project (HEQCIP) and Higher Education Improvement Project (HEIP). These efforts have been initiated because research and publication in Cambodia falls behind several countries in the region (Barrot, 2017; and Heng, 2020).

More importantly, these efforts can be implemented effectively with the participation from all levels of stakeholders. According to Heng (2020), the macro or national level is responsible for policy formulation and ensuring the effectiveness and efficiency of implementation; the meso or institutional level is responsible for creating a conducive and supportive environment for promoting research culture; and the micro or individual level, referring to an individual academic or researcher, needs to have a strong commitment and intrinsic motivation to engage in research culture. The same study also noted that the micro could fully participate in the research culture only if there is emotional and financial support from the meso and macro levels. Sam and Dahles (2017) have suggested that stakeholder collaboration needs to be promoted by policymakers and institutional leaders in order to push research and development forward in Cambodia to respond to the global context of knowledge-based economy.

As cited in Cheetham (2014), research culture is crucial not only for a research-focused institution but also for a teaching-focused institution (Blackburn et al., 1991). Currently, many institutions globally are pressured to develop research culture and faculty research production (Youn & Price, 2009). One of the major forces is the institutional reputation, and research publication, especially citations per faculty, is one of the criteria for QS (Quacquarelli Symonds) world university ranking (Writer, 2021).

Promoting stakeholder collaboration at the macro level has currently been in place. Ngin and Kao (2017) remark that promoting a research culture among students and lecturers is one of the keys to producing skilled and innovative human resources in Cambodia. However, it is still a question at the institutional level, especially the role of leadership. Kian-Woon et al. (2010) have found research culture and research capacity to be limited in many universities in



Cambodia; and the study acknowledges the importance of academic governance and leadership in promoting research culture and capacity. Eam (2018) has also claimed that leadership plays an important role in the transitional period of research development in Cambodia. The study shows some evidence that leaders of some higher education institutions are the game changers who contribute to the development of research activities within their own institutions.

In order to respond to the abovementioned issue and rationale, this study attempts to examine how institutional and leadership characteristics influence research productivity at a Cambodian higher education institution by using the case of the ACLEDA Institute of Business (AIB). In order to shed light for the study, three research questions have been raised: What are the current institutional leadership characteristics of AIB? What are the current developments of research activities of AIB? And how do AIB's institutional leadership characteristics shape its research productivity?

In response to the above research questions, the study follows three steps. First of all, the study analyzes key literature, namely policy, structure, and operating manuals and procedures of AIB. Secondly, the study conducts in-depth interviews and focus group discussions with key participants. Finally, the study discusses the key findings with the existing pieces of literature so that a meaningful conclusion can be made.

The Setting

This study focuses on the institutional level, that is, the ACLEDA Institute of Business (AIB), which is a subsidiary institution of ACLEDA Bank Plc. AIB was recognized by the Cambodian Ministry of Education, Youth and Sport in 2016 as a private higher education institution, which was transformed from ACLEDA Training Center (ATC).

This study selected AIB as the case among other 128 higher education institutions (HEIs) in Cambodia because research activities have become one of the priorities emphasized by its management and leadership even though it is a newly established HEI. This study attempts to explore how institutional and leadership characteristics influence research productivity at AIB.

2. Literature Review

2.1 Definition of research productivity

According to Ngin and Kao (2017), research productivity is composed of publications, citations, patents, research completions, and research funds. The administrators refer to the research productivity of the faculty as the number of publications produced by the faculty members; however, the faculty members argue that the assessment of research productivity should be based on "the quality of publications not the number of the publications" (Quimbo & Sulabo, 2014, p.1957). In short, "research productivity is defined as the product of research activities" (Caminiti et al., 2015, p.2). The research productivity can be measured at the early stage of research culture process, that is, gestation stage.



According to Olvido (2021), gestation or initiating, is a production stage which involves producing research and writing manuscripts. This stage requires the institutions to invest in capacity building for the faculty members and research production can be produced by both faculty members and students. The second stage is the expansion or developing, at which the institutions reach a stable phase, where a quality of research activity and output increases. Moreover, Olvido (2021) has found that paper presentations, dissemination, and publication of research articles exist at the expansion (flourishing) stage, and the publication of students' works is suggested to include in this stage as well. At the third stage, so-called the maturation, the research outputs benefit academia, community, and industry; therefore, research culture is fully developed, and research becomes evidence-based, influencing policies and introducing technology.

As a result, research productivity is one of the keys to increase institutional reputation as well faculty advancement (Dundar & Lewis, 1998). In order to increase research productivity, leaders have to play an important role in developing and implementing policy, encouraging teamwork, and motivating.

2.2 Leadership, individual, and institutional characteristics in promoting research productivity

Bland et al. (2002) describe that research productivity reaches the highest level when there is a relationship between individual characteristics and institutional characteristics, which are mediated by leadership characteristics. The below list shows that research culture and productivity can be fully developed through the interaction between individual, institutional and leadership characteristics (Bland et al., 2002).

2.3 Individual characteristics

According to Bland et al. (2002), the individual characteristics refer to the knowledge, skills, attitude and motivation of the faculty members within the institution. These characteristics include socialization, motivation, content knowledge, basic and advanced research skills, simultaneous projects, orientation, autonomy and commitment, and work habits.

2.4 Institutional characteristics

Cheetham (2014) remarks that the second characteristics are the institution ones, which are shaped by three main themes such as importance of collegiality, long-term goals, and already-present characteristics. Several studies support that institutional characteristics, especially a well-established one, play an important role in promoting the research productivity (Creswell, 1985; Dundar & Lewis, 1998; Bland et al., 2002). First, institutions that influence research productivity should recruit and select faculty members who are equipped with research skills and are motivated and committed to doing research. Second, there should be clear coordinating goals, which are shared among faculty members. Third, the institutions should emphasize research, which is equivalent to or even greater than other goals. Fourth, the institutions should emphasize a culture, in which research-related values and practices have been



shared among members. Fifth, the institutions should create a positive group climate, which is "characterized by high morale, a spirit of innovation, dedication to work, receptivity to new ideas, frequent interactions, high degree of cooperation, low member turnover, good leader/member relationships, and open discussion. Sixth, faculty members should be assisted by the mentors who are scholars. Seventh, there should be a communication with professional research network both inside and outside the institutions. Eighth, there should be enough resources such as funding, facilities, and especially human ones for supporting faculty members. Ninth, there should be sufficient work time for faculty members to be committed to doing research. Tenth, there should be large enough faculty members obtaining experience and expertise in order to produce research result. Eleventh, there should be clear communication channels so that all faculty members are kept informed. Twelfth, there should be equity and comparable rewards such as money, promotion, recognition, and new responsibilities. Thirteenth, faculty members should be offered brokered (professional development) opportunities regularly so that they can grow continuously. Fourteenth, the structure of the organization should be centralized and flat. Fifteenth, faculty members expect an assertive participative governance which clear and common goals are shared by assertive and participative leadership (Bland et al., 2002; Marchant, 2009; Cheetham, 2014).

Individual characteristics	Institutional characteristics	Leadership characteristics
1.Socialization	1.Recruitment and selection	1.Scholar
2.Motivation	2.Clear coordinating goals	2.Research Oriented
3.Content knowledge	3.Research emphasis	3.Capability fulfills all
4.Basic and advance research skills	4.Culture	critical leadership roles
5.Simultaneous projects	5.Positive group climate	4.Participative leader
6.Orientation	6.Mentoring	
7. Autonomy and commitment	7.Communication with professional	
8.Work habits	network	
	8.Resources	
	9.Sufficient work time	
	10.Size/experience/expertise	
	11.Communication	
	12.Rewards	
	13.Brokered opportunities	
	14.Decentralized organization	
	15.Assertive participative governance	

Table 1: List of Description of Individual, Institutional, and Leadership Characteristics

Adapted from (Bland et al., 2005)

2.5 Leadership characteristics in promoting research productivity

The leadership characteristics, which include scholar, research oriented, capability of fulfilling critical leadership roles, and participative leader, are the connectors between individual and institutional characteristics.



Leadership has been central focuses for researchers over these last decades. According to Yukl (2013), leadership has been defined in terms of traits, behaviors, influence, interaction patterns, role relationships, and occupation of an administrative position. Rauch Jr and Behling (1984) define leadership as the process of influencing and organized group toward accomplishing its goals; as actions that focus resources to create desirable opportunities (Campbell, 1991); as the process of creating conditions for a team to be effective (Ginnett, 1996); and as the process of getting results through others and the ability to build cohesive, goal-oriented teams (Hogan, Curphy, Kaiser, & Chamorro-Premuzic, 2018).

Even though individual is the active agent in producing research publication, they need to be supported and motivated from the institution, which is mediated by leadership characteristics (Cheetham, 2014 & Bland et al., 2005). They mainly share four main characteristics or behaviors. First of all, the leaders have to be *idealized influence* (Dubrin et al., 2006), who "have to be scholars who play role model as sponsor, mentor, and peer for other group members." (Bland et al., 2002); Secondly they have to be *inspirational motivation* (Dubrin et al., 2006), who "have to be research oriented which can be the foundation for translating research mission to other group members." (Bland et al., 2002); Thirdly, they have to be *intellectual stimulation* (Dubrin et al., 2006), who "are capable fulfilling critical leadership roles, namely managing people and resources, raising fund, advocating group, aligning mission and goals, and attending research activities conducted by individual and institution as much as possible." (Bland et al., 2002); Finally, they have to be *individualized consideration* (Dubrin et al., 2006), who "have to use assertive and participative style of leadership. They have to hold frequently meetings, set expectations, make high-quality information, and vest ownership of project." (Bland et al., 2002).

3. Methods

This study employed a qualitative method, which involves a document analysis, a focus group discussion, and an interview (Schindler, 2019). The document analysis is crucial in this study since it "provides background and context, additional questions to be asked, supplementary data, a means of tracking change and development, and verification of findings from other data sources" (Bowen, 2009, p.30). The focus group discussion is very useful when inserting some activity-oriented questions adapted to the topic, and it potentially enriches data collection, reduce drops in attention, and eases in talking about sensitive and complex topic (Colucci, 2007). Finally, as cited in Sam (2017), the interview provides interaction setting for exploring experiences and perspectives of their partners (Schostak, 2005).

3.1 Key participants and relevant documents

The key participants include the Chairman of Academic Affairs Committee (AACO), Managing Director, Deputy Managing Director (DMD & CAA) in charge of academic affairs,



and editor in chief. The relevant documents involve policy, operating manuals and procedures for analysis.

3.2 Research tools

This study employed two useful tools in the qualitative methods. The first tool is an interview guide of the unstructured interview. According to Edwards and Holland (2013), the unstructured interview allows the interviewee to talk from their perspective using their frame of reference and ideas and meanings that are familiar to them. Moreover, the interview guide outlines the topics or themes to be covered during the actual interview (Esterberg, 2002), and the questions of the interview cover themes related to leadership and institutional characteristics, which mainly benchmark from Bland et al., (2005). The second tool is a focus group guide. According to Kelly (2003), focus group interview guide allows interviewer to lay out question design to achieve the richness of data during time together with participants. The study develops questions, which explicitly address the key themes with clear phrases and appropriate sequences.

3.3 Data collection

First of all, the study collected all relevant documents related to organizational productivity and chart, code of conducts, code of ethics, term of reference, recruitment and selection manuals, training and development manuals, performance appraisal manuals, and research manuals and procedures for bachelor's degree, master's degree, and AIB Research Series. Secondly, the study conducted unstructured interview with the managing director and deputy managing director. Last but not least, the study conducted focus group discussion with key participants from AIB, namely representative of the Board of Directors (BoD), who is the Chairman of Academic Affairs Committee (AACO), DMD & CAA, and the editor in chief.

3.4 Data analysis

To capture the insights of the institutional and leadership characteristics, the study first reviewed and analyzed all the relevant documents. The interviews and focus group discussions were then transcribed and coded based on themes and subthemes from each research participant. The subtheme on the current stage of research development at AIB was coded as TH01; and the relationship between institutional characteristics and research productivity, reasons for promoting research productivity, the roles of leadership in promoting research productivity, challenges in promoting research productivity, coping with the challenges, and strategies to promote research productivity including long-term and short-term planning relevance to research activities were coded as TH02, TH03, TH04, TH05, TH06, and TH07, respectively. Codes such as P1, P1, P3 and P4 were assigned for the four key research participants and exemplary quotes were used as the evidence for the explanation of the relevant themes.



3.5 Ethical consideration

In order to ensure integrity and ethical standard, the researchers sent the consent form the key participants by indicating the confidentiality and voluntary participation. Before interviewing them, the researchers presented the consent form and asked permission from them to record the interview for in-depth analysis including note taking during the interview. Likewise, the researcher also asked permission from the participants to record the discussion session during the focus group discussion. Last but not least, the researchers analyze the data carefully in order to make sure that the findings are reliable and accurate.

4. Findings

4.1 Background of ACLEDA Institute of Business

The Vision of AIB is to be the leading business school with the highest quality standard to develop future generations to support the socio-economic development in Cambodia and the Region. Moreover, the mission of (AIB) is to provide learners with the superior quality of higher education services and professional training in business education so that they can develop their knowledge, skills, experiences, ethics and networking in order to enhance their professional future careers (AIB, n.d.-a).

Like his parent company, AIB is structured with a strong culture of professional ethics, quality, accountability and transparency. Five main functions of AIB are currently managed and lead by a managing director, namely Academic Department, Finance Department, Graduate School, Centre for Internal Training, and Centre for Entrepreneurship Training and Development. Practicing a good governance, Board of Directors (BoD) acts on behalf of the shareholder who is hundred percent owned by ACLEDA Bank Plc. BoD has to ensure that the executive body, headed by the managing director, performs his function well; moreover, BoD plays roles as strategic advice to the managing director so that the vision and mission can be achieved and as compliance and audit body to shareholder so that ethics and transparency can be maintained. Academic Affairs Committee is a technical arm of the BoD, to advise on the quality of teaching, learning, and research domains.

4.2 Research activity at AIB

Seventeen students of the first batch participated in thesis writing on finance and banking and all of them were successful in their final thesis defense. Currently, there are nine students of the second batch participating in thesis writing on mobile banking and Bakong payment system. AIB Research Series, Volume I, which is a double-blind peer review, has been successfully published in the Business Review of AIB's website. AIB is currently organizing the faculty members into team to produce research articles for the Volume II of AIB Research Series, which will be published in 2022. AIB's planning to organize an internal conference and



inter-university conference, which provide opportunity for the faculty members to present their papers and outreach the public.

4.3 The current stage of research development at AIB

Based on the document analysis and the interviews, the study found that the research activities at AIB is currently at the very early stage of development. Outstanding students are encouraged to write thesis and transform their theses into research articles, coauthored with their supervisors and co-supervisors. The faculty members have been formed into group, led by Technical Team Leader (TTL), to produce the research articles. Most of the research articles are reviewed before publishing at AIB Research Series.

4.4 The relationship between institutional characteristics and the research productivity

The work environment of AIB is conducive for promoting research productivity because of the policy and practice, operating manual and procedure, supportive leadership, teamwork, supporting offices such as Center for Research & Innovation. P1 states,

"The culture of work, which is (Start small and do well) at ACLEDA, is really fit with the development of research activity."

Furthermore, P3 states,

"Our culture is teamwork and very supportive. We have developed operating manuals and procedures in order to set standards and guidelines for the organizational practices."

4.5 Reasons for promoting research productivity

The current higher educational institution (HEI) focuses on three core missions, namely teaching, research, and entrepreneurship as stated by P4. Research and publications can help build the image of AIB and upgrade the capacity of the faculty members and the students. P2 states,

"We want to differentiate AIB from many other HEIs in Cambodia. AIB focuses on research activity because it can broaden new-and-updated knowledge to faculty members and students and it can build the reputation." He continues, "Many HEIs get success because of research ... research contributes to student's decision making as well HEIs' decision since new findings can improve current situation especially top universities such as Harvard and Chulalongkon."

More importantly, research and publications help categorize AIB into the top university ranking in the region and build bridge to the public, professional practice and community. This is in line with the mission of AIB. P1 states,

"We want AIB to become a Research University in 2030. We want to see AIB to become top 500 university in Asia or top 200 university in Southeast Asia." He continues, "We want AIB's researchers to outreach to the public by presenting and publishing the papers. We want to see (PLC, which means Professional Learning Community) and (COP, which means Community of Practice) at AIB"



4.6 The roles of leadership in promoting research productivity

Leadership plays important role in promoting research productivity as it mediates the relationship between the individual and the institution characteristic. In order to promote the research productivity, the leaders, first of all, have to be scholar. The study found most of the top leaders of AIB meet this characteristic since they hold high qualifications. For instance, the Chairman of Academic Affairs Committee (AACO) is a very highly regarded as a scholar, holding Ph.D. from Japan, and publish several recognized research articles, journals and book chapters. At the top executive level, the managing director graduated in the field of Business Administration from a local university, and he has written thesis at his master program and dissertation at his doctoral program. He used to publish a research article on special economic zone at the university he graduated as well.

Secondly, the study found the leaders of AIB are inspired and motivated. They set high vision and mission for AIB and they work with the relevant managers to set clear mechanisms to achieve the long-term mission. For instance, Chairman of AACO proposed the Centre for Research & Innovation to lay out 10-years planning by breaking them into 5-year planning twice. In the first 3 years, the strategic priorities are concerned with the capacity development of faculty members and strengthening research publications. Chairman of AACO has spent at least twice a year conducting a research seminar or workshop.

Thirdly, the study found that most of the leadership characteristics of AIB meet the criterion of intellectual stimulation. The management team of AIB pay full attention to the research activity, especially participating in every research training seminar from the start to the end. Moreover, the study found that the leaders nominate the head and manager of each center/department/office based on their relevant qualifications, year of experiences, and good attitudes.

Finally, the study found the leaders of AIB use both assertive and participative style of leadership. They hold meetings frequently; for instance, EXCO conduct meetings to solve issues, initiate strategic priority, and assign new actions every week. The Centre for Research & Innovation has initiated a meeting with the assigned group of faculty members every week to ensure that they can produce the research article timely. The study also found there is a facilitating mechanism for the students who are going to write a thesis.

4.7 Challenges in promoting the research productivity

Promoting the research productivity is still a major challenge. First of all, AIB is a newly established HEI and most of the faculty members at AIB have few experiences in research. They have problems in using statistical software. P3 states,

"AIB is relatively new to higher education section, thus it is a bit struggling for building research culture. Several years ago, AIB used to provide several trainings on research, but it was less likely effective since there was a lack of mechanism to support faculty members to produce a research article." He continues, "the faculty members have more than 10 years of



experience in a banking sector; however, the research task is new to them, especially their knowledge about research methods and statistical tools is limited."

Moreover, the budget of research was allocated based on the need of each department. Last but not least, the inclusion of research requirements in recruitment and selection process, mentoring, and size/experience/expertise are all missing.

4.8 Coping with these challenges

Most of the challenges in promoting research productivity come from the individual characteristics. Therefore, in order to cope with these challenges, capacity building, resource allocation and facilitating process are needed. P1 states,

"The management should arrange the faculty members based on their traits and capacity. For instance, the management should assign the maximum teaching hours (stated in the policy) to those faculty members who are good at teaching and teaching-focused; and assign a certain number of teaching hours (ranging from 6 to 10 hours) per week to those faculty members who are good at and willing to do research."

Furthermore, the study found that AIB has initiated workshop series on topics related to research, namely Introduction to Research Publications, How to Conduct Literature Review, Research Methodology, Quantitative Data Analysis, and From Hypothesis Building to Hypothesis Testing. P3 states,

"We invite PhD Trainer from outside to conduct training seminars related to research topics to our faculty members as part of the capacity building."

Another remedy to cope with the challenge is that AIB has initiated research teamwork and facilitating process in order to inspire the faculty members to participate in producing research articles. P2 states,

"We create a research team. Most of the Technical Team Leaders (TTL) lead and guide each research activity. We have delegated DMD & CAA to take this research responsibility. We have developed research manual for thesis writing and AIB research series. We have also delegate power to each relevant department/unit to do all this task." P3 continues, "Even I, myself, have formed a group of three who are the management."

4.9 Strategies to promote research productivity including long-term and short-term planning relevance to research activities

The study found that in order to promote a research productivity to reach the expansion stage, the management of AIB is going to lay out long-term strategy. AIB has created a research standard, conducted a capacity assessment and developed mechanism to build research capacity for the faculty members. P2 states,

"The research operating manuals and procedures have been developed in line with AIB's strategy. Moreover, the Center for Research & Innovation has been created in the purpose of supporting research activity."



Furthermore, P1 has laid out a road map for AIB to promote the research productivity and activities as follows:

- Trainable (provide more training as part of the capacity building)

- Arrange the faculty members in a group who are good at research

- Initiate Inter-University Conference (with university partners)

- Strengthen quality research (evidence-based policy)

- Think Tank University (provides advice to MoEYS, government, and so forth)

Moreover, P1 recommends AIB to establish a critical mass and to update the professorship title as the followings:

- PhD holders with many years of teaching experiences (Professor who is good at teaching)

- PhD holders with Research experiences plus publications (Professor who is good at research)

- Master holders with ability to mobilize research grant (Professor who is good at developing proposal for grant)

4.10 Discussion

The research activity at AIB is currently at the very early stage of development, which research articles are produced by both lectures and students. Thus it is at the beginning of the initiating stage as mentioned by Olvido (2021).

Moreover, the key findings indicate that individual agents (faculty members) are motivated to participate in the research activity which is consistent to Bland et al. (2002); yet their research skills and knowledge of statistical tools are limited since they have more than 10 years of practical experiences in banking industry.

Through document analysis, interview and focus group discussion, the study found that a large amount of the institutional characteristics of AIB are consistent with (Bland et al., 2002), which can influence research productivity, namely clear coordinating goals, research emphasis, culture, positive group climate, communication with professional network, resources, sufficient work time, communication, rewards, brokered opportunities, decentralization organization, and assertive participative governance. However, the missing characteristics of the institutional factor are recruitment and selection, mentoring, and size/experience/expertise, which have already been stated in the solution to cope with challenges. The managing director has actioned DMD & CAA to integrate research requirements into the process of recruitment and selection new full-time faculty members. Moreover, the Chairman of AACO suggests to hire recognized, experienced researchers, adjunct professor, and visiting professors to mentor and share experiences to the full-time faculty member.

More importantly, the study found leadership characteristics of AIB play crucial roles in promoting research productivity, which are in line with (Bland et al., 2002). Members of Strategic Board and Chairman of AACO are very recognized scholars. Even the managing



director obtains expert power (Marchant, 2009) and he used to write thesis from master to doctoral programs. Also, the research activity is one of the major ambitions of the shareholder. In the Business News Category of AIB's website, the research articles on business, economy, technology, and so forth have been posted regularly (AIB, n.d.-b). The Chairman of AACO wish AIB to become a university in 2030 and a research university in 2050. Both the Chairman of AACO and the managing director envision research at AIB to be evidenced-based policy and think tank to MoEYS/relevant stakeholders in the field of business and banking. The Chairman of AACO is very inspirational motivation (Dubrin et al., 2006) who inspire and motivate executive body to participate in research. Both the managing director and DMD & CAA are intellectual stimulation and individualized consideration as they are good at allocating resources, aligning mission and goals, attending every research activity, holding frequently meetings, and set high expectation. These are consistent with (Dubrin et al., 2006; Bland et al., 2002).

5. Conclusion

The study explores the influence of institutional and leadership characteristics on research productivity at a higher education institution, especially from the practice of ACLEDA Institute of Business (AIB). By adopting the model of (Bland et al., 2002), the study employed document analysis, interview, and focus group discussion of the qualitative method. The key participants are the Chairman of AASO, the managing director, the deputy managing director in charge of academic, and the editor in chief of AIB Research Series. The study collected policy, strategy, research operating manual and procedures of AIB and analyzed them into themes. Then the study compared these themes with the findings from interview and focus group, and synthesized with the existing pieces of literature.

The study found that the research at AIB is currently at the very early stage of development – so-called infant stage, in which research articles are mainly produced by both lecturers and students. The study has shown that faculty members are motivated to participate in the research activity even though their research skills and knowledge of statistical tools are limited. They have lots of practical experiences in banking industry rather in academic setting.

The study has also found that the institutional characteristics such as clear coordinating goals, research emphasis, culture, positive group climate, communication with professional network, resources, sufficient work time, communication, rewards, brokered opportunities, decentralization organization, and assertive participative government do exist at AIB. However, there have remained some characteristics which have been found missing concerning the institutional factor, namely recruitment and selection, mentoring, and size/experience/expertise. Despite this, these characteristics have been identified as the solutions to overcome the challenges.

More importantly, the study has indicated that leadership characteristics such as scholarship, research orientation, capability fulfilling all critical leadership roles, and participative leader do play important roles in promoting the research productivity at AIB.



5.1 Implication of the study

Most of the institutional and leadership characteristics play the important roles in promoting the research productivity at AIB; however, there are still missing some of the characteristics. Therefore, the study suggests the following:

- AIB should develop long-term, medium-term, and short-term strategic plan in order to promote research culture to reach the expansion stage and build research ecosystem at AIB.
- AIB should conduct capacity assessment among faculty members so that the result can help pinpoint those who are prioritized to be invested in capacity building.
- AIB should integrate research capacity in the job requirements for the recruitment and selection process of full-time faculty.
- AIB should hire adjunct professors and visiting professors who are very experienced and recognized in research, especially members of Strategic Board, to coach and mentor AIB's faculty of members.
- AIB should update the qualification requirements for promoting professorship title to the faculty members, namely assistant professor, associate professor, and professor.
- AIB should allocate annual budget plan for research so that faculty members are motivated to participate in producing the research articles.
- AIB should create a platform such as research conferences/ conference proceedings/ workshops which allow faculty members to share their experiences and research findings.
- 5.2 Research limitations and future research

The study focuses only at the institutional and leadership characteristics at a higher education institution in building the research productivity, especially from the real practice at AIB. It is hard to generalize the whole picture of research productivity at the higher education institutions (HEIs) in Cambodia. The study suggests including an in-depth study on the individual characteristics at AIB and expand the scope of the study on the institutional and leadership characteristics in promoting research productivity at other HEIs in Cambodia.



References

- AIB. (n.d.-a). AIB Profile. http://acleda-aib.edu.kh/tc/eng/profile
- AIB. (n.d.-b). Business News. http://acleda-aib.edu.kh/tc/eng/business-news
- Barrot, J. S. (2017). Research impact and productivity of Southeast Asian countries in language and linguistics. *Scientometrics*, *110*(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1007/s11192-016-2163-3
- Blackburn, R. T., Bieber, J. P., Lawrence, J. H., & Trautvetter, L. (1991). Faculty at work: Focus on research, scholarship, and service. *Research in Higher Education*, *32*(4), 385–413.
- Bland, C. J., Center, B. A., Finstad, D. A., Risbey, K. R., & Staples, J. G. (2005). A theoretical, practical, predictive model of faculty and department research productivity. *Academic Medicine*, 80(3), 225–237.
- Bland, C. J., Seaquist, E., Pacala, J. T., Center, B., & Finstad, D. (2002). One school's strategy to assess and improve the vitality of its faculty. *Academic Medicine*, 77(5), 368–376.
- Bowen, G. A. (2009). Document analysis as a qualitative research method. *Qualitative Research Journal*, *9*(2), 27–40.
- Caminiti, C., Iezzi, E., Ghetti, C., De'Angelis, G., & Ferrari, C. (2015). A method for measuring individual research productivity in hospitals: development and feasibility. *BMC Health Services Research*, *15*(1), 1–8.
- Campbell, D. P. (1991). Manual for the Campbell leadership index. *Minneapolis, MN: National Computer Systems*.
- Cheetham, A. (2014). Building a culture of research: Recommended practices. *Hanover Research*, 1–33.
- Colucci, E. (2007). "Focus groups can be fun": The use of activity-oriented questions in focus group discussions. *Qualitative Health Research*, *17*(10), 1422–1433.
- Creswell, J. W. (1985). Faculty Research Performance: Lessons from the Sciences and the Social Sciences. ASHE-ERIC Higher Education Report No. 4, 1985. ERIC.
- Dubrin, A., Dalglish, C., & Miller, P. (2006). *Leadership 2nd Asia Pacific Edition. Milton, Qld: Wiley.*
- Dundar, H., & Lewis, D. R. (1998). Determinants of research productivity in higher education. *Research in Higher Education*, *39*(6), 607–631.
- Eam, P. (2018). Current State, Key Challenges and Ways Forward for Cambodian Research Capacities: A Review of Four Studies. Cambodia Education Review, 2(1), 108-143.



- Edwards, R., & Holland, J. (2013). *What is Qualitative Interviewing?* Bloomsbury Publishing Plc.
- Esterberg, K. G. (2002). Qualitative methods in social research. Boston, MA: McGraw-Hill.
- Ginnett, R. C. (1996). Team effectiveness leadership model: Identifying leverage points for change. *Proceedings of the 1996 National Leadership Institute Conference*.
- Heng, K. (2020a). Stakeholder Collaboration : The Key to Promoting Academic Research in Cambodia. November.
- Heng, K. (2020b). The Role of University Leadership in Promoting Research in Cambodia. Cambodian Institute for Cooperation and Peace (CICP). https://cicp.org.kh/wpcontent/uploads/2021/02/CICP_Op_Ed_Series_Kimkong_Heng_The_role_of_university _leadership.pdf
- Hogan, R., Curphy, G., Kaiser, R. B., & Chamorro-Premuzic, T. (2018). Leadership in organizations. In D. S. Ones, N. Anderson, C. Viswesvaran, & H. K. Sinangil (Eds.), The SAGE handbook of industrial, work & organizational psychology: Organizational psychology (pp. 269–288). Sage Reference.
- Kelly, B. T. (2003). Focus group interviews. *Research in the College Context: Approaches and Methods*, 49–62.
- Kian-Woon, K., Sopheap, C., Chinda, H., Sedara, K., Baromey, N., & Vimealea, T. (2010). Scoping study: research capacities of Cambodia's universities [Khmer version]. CDRI Working Paper Series; No. 48.
- Marchant, T. (2009). Developing research culture—overcoming regional and historical obstacles. *Professional Doctorate Research in Australia: Commentary and Case Studies from Business, Education and Indigenous Studies*, 55–64.
- Ngin, C., & Kao, S. (2017). Productivity in Higher Education: Cambodia. In *Productivity in Higher Education Research insights for universities and governments in Asia*. Asian Productivity Organization.
- Olvido, M. M. J. (2021). Developing Research Culture: An Outcomes Perspective. *Journal of Research Administration*, 52(1), 15–37.
- Quimbo, M. A. T., & Sulabo, E. C. (2014). Research productivity and its policy implications in higher education institutions. *Studies in Higher Education*, *39*(10), 1955–1971.
- Rauch Jr, C. F., & Behling, O. (1984). Functionalism: Basis for an alternate approach to the study of leadership. In *Leaders and managers* (pp. 45–62). Elsevier.
- Sam, C. (2017). Cambodian higher education in transition: an institutional governance perspective. *Journal of Enterprising Communities: People and Places in the Global*



Economy.

- Sam, C., & Dahles, H. (2017). Stakeholder involvement in the higher education sector in Cambodia. *Studies in Higher Education*, 42(9), 1764–1784.
- Schindler, S. P. (2019). Business Researcher Methods (13th ed.). McGraw Hill.
- Schostak, J. (2005). *Interviewing and representation in qualitative research*. McGraw-Hill Education (UK).
- Writer, S. (2021). *QS World University Rankings Methodology*. https://www.topuniversities.com/qs-world-university-rankings/methodology
- Youn, T. I. K., & Price, T. M. (2009). Learning from the experience of others: The evolution of faculty tenure and promotion rules in comprehensive institutions. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 80(2), 204–237.
- Yukl, G. (2013). Leadership in Organizations. 8th ed. New Jersey: Pearson Education, Inc.



Impact of Training and Development on Employee Performance through Job Satisfaction: A Case Study at ACLEDA Bank Plc.

Chanthorn Thab¹, Rattanak Rath², and Phirum Norng³

Corresponding Author. Email: thab.chanthorn@acleda-aib.edu.kh 1,2 & 3. ACLEDA Institute of Business

ABSTRACT

Training and development are critical to producing the effectiveness of the employees in an organization. So far, organizations have seen it vital to maximize their human capital through significant investments in thorough and practical Training & development. This study aims to quantitatively investigate the impact of Training & development on employee performance through job satisfaction. Employees from ACLEDA Bank Plc. have been selected to answer the structured questionnaire. There are four hypotheses to mainly be investigated with the sample banking staff assigned from particular branches of ACLEDA Bank Plc. in Phnom Penh city. The relationships between Training & development, job satisfaction, and employee performance were tested and elaborated. The finding showed that there is a significant impact on each hypothesis testing above.

Keywords: Training & development, Employee Performance, Job Satisfaction, Working Productivity.



1. Introduction

1.1 Background of study and problem statement

Human resource development has been considered one of the priorities in the Royal government Cambodia in Rectangular Strategy IV. Organizations take measures to ensure that people have access to necessary knowledge and skills. In this sense, providing long-term and systematic training and development (T&D) programs for their employees has become essential in the organizations because all aspects and activities of the unit involve people (Younas et al., 2018). When a company employee lacks training, he or she loses the necessary skills for the improvement of his or her performance. Importantly, T&D lead to improved profitability and more positive attitudes toward profit orientation, improves job knowledge and skills at all levels of the organization, improves workforce morale, and helps the employees identify with organizational goals (Sims et al., 1990). Chaudhary and Bhaskar (2016) have found a strong correlation T&D and job satisfaction. Tabassum and Rafiq (2021) have also found that there is a positive correlation between T&D practices and job satisfaction among the faculty and staff of educational institutions. Nguyen (2020) has shown that, in the Vietnamese organizations, job satisfaction, job satisfaction, and job performance have contributed to the retention of young employees. Choo and Bowley (2007) assert that the effectiveness and efficacy of a training program are dependent on evaluation of training quality, course design and learning experience.

Notably, not much research has been conducted on the impact of T&D on employee performance through job satisfaction at ACLEDA Bank Plc. It is to this end that this paper seeks to critically examine the relationships between T&D, job satisfaction, and employee performance.

1.2 Research objectives

Objective 1: To determine the impact of training & development program on the employee performance at ACLEDA Bank Plc.

Objective 2: To determine the influence of job satisfaction on employee performance at ACLEDA Bank Plc.

1.3 Research question

Does T&D program have an impact on employee performance at ACLEDA Bank Plc.? Does job satisfaction influence employee performance at ACLEDA Bank Plc.?

2. Literature Review

2.1 The conceptions of Training & Development (T&D)

T&D are generally believed as prominent factors to determine the work productivity in the organization and, therefore, have been defined differently. Based on the study by Imran and Tanveer (2015), training is described as workforce capacity improvement. Development is more



on self-reliance with self-motivation to explore the ways for personal growth (Imran & Tanveer, 2015). In human resources management, T&D are concerned with the aspects of development that mainly focus on the employee, human resources, and learning improvement (Harrison, 2005 as cited in Kennedy, 2009). However, training focuses of training have been traditionally conceptualized as the skills, knowledge, and attitudes that involve designing and supporting learning activities to achieve the desire levels of performance (DeCENZO & Robbins, 1998 as cited in Kennedy, 2009).

Khan et al., (2011) assert that training emphasizes current jobs and the development is all about preparing employees for their career development. T&D have been designed to improve staff performance through practical methods and programs. It is determined as a long-term professional development to equip staff with a highly skilled workforce (Swart et al., 2012 as cited in Samwel, 2018). Kennedy (2009) cited that small enterprises' work productivity and profitability can be maintained when employees engage with a culture supporting continuous training and learning (Solomon, 1999). Ahmad et al., (2014) cited that since organization aims to improve individual performance at collegial and organizational levels, T&D play an essential role in providing understanding, knowledge, techniques, and practices (Sandamali et al., 2018).

2.2 Training & development and employee performance

In order to perform well, newly recruited employees really need knowledge, skills, attitudes that match the needs of the organization and an understanding of the work culture. As well as the current employees, they often face many different problems while completing the work and require new knowledge to make their performance more efficient. Therefore, a proper T&D program from their institution is really essential to help them perform better. Mozael (2015) has found that employees who have been trained perform their work efficiently than untrained employees because of their capabilities, skills, knowledge, and attitude contributed by training. Employees who are given the proper training are highly satisfied with their task and improved their performance (Khan et al., 2016). Appiah (2010) have found that improved performance, knowledge and skills through the training programs are planned and sysematic. T&D is a tool that helps human resources explore their skills (Nda & Fard, 2013).

Effective training leads to enhanced staff performance quality. Kum et al. (2014) asserts that effective development programs help organizations to retain employees who can substitute employees who may leave the company or relocate. Training promotes the ability to work with any type of staff, even non-professional and new employees. It drives the staff's professionalism to a higher level (Farooq et al., 2011). Training develops skills, competency, and ability and finally advances employee performance and organizational output (Elnaga & Imran, 2013). The more trained employees are, the more effective their level of performance will be (Afroz, 2018). Karim et al. (2008) also shows that T&D result in higher staff performance. It is therefore hypothesized that:



H1: Training & development of employees have a positive impact on employee performance.

2.3 Training & development and job satisfaction

T&D provided for employees in particular companies will maximize employee satisfaction and lower employee turnover (Wagner, 2000). Jehanzeb and Bashir (2013) assert that employees get many benefits from the T&D, and they realized it is significant for them. Wagner (2000) has found an essential relationship between job satisfaction and job T&D. Some key components include duration, methods, and contents to be delivered, provided by the workplace. Shelton (2001) conducted a study on the effect of employee and training programs on job satisfaction. He found that T&D played a significant role in increasing employee satisfaction and promoting staff retention. Naraharisetti et al. (2007) have shown a correlation between T&D and job satisfaction. Owens Jr. (2006) has found a strong relationship between T&D and job satisfaction and organizational commitments. Badhu and Saxena (1999) suggest that T&D be precise with a policy and training manual because it helps improve managers' productivity, efficiency, and effectiveness. Yew (2011) asserts that T&D play a part in providing career development opportunities for employees, which is considered a crucial aspect of human resource management practice. It is therefore hypothesized that:

H2: Training & development has a positive impact on job satisfaction.

2.4 Job satisfaction and staff performance

The success of the organization requires the contribution of employees. Employees who are satisfied with their job will perform more effective than those who are not, especially in the service sector where they offer services directly to customer. The achievement of any organization depends on employees who love their jobs and feel rewarded by their efforts (Balouch & Hassan, 2014). Job satisfaction is one of the key aspects of organizational performance. Employees who are satisfied with their job will make a pleasant atmosphere in the organization and perform better and efficiently (Latif et al., 2013). Pushpakumari (2008) has found that the quality and quantity of employees' performance will increase by their positive attitude. For instance, in the banking sector, Mishra et al. (2020) argue that "focusing on employee satisfaction, managers can keep the employees more focused, engaged and committed to their work and enhance overall productivity of the organization". Several studies have also found that job satisfaction has a positive impact on job performance (Abdullah & Wan, 2013; Mira et al., 2019) in Malaysia, in Bahrain (Alromaihi et al., 2017), in Turkey (Bakan et al., 2014), in Pakistan (Balouch & Hassan, 2014; Latif et al., 2013), in India (Mishra et al., 2020). It is recognized as the factors that influence individual bank employees and their performance as a service provider (Hyz, 2010). Employee job satisfaction is necessary to meet the dynamic and growing challenges of maintaining organizational productivity by keeping their employees steadily engaged and motivated (Mishra et al., 2020). It is therefore hypothesized that:

H3: Job satisfaction has a positive impact on employee performance



2.5 Training & development, job satisfaction and employee performance

Khan et al., (2016) assert that T&D and job happiness have a favorable impact on employee performance. Employees will be more satisfied with their jobs as a result of T&D, and they will perform at their best. Okechukwu (2017) has found that T&D and employee performance positively impact job satisfaction. There is a considerable link between T&D, employee performance, and job satisfaction. T&D and employee performance have been proved an effective and supporting strategy for the success of the business and its employees.

H4: Training & Development has a positive impact on employee performance through job satisfaction.

2.6 Research model

This study will focus on the impact of T&D on employee performance through job satisfaction in some selected ACLEDA banks in Phnom Penh city. Based on the above literature, the following model is conceptualized as shown in figure 1.



Figure 1: Conceptual model

3. Research Methodology

3.1 Research design

This study used descriptive analysis to identify the influence of the variables such as T&D and employee performance on staff job satisfaction at ACLEDA Bank Plc. This study particularly employed a descriptive method following the study of Hair and Babin (n.d).

3.2 Data collection method

Because this study includes multiple variables, a questionnaire, following quantitative research design, was employed to collect data from respondents (i.e. T&D, employee performance, and job satisfaction). The coordinator of the Human Resource Division was approached for approval in distributing the questionnaires to the staff. The questionnaires were sent out to the managers of all branches in Phnom Penh by the survey link. Such a quantitative method is considered essential to generate measurable causes and effect relationships between



the variables (Creswell & Creswell, 2017). In collecting data, twenty items of T&D, staff performance, and job satisfaction were taken from Nguyen (2020) with reliability score of Cronbach's alpha value of 0.7 and above. The value is known as excellent reliability (Zikmund et al., 2000). All the items in sections A, B, and C of this study were measured using seven Likert scales. The Likert scales run from 1 to 7, with 1 indicating strong disagreement and 7 indicating strong agreement. The four items in section D about respondents' profiles were calculated using a nominal scale.

3.3 Population

This study's target group is Assistant Vice President (AVP) and Senior Managers. All ACLEDA bank branches in the city have an AVP and manager from marketing, credit, administration, and operations. The total population for this study is 96. The study selected 71 AVP and manager from marketing, credit, administration, and operations as a sample size. This sample size selection was appropriate because Green (1991) determined, "that N > 50 + 8 m is appropriate" for the best practice of regression analysis; and "m" represents the number of independent variables.

3.4 Data analysis techniques

The descriptive statistics technique was utilized to analyze the data collected. The test used was a frequency distribution test for the demography of the respondents. According to Sekaran & Bougie (2016), all of the study's personal data or classificatory variables are obtained using descriptive statistics of a frequency distribution. Moreover, correlation, and regression analysis, which is inferential statistics, were also used. The items measured were put through a reliability test to see if they were regularly correlated with one another. Sekaran and Bougie (2016) suggested that Reliability Cronbach's alpha is needed when measuring the internal consistency of the position of items. To analyze the link between all of the variables, a correlation test was used. The following rule of thumb, according to Cohen (1988), can distinguish the range and strength of the association's coefficient (+.10 to +.29 is small, +.30 to +.49 is medium, and +.50 to + 1.0 is large). The data was analyzed, using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) 20.0.

4. Results and Discussion

4.1 Socio-demographic of respondents

Table 1 shows that 13 (18.3%) of respondents are female, and 58 (81.7%) are male. Around 54.9% of respondents are between 33 to 40 years of age, followed by respondents between 41 to 48 years of age, equivalent to 42%.

The study indicates that 50.7% and 49.3% of respondents obtained master's and bachelor's degrees, respectively. Notably, 45.1% of respondents have working experiences between 16 to 20 years, followed by 38% of respondents who have working experience between 11 to 15 years.



In addition, this study also finds that 80.3% and 19.7% of respondents are AVP and Manager and AVP and senior manager levels, respectively.

Item	Categories(N=71)	Frequency	Percentage
Gender	Gender Female		(18.3%)
	Male	58	(81.7%)
Age	26-32 years old	2	2.8%
	33-40 years old	39	54.9%
	41-48 years old	30	42.3%
Degree	Bachelor	35	49.3%
	Master	36	50.7%
Experience	6-10 years	5	7%
Experience	11 15 years	27	38%
		27	JG /0
	16-20 years	32	45.1%
	21-25 years	7	9.9%
			10 50
Position	AVP & Senior Manager	14	19.7%
	AVP & Manager	57	80.3%

Table 1: Socio-Demographic Respondents

Table 2 shows that respondents strongly agree with the mean of 6.34 that T&D are crucial for promoting their position at the ACLEDA Bank Plc, receiving various opportunities to improve personal skills and utilize the knowledge. Regarding employee performance, the respondents strongly agree with a mean of 6.5 that they can complete the assigned tasks, fulfill all jobs requirement, fulfill job responsibilities, minimize mistakes at work, improve the adequate managerial and leadership skills, and enhance service quality.

Table 2 also indicates that the respondents strongly agree with a mean of 6.47, meaning they satisfied their jobs.

	Table 2: Level of Agreement						
Variable	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation	Level of Agreement		
(T&D)	5.25	7.00	6.3415	0.48778	Strongly Agree		
(JobPer)	5.57	7.00	6.5010	0.39742	Strongly Agree		
(JobSat)	5.50	7.00	6.4754	0.47086	Strongly Agree		

*Note: Neutral: 3.58-4.42, Somewhat Agree: 4.43 – 5.28, Agree: 5.29 – 6.14, Strongly Agree: 6.15 – 7.00



4.2 Correlation analysis test

Table 3 shows the correlation matrix of all variables. This study finds that T&D positively and significantly correlated with job performance and job satisfaction. This result has proven that increasing T&D programs would increase staff's job performance and job satisfaction. In addition, job satisfaction has a positive and significant correlation with job performance, meaning that a higher degree of job satisfaction of the staff would enhance the staff's job performance.

	(T& D)	(JobPer)	(JobStat)
(T&D)	1		
(JobPer)	0.535**	1	
(JobSat)	0.463**	0.629**	1

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

Table 4 shows the reliability of total items for scale, which is Cronbach Alpha is 0.775, implying that the test of the scale items is significant and reliable. The dependent variable is explained by independent variables 77.5%, while other variables might explain the other 22.5%. Regarding the reliability of each item for scale, Cronbach Alpha is more significant than 0.8, indicating that the test of scale item is significant and reliable.

Variables	Item	Cronbach Alpha(n=71)
All Variables	3	.775
(T&D)	4	.829
(JobPer)	7	.874
(JobSat)	4	.829

Table 4: Reliability Test of Cronbach's Alpha on Each Variable

4.3 Mediation analysis

To analyse mediation: Follow Baron & Kenny's steps: a mediation analysis is comprised of three sets of regression: $X \rightarrow Y, X \rightarrow M$, and $X + M \rightarrow Y$. Then, use either the Sobel test for significance testing.





Step 1: X (TnD) \rightarrow M (JobPe)

Y = a + bx + e

a is the intercept

Y (JobPe) as dependent variable

X (TnD) as independent variable

b is the coefficient of x, and

e is the error term

Table 5 shows the regression result. This study shows that T&D program has a positive and significant impact on job performance, indicating that increasing T&D programs increase job performance by 46.3%.

		Т	able 5. Regression (T&	&D and JobPer)		
	Model	Unstan	Standardized	t	Sig.	
		Coef	ficients	Coefficients		
		В	Std. Error	Beta		
1	(Constant)	4.110	.553		7.432	.000
1	T&D	.377	.087	.463	4.336	.000

a. Dependent Variable: JobPe

Step 2: X (TnD) \rightarrow Y (JobSat)

Table 6 shows that T&D programs have a positive and significant impact on job satisfaction, indicating that an increasing number of training & development programs increase job satisfaction by 51.6%.

	Table 6 Regression (T&D and JobSat)						
	Model	Unstar	Unstandardized Standardized			Sig.	
		Coef	ficients	Coefficients			
		В	Std. Error	Beta			
1	(Constant)	3.202	0.625		5.127	.000	
1	T&D	0.516	0.098	0.535	5.257	.000	

a. Dependent Variable: JobSat

Step 3: $M + X \rightarrow Y$

Table 7.	Coefficients	(IonSat a	nd TnD	on IoPe)
rable /.	coefficients	(Joppar a		011 3 01 0)

	Model	Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients	t	Sig.
		B	Std. Error	Beta		
	(Constant)	2.668	0.564		4.734	0.000
1	JobSa	0.451	0.092	0.534	4.874	0.000
	TnD	0.144	0.089	0.177	1.619	0.110

a. Dependent Variable: JoPe



4.4 Mediation effects and Sobel test

Sobel (1982) provided an approximate significance test for the indirect effect of the independent variable on the dependent variable via the mediator (Baron & Kenny, 1986).



a = raw (unstandardized) regression coefficient for the association between IV and mediator. s(a) = standard error of a.

b = raw coefficient for the association between the mediator and the DV (when the IV is also a predictor of the DV). s(b) = standard error of b.

To get numbers

- Run a regression analysis with the IV predicting the mediator. This will give a and s(a).
- Run a regression analysis with the IV and mediator predicting the DV. This will give b and s(b). Note that s(a) and s(b) should never be negative.

Based on results from table and table, we got:

a = 0.516, s(a)= 0.098

b= 0.451, s(b)= 0.092

Table 8: Sobel Test

		Input:		Test Statistic:	Std. Error:	p-value:
b 0.451 Aroian test: 3.55370624 0.06548544 0.00037984 Sa 0.098 Goodman test: 3.62304694 0.06423212 0.00029115 Sb 0.092 Contract of the second se	а	0.516	Sobel test:	3.58787415	0.06486181	0.00033339
Sa 0.098 Goodman test: 3.62304694 0.06423212 0.00029115 Sb 0.092 0.092 0.06423212 0.00029115	b	0.451	Aroian test:	3.55370624	0.06548544	0.00037984
S _b 0.092	$\mathbf{S}_{\mathbf{a}}$	0.098	Goodman test:	3.62304694	0.06423212	0.00029115
	\mathbf{S}_{b}	0.092				

After running Sobel test, the result shows the p-value of 0.00033339, so Sobel test is significant and mediation exists. Job Satisfaction was the mediator between IV (Training & Development) effects on DV (Job Performance).

4.5 Results of hypotheses testing

Table 9: Results of	of Hypothesis	Testing
---------------------	---------------	---------

Hypothesis	Sig	Result
H1: Training & development of employees have a positive impact on employee performance.	0.000	Supported
H2: Training & development has a positive impact on job satisfaction.	0.000	Supported
H3: Job satisfaction has a positive impact on employee performance.	0.000	Supported
H4: Training & development has a positive impact on employee performance through job satisfaction.	0.000	Supported



4.6 Discussion

The results from the correlation test have shown that T&D have an important influence on employee performance among the managers of ACLEDA Bank Plc. The result has also shown that employee performance has a significant impact on employee performance among the managers of ACLEDA Bank Plc. Branches in Phnom Penh.

The current research has found a significant impact among the managers of ACLEDA Bank Plc. Branches in Phnom Penh, achieving the study's objectives of examining the relationship between the two variables involved in this study. The result found on hypothesis 1 indicates that T&D of employees have a positive impact on employee performance. Hypothesis 2 further shows that job satisfaction has a positive impact on staff performance. T&D, according to Hypothesis 3, has a favorable impact on job satisfaction. Moreover, Hypothesis 4 shows that T&D has a positive impact on employee performance through job satisfaction. As a result, this research recognizes that T&D, employee performance, and job satisfaction are all linked to organizational success. Theoretically, this study contributes to the past studies by Mozael (2015); Khan et al. (2016); Appiah, (2010); Nda & Fard, (2013); Kum et al. (2014); Farooq et al. (2011); Elnaga & Imran, (2013); Afroz, (2018); and Karim et al., (2008) that employees who have been trained perform their work more efficiently than untrained employees because of their capabilities, skills, knowledge, and attitude contributed by T&D. The result supports the study of Gautam (2016); Balouch & Hassan (2014); Latif et al. (2013); Pushpakumari (2008); Mishra et al. (2020); Mira et al. (2019); Alromaihi et al. (2017) ;Bakan et al. (2014); Balouch & Hassan (2014); Hyz (2010); Mishra et al. (2020) that job satisfaction is one of the key aspects of organizational performance. Employees who are happy in their jobs create a positive atmosphere in the workplace, which leads to higher performance and more efficient work. Furthermore, this result of this current study has shown to be in line with those of the previous studies by Wagner (2000); Jehanzeb & Bashir (2013); Shelton (2001); Naraharisetti et al. (2007); Owens Jr. (2006) ;Badhu & Saxena (1999); and Yew (2011) that T&D played a significant role in increasing employee satisfaction and promoting staff retention.

5. Conclusion and Recommendation

5.1 Conclusion

The study objectives are to identify the impact of T&D programs on employee performance and determine the job satisfaction influence on employee performance at ACLEDA Bank Plc. Furthermore, the hypotheses in this research study are found significantly positive in that the finding is an addition to the body of knowledge, mostly in line with the previous studies. This study also concludes that other organizations in different sectors that exercise Human Resource Practice (HRP) need to understand which HRP influences staff job satisfaction and working performance and should employ more HRP related to job satisfaction for a conducive work environment.


5.2 Limitations and recommendations for future study

There are a few boundaries in this research. This study was limited to ACLEDA Bank Plc. This study examined the dependent variable (job satisfaction), independent T&D, and employee performance. These limitations were able to serve as a guide for future empirical research. First, to better understand why and how T&D employee performance influences job satisfaction among the staff of ACLEDA Bank Plc. Researchers can consider a case study method in the future because this approach allows researchers to understand the connection between the variables. Secondly, future studies could consider inspecting the research model on other ACLEDA Bank Plc. branches in provinces. In examining the research model on the components, the current research model can be generalized. Finally, future studies should consider analyzing mediator as an (organizational performance) variable to further clarify the relationship between T&D, employee performance, and job satisfaction. This recommendation covers the gap that the researcher could not accomplish in this study, hoping that further research will significantly cover qualitative and quantitative methods with bigger sample sizes.



Reference

- Abdullah, A. A., & Wan, H. L. (2013). Relationships of non-monetary incentives, job satisfaction and employee job performance. *International Review of Management and Business Research*, 2(4), 1085.
- Afroz, N. N. (2018). Effects of Training on Employee Performance-A Study on Banking Sector, Tangail Bangladesh. *Global Journal of Economics and Business--Vol*, 4(1), 111–124.
- Ahmad, N., Iqbal, N., Mir, M. S., Haider, Z., & Hamad, N. (2014). Impact of training and development on the employee performance: a case study from different banking sectors of north Punjab. *Arabian Journal of Business and Management Review*, 2(4), 19–23.
- Alromaihi, M. A., Alshomaly, Z. A., & George, S. (2017). Job satisfaction and employee performance: A theoretical review of the relationship between the two variables. *International Journal of Advanced Research in Management and Social Sciences*, 6(1), 1– 20.
- Appiah, B. (2010). *The impact of training on employee performance: a case study of HFC Bank* (Ghana) Limited.
- Badhu, S. S., & Saxena, K. (1999). Role of training in developing human resources: Study of selected industrial organizations of Rajasthan. *The Indian Journal of Commerce*, 52(1), 56–57.
- Bakan, I., Buyukbese, T., Ersahan, B., & Sezer, B. (2014). Effects of job satisfaction on job performance and occupational commitment. *International Journal of Management* \& *Information Technology*, 9(1), 1472–1480.
- Balouch, R., & Hassan, F. (2014). Determinants of job satisfaction and its impact on employee performance and turnover intentions. *International Journal of Learning* \& *Development*, 4(2), 120–140.
- Baron, R. M., & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The Moderator-Mediator Variable Distinction in Social Psychological Research. Conceptual, Strategic, and Statistical Considerations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 51(6), 1173–1182. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.51.6.1173
- Chaudhary, N. S., & Bhaskar, P. (2016). Training and development and job satisfaction in education sector. *Training and Development*, 2(8).
- Choo, S., & Bowley, C. (2007). Using training and development to affect job satisfaction within franchising. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*.
- Cohen, J. (1988). Set correlation and contingency tables. *Applied Psychological Measurement*, *12*(4), 425–434.



- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2017). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches*. Sage publications.
- DeCENZO, D. A., & Robbins, S. P. (1998). Personell. Human Resource Management, 3rd Edition, Prentice Hall, Engelwood Cliffs.
- Elnaga, A., & Imran, A. (2013). The effect of training on employee performance. *European Journal of Business and Management*, 5(4), 137–147.
- Farooq, M., Khan, M. A., & others. (2011). Impact of training and feedback on employee performance. *Far East Journal of Psychology and Business*, 5(1), 23–33.
- Gautam, P. K. (2016). Determinants of Job Satisfaction and their Effect on Organizational Performance: An Evidence from Nepalese Banking Sector. *THE BATUK: Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies*, 2(2), 43–54.
- Green, S. B. (1991). How many subjects does it take to do a regression analysis. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, *26*(3), 499–510.
- Hair, J. F., & Babin, B. (n.d.). Money, AH, and Samouel, P.(2003). Essential of Business.
- Harrison, R. (2005). Learning and development. CIPD publishing.
- Hyz, A. (2010). Job satisfaction and employee performance of Greek banking staff: an empirical investigation.
- Imran, M., & Tanveer, A. (2015). Impact of training $\$ development on employees' performance in banks of pakistan. *European Journal of Training and Development Studies*, 3(1), 22–44.
- Jehanzeb, K., & Bashir, N. A. (2013). Training and development program and its benefits to employee and organization: A conceptual study. *European Journal of Business and Management*, 5(2).
- Karim, M. M., Choudhury, M. M., & Latif, W. Bin. (2008). THE IMPACT OF TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT ON EMPLOYEES'PERFORMANCE: AN ANALYSIS OF QUANTITATIVE DATA. *Education*, 2013.
- Kennedy, J. (2009). The impact of training and development on job performance. *Institute of Distance Learning, Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology*.
- Khan, A. A., Abbasi, S., Waseem, R. M., Ayaz, M., & Ijaz, M. (2016). Impact of training and development of employees on employee performance through job satisfaction: A study of telecom sector of Pakistan. *Business Management and Strategy*, 7(1), 29–46.
- Khan, R. A. G., Khan, F. A., & Khan, M. A. (2011). Impact of training and development on organizational performance. *Global Journal of Management and Business Research*, 11(7).
- Kum, F. D., Cowden, R., & Karodia, A. M. (2014). The impact of training and development on



employee performance: A case study of ESCON Consulting. *Singaporean Journal of Business Economics and Management Studies*, *3*(3), 72–105.

- Latif, M. S., Ahmad, M., Qasim, M., Mushtaq, M., Ferdoos, A., & Naeem, H. (2013). Impact of employee's job satisfaction on organizational performance. *European Journal of Business and Management*, 5(5), 166–171.
- Mira, M., Choong, Y., & Thim, C. (2019). The effect of HRM practices and employees' job satisfaction on employee performance. *Management Science Letters*, *9*(6), 771–786.
- Mishra, S., Singh, S., & Tripathy, P. (2020). Linkage Between Employee Satisfaction and Employee Performance: A Case in Banking Industry. *Global Business Review*, 0972150920970351.
- Mozael, B. M. (2015). Impact of training and development programs on employee performance. *International Journal of Scientific and Research Publications*, 5(11), 37–42.
- Naraharisetti, P. K., Ong, B. Y. S., Xie, J. W., Lee, T. K. Y., Wang, C.-H., & Sahinidis, N. V. (2007). In vivo performance of implantable biodegradable preparations delivering Paclitaxel and Etanidazole for the treatment of glioma. *Biomaterials*, 28(5), 886–894.
- Nda, M. M., & Fard, R. Y. (2013). The impact of employee training and development on employee productivity. *Global Journal of Commerce and Management Perspective*, 2(6), 91–93.
- Nguyen, C. (2020). The impact of training and development, job satisfaction and job performance on young employee retention. *Job Satisfaction and Job Performance on Young Employee Retention (May 1, 2020).*
- Nunnally, J. C. (1975). Psychometric Theory' 25 Years Ago and Now. *Educational Researcher*, 4(10), 7–21. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X004010007
- Okechukwu, W. (2017). INFLUENCE OF TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT, EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE ON JOB SATISFACTION AMONG THE STAFF. Journal of Technology Management and Business, 4(1).
- Owens Jr, P. L. (2006). One more reason not to cut your training budget: The relationship between training and organizational outcomes. *Public Personnel Management*, *35*(2), 163–172.
- Pushpakumari, M. D. (2008). The impact of job satisfaction on job performance: An empirical analysis. *City Forum*, *9*(1), 89–105.
- Samwel, J. O. (2018). Impact of employee training on organizational performance--case study of drilling companies in Geita, Shinyanga and Mara regions in Tanzania. *International Journal of Managerial Studies and Research*, 6(1), 36–41.



- Sandamali, J. G. P., Padmasiri, M. K. D., Mahalekamge, W. G. S., & Mendis, M. V. S. (2018). The relationship between training and development and employee performance of executive level employees in apparel organizations. *International Invention of Scientific Journal*, 2(1), 12–17.
- Sekaran, U., & Bougie, R. (2016). *Research methods for business: A skill building approach*. john wiley \& sons.
- Shelton, K. (2001). The effects of employee development programs on job satisfaction and employee retention.
- Sims, C. A., Stock, J. H., & Watson, M. W. (1990). Inference in linear time series models with some unit roots. *Econometrica: Journal of the Econometric Society*, 113–144.
- Sobel, M. E. (1982). Asymptotic confidence intervals for indirect effects in structural equation models. *Sociological Methodology*, *13*, 290–312.
- Solomon, C. M. (1999). COVER STORY PACKAGE-Workers Want a Life! Do Managers Care? *Workforce-Boulder*, 54–59.
- Swart, J., Mann, C., Brown, S., & Price, A. (2012). Human resource development. Routledge.
- Tabassum, S., & Rafiq, M. A. (2021). IMPACT OF TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT ON JOB SATISFACTION AMONG UNIVERSITY STAFF PAKISTAN. *PalArch's Journal* of Archaeology of Egypt/Egyptology, 18(4), 4966–4990.
- Wagner, S. (2000). Retention: finders, keepers. Training \& Development, 54(8), 64.
- Yew, L. T. (2011). Understanding the antecedents of affective organizational commitment and turnover intention of academics in Malaysia: The organizational support theory perspectives. *African Journal of Business Management*, 5(7), 2551–2562.
- Younas, W., Farooq, M., Khalil-Ur-Rehman, F., & Zreen, A. (2018). The impact of training and development on employee performance. *IOSR Journal of Business and Management* (*IOSR-JBM*), 20(7), 20–23.
- Zikmund, W. G., Babin, B. J., Carr, J. C., & Griffin, M. (2000). Business research methods 6th edition. *Fort Worth, Texas*.



Equity Valuation in Practice: What shall be the share price of ACLEDA Bank Plc. (ABC)?

Pisith Hok¹, Sokha Norng², Meardey Phlek³, Sokhom Ma⁴ & Muoyseam Chang⁵

Corresponding Author. Email: hok.pisith@acleda-aib.edu.kh 1, 2, 4 & 5. ACLEDA Institute of Business 3. ACLEDA Bank Plc

ABSTRACT

This research paper aims to explore the intrinsic value of the ABC share and to determine whether the current share price is undervalued or overvalued. It employs the Dividend Discount Model (DDM) and the Free Cash Flow Models (FCFE and FCFF), through the Pro-Forma financial statements (2021 – 2025), predicted from the actual audited consolidated financial statements (2016 – 2020) with other publicly available information, from the ACLEDA Bank Plc., the International Monetary Fund, the Cambodia Securities Exchange, and the National Bank of Cambodia. Certain assumptions and proxies were incorporated into the research analysis. The forecasted share prices were \$5.50, \$10.13, and \$32.63, under the DDM, FCFE, and FCFF models respectively, which were all undervalued, compared to the current share price of \$4.28 (31/12/2020 closing price). The findings of this study contributed significantly to the financial markets, and especially to the equity valuation of corporations in Cambodia.

Keywords: Equity valuation, Pro-Forma financial statements, Dividend Discount Model (DDM), Free Cash Flow to Equity Model (FCFE), Free Cash Flow to the Firm Model (FCFF).



1. Introduction

Established as a Non-Governmental Organization (NGO) in 1993, ACLEDA Bank Plc. became a specialised bank in 2000 and a licensed commercial bank in 2003 with a headquarters in Phnom Penh, Cambodia. It is comprised of four subsidiaries, namely ACLEDA Bank Lao Ltd., ACLEDA Securities Plc., ACLEDA Institute of Business, and ACLEDA Microfinance Institution (MFI) Myanmar Co., Ltd. The bank has 262 branches, 38 branches, and 17 branches, in Cambodia, Laos, and Myanmar respectively (ACLEDA Bank, 2021).

According to the ACLEDA Bank Plc.'s audited consolidated financial statements, by the end of 2020, the bank had the total assets of \$6,551,493,988 with the shareholders' equity of \$1,089,625,507, and the net profit after tax of \$141,492,590 – *See Table 1: ABC Financial Highlights*.

US\$' 000	2020	2019	2018	2017	2016
Gross Income	579,221	550,128	510,655	493,879	471,330
Net Profit After Tax	141,493	120,860	119,314	86,766	122,923
Assets	6,551,494	6,175,162	5,683,574	5,247,094	4,673,975
Liabilities	5,461,868	5,210,700	4,830,734	4,496,871	3,996,657
Shareholders' Equity	1,089,626	964,462	852,840	745,661	673,641

Table 1:	ABC	Financial	Highlight	s
1 4010 1.	nuc	1 manerai	1 in Sum Sur	P

Source: Adapted from Financial Highlights, ACLEDA Bank Plc. (2021).

ACLEDA Bank Plc. had been listed on the Cambodia Securities Exchange (CSX) on May 25, 2020, with an IPO price of about \$4.05 – *See Table 2: ABC IPO Information and Price Volatility*.

IPO Price (KHR)	16,200
Par Value (KHR)	4,000
No. of listed shares	433,163,019
No. of issued shares	4,344,865
1st trading date	25-May-20
1st closing price (KHR)	16,500
31/12/2020 Closing price (KHR)	17,100
28/10/2021 Closing price (KHR)	11,180

Source: Adapted from ABC Company Profile, Cambodia Securities Exchange (2021).



As can be seen from the table, the share price was fluctuated from the IPO price of \$4.05 to a higher price of about \$4.28 at the end of 2020, followed by about \$2.80 at the end of October 2021. The doubts have been arisen from the downward trend amongst investors, stakeholders, and the public.

This research paper aims to explore the intrinsic value of the ABC share and to determine whether the current share price is undervalued or overvalued, by applying the Dividend Discount Model and the Free Cash Flow Models, through the Pro-Forma financial statements.

2. Pro-Forma Financial Statements

2.1 Revenue forecast

The revenue of ACLEDA Bank Plc., operated under an oligopolistic market structure, is mainly generated from the interest income, which is taken into account for forecasting the bank revenue. The Association of Banks in Cambodia has claimed, "Cambodia is a bank-based economy," meaning that the financial institutions, especially the commercial banks, are the primary source of funding (ABC, 2021). It is thus assumed that the interest income of the bank is highly correlated with the Gross Domestic Production of the economy. When the economy is growing, the demand for loans and credits, especially for micro-businesses and Small Medium Enterprises (SMEs), increases which in turn increase the revenue of the bank. In order to examine this relationship, a simple linear regression analysis was conducted. The past revenues of 11 years, from 2010 to 2020, were regressed against the nominal GDP, whereby the revenues were forecast in nominal dollars. Forecasting revenues in nominal dollars was because the forecast was mainly based on the financial statements' past-year data, which were in nominal terms while all the other financial indicators in this research were also interpreted in nominal terms.



Graph 1: Cambodian GDP Growth Rate

Source: IMF 2021 (World Economic Outlook Database, October 2021)



According to the International Monetary Fund (IMF), GDP growth rate of Cambodia is projected to be -3.14% for 2020, and recovered with 1.93% for 2021 to almost a normal growth of 6.50% in 2025 (WEO Database, October 2021) – *See Graph 1: Cambodian GDP Growth Rate.* Revenue data for ACLEDA Bank Plc. is available from its audited consolidated Financial Statements in the Annual Reports from 2010 to 2020. Therefore, a statistical analysis was conducted regressing Revenue data of the bank against the nominal GDP.

	Coefficients	Standard Error	t Stat	P-value
Intercept	-145919413.3	38177644.78	-3.822116689	0.004076668*
Nominal GDP	0.025253314	0.001955124	12.91647529	4.10387E-07*
* n < 0.05				

Table 3: ANOVA Result

The regression provides $Revenues_i = -145,919,413 + 0.0252533 GDP_i$

According to the regression output, it is very clear that the revenue of the bank is significantly dependent on GDP – *See Table 3: ANOVA Result*. The coefficient of GDP is statistically significant below all significant levels. This is evident from the higher T-test, the P-value and the confidence intervals. Considering the goodness of fit of the model, the R-square result indicates that almost 95% of the variance of the firm's revenue is explained by the GDP growth, which is very strong. Then, the revenues from 2021 to 2025 were forecast based on this regression result – *See Table 4: Revenues Forecast, and Graph 2: ACLEDA Bank' Revenue Forecast.*

Table 4:	Revenues	Forecasts
----------	----------	-----------

	E2021	E2022	E2023	E2024	E2025
Nominal GDP (m\$) (IMF Forecast)	26,080	27,985	30,254	32,741	35,453
Revenues (\$) (Interest Income)	512,687,019	560,794,583	618,094,352	680,899,345	749,386,332
Profits (\$) (After Income Tax)	119,975,235	158,113,334	175,234,881	192,602,076	211,407,871







However, there were some limitations of this estimate. The simple linear regression analysis was conducted based on ceteris paribus assumption; i.e., GDP growth is not the only factor, which affects the company revenues. There are other factors such as monetary policy, credit sectors, and regional and/or world economic growth, which have significant impacts on the company revenues since the bank is internationally operated. Due to the time constraints and limited resources, these variables were not taken into account for the analysis.

2.2 Debt/Equity (D/E) Ratio

D/E ratio was estimated, depending on the industrial Beta since the change in D/E will affect the risk of the company. Therefore, the company Beta was also computed. By using the daily price index adapted from Cambodia Securities Exchange for both ACLEDA Bank Plc. (ABC) and CSX Index, the returns of ABC (R_i) and the returns on market (R_m) were calculated. Then, the regression of R_i on R_m was conducted to find the leveraged Beta (β_L) – See Table 5: Daily Beta Summary, and Graph 3: Line Fit Plot.



 $\beta_L = 1.23692$ was selected because it was considered more reasonable compared to others from the weekly, and monthly data, with the highest n = 344 and the highest R² of 0.97. It is noteworthy that there is neither the current published beta for the company nor the industrial Beta from the Cambodia Securities Exchange.

By rearranging the leveraged β (Miles & Ezzell, 1980), the unleveraged β is obtained:



$$\beta_U = \frac{\beta_L}{\left[1 + \frac{D}{E}(1-T)\right]}$$
, where tax rate is 19.38%, and D/E = 5.01.

Then, $\beta_U = 0.24562$

The purpose of rearranging the β for financial leverage was to find out how the company could change their capital structure affected by the risk. The company can take advantage of more debts to finance investments due to the tax shield, but the more debts they have, the riskier it is. Hence, the company cannot borrow beyond the industrial risk ($\beta_{Industy}$); otherwise, they will face the bankruptcy cost. In other words, industry beta is considered the benchmark for D/E ratio since it will give a bad signal to the investors on bankruptcy cost if the company beta exceeds the industry beta. As there is no industrial beta available in Cambodia, the market beta is being used by assuming that the company would choose not to borrow beyond the market risk (β_M).

Therefore, the optimal D/E is:

$$\beta_M = \beta_U \left[1 + \frac{D}{E} (1 - T) \right], \text{ where } \beta_M = 1.00$$

1.00 = 0.24562 $\left[1 + \frac{D}{E} (1 - 19.38\%) \right] \rightarrow \frac{D}{E} = 3.81$

2.3 Plug

As other items in the Pro-Forma Balance Sheet were fixed, debts and share capital were chosen for the plug. Debts were assumed to be the sum of deposits and placements of other banks and financial institutions, deposits from customers, borrowings, and subordinated debts. These debts were forecast based on their past-year proportional average of total debts – *See Table 6: Debts Assumption and Percentage Average*. Share Capital is the last plugging step, and must be plugged year by year to make the annual Balance Sheets balance, i.e., as in *Graph 4: Total Assets Vs. Total Liabilities and Total Equity*.

Debts Assumption	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	Percentage
Deposits and placements of other banks and financial	9.38%	4.93%	6.09%	5.62%	5.96%	6.40%
Deposits from customers	71.78%	71.72%	75.57%	80.49%	80.71%	76.05%
Borrowings Subordinated debts	15.99% 2.84%	20.85% 2.50%	16.70% 1.64%	11.14% 2.75%	10.19% 3.14%	14.98% 2.57%
Total Debts	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%	100.00%

Table 6: Debts Assumption and Percentage Average



Then the D/E ratio is incorporated into the plug, so that the company can maintain the D/E of 3.81 – *See Table 7: Plug Calculation* below.

	E2021	E2022	E2023	E2024	E2025
Total Assets	6,279,030,914	6,868,218,599	7,569,985,978	8,339,177,459	9,177,958,037
Total Liabilities without Debts	141,773,234	161,913,246	179,107,142	197,657,392	217,903,363
Equity	1,275,985,040	1,394,294,611	1,536,622,922	1,692,687,248	1,862,867,150
Total Debts	4,861,272,639	5,312,010,742	5,854,255,914	6,448,832,819	7,097,187,523
D/E ratio	3.81	3.81	3.81	3.81	3.81
Share Capital	691,705,153	693,638,102	703,898,068	714,939,716	726,286,174
Deposits and placements(6.40%)	310,994,359	339,829,814	374,519,329	412,556,707	454,034,458
Deposits from customers (76.05%)	3,697,165,920	4,039,967,831	4,452,364,032	4,904,560,326	5,397,656,495
Borrowings (14.98%)	728,023,325	795,525,783	876,732,324	965,776,055	1,062,873,540
Subordinated debts (2.57%)	125,089,035	136,687,314	150,640,229	165,939,731	182,623,030

Table 7: The Plug Calculation

Graph 4: Total Assets Vs. Total Liabilities and Total Equity



3. Cost of Capital

The interest rate on deposits and loans in KHR, extracted from the National Bank of Cambodia (NBC), was used to find out the equity risk premium (R_m-R_f) – *See Table 8: Risk Premium.* The Cambodian government does not issue any treasury bills or bonds; therefore, the weighted average interest rate on saving deposits was used as a proxy for the R_f (Risk free rate). The CSX Index cannot yet represent the diversified market portfolio, and often generates



negative rate of returns. The normal rate of return in the market, especially for bank-based economy like Cambodia, is the interest rate on term deposits. In this sense, the weighted average interest rate on term deposits was used as a proxy of the R_m (Market Return).

Year	Term Deposits%	Saving Deposits%	Premiums%	
Dec-15	5.90	1.17	4.73	
Jun-16	6.71	1.41	5.30	
Dec-16	6.44	1.47	4.97	
Jun-17	5.29	1.15	4.15	
Dec-17	4.70	1.19	3.51	
Jun-18	5.28	1.00	4.28	
Dec-18	5.09	0.59	4.50	
Jun-19	3.99	0.62	3.37	
Dec-19	4.10	0.60	3.50	
Jun-20	5.05	0.69	4.36	
Dec-20	5.34	0.60	4.74	
Jun-21	4.47	0.61	3.86	
A.A.	5.20%	0.92%	4.27%	

Table 8: Risk Premium

Source: Adapted from Banks' Interest Rate on Deposits and Loans, NBC (2021).

Using the Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM), $R_e = R_f + \beta (R_m - R_f)$, developed by William Sharpe (1964), the cost of equity (R_e) was calculated to be 6.21%.

Cost of debt (R_d) was calculated as the average of the interest rate from the annual Finance Cost of the Interest-Bearing Debts, generated from the adjusted income statements and the adjusted balance sheets (2016 -2020), and the R_d was computed to be 3.52%.

Finally, the Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC), as referenced by Modigliani and Miller (1958), $R_a = \left[\frac{D}{V} * (1 - T) * R_d\right] + \left(\frac{E}{V} * R_e\right)$, was calculated based on these costs of capital and the D/E ratio – *See Table 9: Costs of Capital*.

Cost of Equity		Cost of Debts	
Rf	0.92%	2016	3.88%
Beta (L)	1.2369	2017	3.89%
Rm - Rf	4.27%	2018	3.53%
		2019	3.32%
		2020	2.97%
Re	<u>6.21%</u>	Rd	<u>3.52%</u>
	WACC (Ra)	<u>3.54%</u>	

Table 9: Costs of Capital



4. Explicit Forecast Period and Terminal Value

The length of the forecast period was decided to be 5 years because it was a medium-term forecasting. The 3-year forecast is considered to be moderately short for such valuations; whereas the 10-year one is considered to be too long, hence the valuation will not be that precise as the internal and external factors will change in the long run. The internal factors can be the company growth prospects, discontinuous earnings, new earnings, acquisitions, etc. The external factors can be the interest rates, the market sentiment, GDP growth rate, etc. Therefore, the ideal forecast should be in a medium term of 5 years, i.e., from 2021 to 2025.

The maximum dividend distribution ratio was taken as 50% of the net profits, as stated in the bank's dividend policy. Hence, the terminal value was calculated by discounted dividends or free cash flows with an incorporated growth rate of 2.27% in perpetuity. This growth was derived from the trailing fundamental P/E ratio as follows:

$$\frac{P_0}{E_0} = \frac{(1-b)(1+g)}{r-g} \to \frac{4.28}{0.33} = \frac{(1-50\%)(1+g)}{6.21\%-g} \to g = 2.27\%$$

Then, the Gordon Growth Model (GGM), $TV_t = \frac{CF_t(1+g)}{r-g}$, had been applied to derive the terminal value for both the dividend discount and free cash flow models. (Gordon & Shapiro, 1956).

5. Valuation

The valuation of the bank was made using discounted cash flow models, which are namely Dividend Discount Model (Gordon, 1959) and Free Cash Flow Model approaches (Damodaran, 1994). Under free Cash Flow approaches, it is basically examined how a company generates and consumes cash. There are two major sub approaches under the free cash flow: Free Cash Flow to Equity and Free Cash Flow to the Firm.

5.1 Dividend Discount Model (DDM)

Under Dividend Discount model, cash flows are defined as expected future dividends. In order to estimate the present value of the streamed of expected future dividends, the maximum dividend distribution ratio was taken as 50% of the net profits, since this ratio can be considered the sustainable ratio, taking into consideration of the bank's past trend of paying dividends. As estimated above, the cost of equity and the growth rate at perpetuity were taken as 6.21% and 2.27%, respectively.

$$P_o = \frac{Div_{\cdot 1}}{(1+R_e)^1} + \frac{Div_{\cdot 2}}{(1+R_e)^2} + \dots + \frac{Div_{\cdot t}}{(1+R_e)^t} + \frac{TV_t}{(1+R_e)^t}$$



The result of the valuation was summarised in *Table 10: Dividend Discounted Model* below. Under this valuation method, the price per share was estimated to be \$5.50. However, it should be noted that maintaining dividends are at the discretion of the management, especially in a situation where new owners have the discretion over dividend distributions; hence, the dividend policy may be affected. Therefore, valuation under Free Cash Flow models becomes more relevant.

(I	DDM)	E2021	E2022	E2023	E2024	E2025	TV
		US\$	US\$	US\$	US\$	US\$	US\$
Expected Tot	al Dividends	59,987,618	79,056,667	87,617,441	96,301,038	105,703,935	2,743,099,468
TPV (Re=6.21%)	2,383,382,767	56,481,117	70,084,475	73,133,365	75,682,875	78,216,698	2,029,784,237
# Shares	433,163,019						
Intrinsic P ₀	\$5.50						
Current Po							

Table 10: Dividend Discount Model

5.2 Free Cash Flow to Equity Model (FCFE)

\$4.28

(31/12/2020)

FCFE is the cash available to the common equity holders of the company after meeting all the operating, investing and financing needs. It considers the debt; i.e., the financing decision of the firm is taken into account. To estimate the cost of equity, the levered beta was taken in consistence with our forecast of relying more on debts. Furthermore, adjustments to cash balance were made, considering them parts of the working capital. As summarised in *Table 11: Free Cash Flow to Equity* below, the value of a share under this approach was more than that of under DDM model due to the estimated higher terminal value in perpetuity.

$$FCFE = (OCF + \Delta Cash) - ICF + NB + Other NCL$$

$$P_o = \frac{FCFE_1}{(1+R_e)^1} + \frac{FCFE_2}{(1+R_e)^2} + \dots + \frac{FCFE_t}{(1+R_e)^t} + \frac{TV_t}{(1+R_e)^t}$$



	1 2				
(FCFF)	E2021	E2022	E2023	E2024	E2025
(FCFE)	US\$	US\$	US\$	US\$	US\$
Free Cash Flows	(29,575,866)	147,037,018	162,404,862	180,678,011	200,936,495
PV (Re=6.21%)	(27,847,046)	130,349,694	135,557,646	141,994,642	148,684,995
TV	5,214,458,596				
PVTV	3,858,491,455				
TPV	4,387,231,386				
# Shares	433,163,019				
Intrinsic P ₀	\$10.13				
Current P ₀ (31/12/2020)	\$4.28				

Table 11: Free Cash Flows to Equity

5.3 Free Cash Flow to the Firm Model (FCFF)

Under FCFF model, debts are not taken into account since it considers cash available to firm after meeting the operating and investment needs, but before considering the distribution to (collection from) debts and equity holders. Therefore, the relevant discount rate is WACC. However, as explained above, the company should be more dependent on debts when considering the cost of financing. In that scenario, under FCFF, debts were underestimated. In consistence with these, the value of a share was higher than that under FCFE model – *See Table 12: Free Cash Flows to the Firm*.

$$FCFF = (OCF + \Delta Cash) + Int.(1 - T) - ICF + Other NCL$$

$$P_o = \frac{FCFF_1}{(1+R_a)^1} + \frac{FCFF_2}{(1+R_a)^2} + \dots + \frac{FCFF_t}{(1+R_a)^t} + \frac{TV_t}{(1+R_a)^t}$$

(FCFF)	E2021	E2022	E2023	E2024	E2025
(1011)	US\$	US\$	US\$	US\$	US\$
Free Cash Flows	(22,296,383)	205,479,174	217,253,551	241,338,493	268,568,399
PV (Ra=3.54%)	(21,534,876)	191,683,072	195,745,060	210,018,958	225,732,862

Table 12: Free Cash Flows to the Firm



TV	21,648,666,683
PVTV	18,195,794,812
TPV	18,997,439,888
# Shares	433,163,019
Intrinsic P ₀	\$43.86
Current P ₀ (31/12/2020)	\$4.28

V ₀ (Debt)	4,861,272,639
V ₀ (Equity)	14,136,167,249
Intrinsic P ₀	\$32.63

6. Investment Summary

The intrinsic value of ACLEDA Bank Plc.'s share price had been predicted under three discounted cash flow models, DDM, FCFE and FCFF, in order to compare them with the current share price (31/12/2020 closing price). It is clear from the table that the current share price of ABC was less than the entire three discounted cash flow models – *See Table 13: Share Prices Summary*. Therefore, ABC share price was "undervalued". Thus, based on these results, the recommendation for the both retail and institutional investors who want to invest in ABC share is a "strong buy". This is because the current share price is undervalued, and it is expected to increase to the intrinsic value in the future.

ry

Models	FCFF	FCFE	DDM	Current price
Share price	\$32.63	\$10.13	\$5.50	\$4.28



References

- ABC 2021, *Banking Environment*, The Association of Banks in Cambodia, Retrieved November 08, 2021, http://www.abc.org.kh/banking-environment>.
- ACLEDA Bank 2021, *Audited Financial Statements*, ACLEDA Bank Plc., Retrieved October 27, 2021, < https://www.acledabank.com.kh/kh/eng/fi_auditedreport>.
- ACLEDA Bank 2021, *Financial Highlights*, ACLEDA Bank Plc., Retrieved October 27, 2021, https://www.acledabank.com.kh/kh/eng/fi_financialhighlights.
- ACLEDA Bank 2021, *History*, ACLEDA Bank Plc., Retrieved October 27, 2021, https://www.acledabank.com.kh/kh/eng/ff_history>.
- CSX 2021, *ABC Company Profile*, Cambodia Securities Exchange, Retrieved October 27, 2021, http://csx.com.kh/jsp/data/lstcom_view.jsp?MNCD=5010&issueCode=KH10001000 03>.
- Damodaran, A. (1994), "Damodaran on Valuation: Security Analysis for investment and Corporate Finance", John Wiley & Sons.
- Gordon, M. J., & Eli Shapiro. (1956) "Capital Equipment Analysis: The Required Rate of Profit," Management Science, 3, (1) (October 1956) 102-110.
- Gordon, Myron J. (1959). "*Dividends, Earnings and Stock Prices*". Review of Economics and Statistics. The MIT Press. 41 (2): 99–105.
- IMF 2021, World Economic Outlook October 2021, International Monetary Fund, Retrieved October 17, 2021, ">https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WEO/weo-database/2021/October/>.
- Miles, J.A. and Ezzell, J. R. (1980). *The Weighted Average Cost of Capital, Perfect Capital Markets and Project Life: A Clarification*, Journal of Financial and Quantitative Analysis (September): 719-730.
- Modigliani, F., & Miller, M. (1958). *The Cost of Capital, Corporation Finance, and the Theory of Investment*. American Economic Review, 48 (3), 261-297.
- NBC 2021, *Banks' Interest Rate on Deposits and Loans*, National Bank of Cambodia, viewed 02 August 2021, https://www.nbc.org.kh/english/economic_research/monetary_and_financial_statistics_data.php>.
- Sharpe, W. F. (1964). *Capital Asset Prices: A Theory of Market Equilibrium under Conditions* of Risk. Journal of Finance, 19(3), 425-42.



Adoption of Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT) Model on Students' Perceptions towards Online Learning

Bun Khem¹, Sokunthy Oum² & Lundy Sem³

Corresponding Author. Email: bunbama79@gmail.com 1, 2 & 3. ACLEDA Institute of Business

ABSTRACT

During the Covid-19 outbreak, Cambodian universities, including AIB, forcibly adopted distance teaching and learning. This study used the Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT) to understand how online learning during the COVID-19 pandemic was accepted by undergraduate students at AIB. Based on a sample of 176 respondents, the study confirmed social influence and facilitating conditions positively impact students' behavioral intention to accept online learning, whereas performance expectancy and effort expectancy do not impact students' behavioral intention. Furthermore, the study validated UTAUT model as a useful framework in predicting online learning in a Cambodian context.

Keywords: UTAUT, Online Learning



1. Introduction

1.1 Background of the study

Due to COVID-19 pandemic globally, experts in public health recommended social distancing to reduce infections and total deaths. The Ministry of Education Youth and Sport (MoEYS) announced a nationwide closure of public and private higher education institutions (HEIs) in response to the global pandemic 2020 (Chealy & Serey, 2020). According to the Asia Foundation (Chheang & Khut, 2020) the MoEYS quickly found creative ways to promote learning outside the traditional school setting. The Ministry worked with private sectors to launch a new e-learning initiative. Lessons were pre-recorded and offered online through the ministry's Facebook page, YouTube channel, and an e-learning website for grades one through twelve".

1.2 Problem statement

Digital natives and transformation dominates in every field of life for today world. Digital technologies play more promising potential to improve learning via active learning approaches (Tamim et al., 2011). Activities and habits of learning in higher education have fastly changed in the last few decades with the features of the information and digitalism, wide-scale broadband internet access, proliferation of smart devices and available online mobile applications (Tick, 2019). Distance education in many forms, such as e-learning, mobile learning, and online learning, have become a must in higher eduction in the 21st Century (Tick, 2019).

ACLEDA Institute of Business, which has been providing academic and training programs to thousands of existing students and trainees, has been experiencing online learning with various digital learning platforms -Zoom, GoToMeeting, and Microsoft Teams. The Institute experiences both challenges and opportunities of technology advancement, but there is a lack of research on students' perceptions of such online learning.

1.3 Research objective

The paper adopts the UTAUT model to determine factors influencing students' intention to accept online learning.

1.4 Research question

To reach the objective, the researchers employed research questions as follow: What are the key factors leading students to acceptance of online learning?

1.5 Significance of the study

The study contributed the significance for learners, ACLEDA Institute of Business (AIB) and management. It provides learners more practical application on concepts and psychological theories in education combined with technology for online learning with the help of Extended TAM (UTUAT model). ACLEDA Institute of Business (AIB) recognizes what main factors



influence teaching and learning online classes and determine the gap of education in today world. Lastly, management (stakeholders) may profit from acknowledgment of online learning class as a new form of 21st century education for making decision on whether to provide online learning to students or provide only physical class.

2. Literature Review

2.1 Overview of online learning

"Distance education is teaching and planned learning where the teaching occurs in a different place from learning, requiring communication through technologies" namely distance learning, the student's activity, and distance teaching, the teacher's activity, together make up distance education (Siemens et al., 2015, p.4). Online learning is a newer version or, and improved version of distance learning (Moore et al., 2011). Online learning involves in using technology as the mediator of the learning process, and teaching is delivered through the internet (Heng & Sol, 2020, p.3). "Online learning transforms education from instructor-centered (traditional classroom) to student-centered, where students have more responsibility for their learning" (Heng & Sol, 2020,p 3). Online learning involves in synchronous or asynchronous environments that different devices with internet access. Dhawan (2020) refers synchronous learning environment as students attend live lectures. This type of mode involves in real-time interactions between educators and learners; and there is a possibility of instant feedback. However, in asynchronous learning environment, students do not have to learn at the same time and place as their instructors are teaching (University of the People, 2020).

2.2 Theoretical & conceptual framework

Hanif et al. (2018) extended Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) by providing a relationship among three major constructs, namely the perceived ease of use(PEOU) perceived usefulness(PU), and behavioral intention (BI) on e-learning system (Hanif et al., 2018). According to (Liu et al., 2010, p.601), "perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use affected by the external variables considered in the original TAM model". The UTAUT model consists of four key constructs, performance expectancy, effort expectancy, social influence, facilitating conditions (Morris et al., 2003).

2.3 The Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT)

The UTAUT model was a comprehensive system and quantifying the degree of acceptance and/or use of any technology, and it unifies several preexistent theories (Sitar-Tăut, 2021). The researchers (Sitar-Tăut, 2021, Raman et al., 2014 Liu et al., 2010 and Attuquayefio, Samuel NiiBoi, 2014) witness the citation of the UTAUT model, include the theory of reasoned action (TRA) (Fishbein and Ajzen 1975), the theory of planned behaviour (TPB) (Ajzen 1991), the technology acceptance model(TAM)(Sharma et al., 2020).



The UTAUT model is used in different fields such as banking, marketing, business, and education. The extended UTAUT model (Bhatiasevi, 2016), employed to explain the adoption of mobile banking and the degree of influence of each one of the factors in Thailand. The article studied by (Yu, 2012), explored the factors affecting individuals to adopt mobile banking in used in business world with integration of mobile application in banking to understand the behavior of consumers in Taiwanese.

In the field of education institutions use information communication technology (ICT) in relation with e-learning, mobile learning, and online learning such as in Malaysia (Raman et al., 2014; Asghar et al., 2021; Badan & Igeria, 2018), mobile learning acceptance in social distance(Sitar-Tăut, 2021; Moore et al., 2011) online, m-learning, and e-learning. Chayomchai et al., (2020) studied the factors affecting acceptance and use of online technology with Thai people during COVID-19 quarantine.

2.4 Theoretical model constructs

The different theories and studies in several research by Ajzen and Fishbein (1980); Ajzen (1985); Davis (1986); Rogers (1983); Venkatesh and Davis (2000); Venkatesh, Morris, Davis, and Davis (2003), Davis (1989), (Dillon, 2006) use the UTAUT model as withness. The TAM theory suggested that two main factors, perceived usefulness (PU) and perceived ease of use (PEOU) as a drive for the adoption of a technology (Singh et al., 2017). TAM Davis (1986, 1989,1993) and Hanif et al., (2018) proposed the technology acceptance model (TAM) to investigate the impact of technology on user behavior.

"Perceived usefulness is that the user believes the technology will improve his/ her performance, while Perceived Ease of Use is the belief that using the technology will be free of effort" (Davis, 1989, p.447). Liu et al., (2010) adopted the work of Venkatesh and Davis (1996) and suggested perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use could be affected by external variables. Another researcher, Bhatiasevi, (2016) defined performance expectancy as "the degree to which an individual believes that using the system will help or her to attain gains in job performance". "Performance expectancy is driven from perceived usefulness (TAM/TAM2), relative advantage (IDT), extrinsic motivates (MM), job-fit (MPCU), and outcome expectations (SCT)" (Yu, 2012, Badan & Igeria, 2018, Mahande et al., 2016, Raman et al., 2014).

H1: Performance expectancy has positive relationship towards behavioral intention.

Bhatiasevi, (2016), (Yu, 2012, Badan & Igeria, 2018, Mahande et al., 2016, Raman et al., 2014) adopted concept of effort expectancy from (Morris et al., 2003) as "the degree of ease associated with the use of the system", included concept of perceived ease-of-use (TAM/TAM2), complexity (MPCU), and easy-of-use in innovation diffusion theory (IDT) as the degree of ease associated with technology use".

H2: Effort expectancy has positive relationship towards behavioral intention



Social influence according to Venkatesh et al., (2003), Yu, (2012, Badan & Igeria, (2018), Mahande et al., (2016), Raman et al., (2014), Sharma et al., (2020), Bhatiasevi, (2016) "the degree to which an individual perceives that important others believe he or she should use the new system". According to Venkatesh et al. (2003, p.451) "social influence represents subjective norm in TRA, TAM2, TPB/DTPB, and C-TAM-TPB, social factors in MPCU, and image in IDT".

H3: Social influence has positive relationship towards behavioral intention.

Facilitating conditions defined by Morris et al., (2003, p453) as "the degree to which an individual believes that an organizational and technical infrastructure exists to support use of the system". Bhatiasevi, (2016), Yu, (2012), Venkatesh et al. (2003, p.452) Yu, (2012), Badan & Igeria, (2018), Mahande et al., (2016), Raman et al., (2014) defined "facilitating conditions as the degree to which an individual believes that an organizational and technical infrastructure exists to support technology use".

H4: Facilitating conditions has positive relationship towards behavioral intention.

Psychological theories believe that individual behavior predicted and influenced by individual intention, and UTAUT contended and proved behavioral intention to have significant influence on technology adoption (Yu, 2012, Badan & Igeria, 2018, Mahande et al., 2016, Raman et al., 2014).



Figure 1: The Unified Theory of Acceptance and Use of Technology (UTAUT): Research Conceptual Model

3. Methods

3.1 Research design

This study used a correlational study, with descriptive and inferential statistic to investigate the relationships among the constructs of the proposed research model in which the independent variables predicting the criterion variable (dependent variables) (Kerlinger, 1986).

3.2 Research site

The research site was at ACLEDA Institute of Business located in the north of Phnom Penh Capital city. Researchers wanted to know perceptions of undergraduate students relevant to online learning during Covid-19 pandemic. The geographical site intended to conduct the study relevant to population criteria.



3.3 Population and sample

The target population in this study is the students of ACLEDA Institute of Business. Data obtained from the enrolment office, there are 1,315 students in different majors. The sample size of this study is 176. This is acceptable, according to Tabachnick & Fidell, (2017, p. 123) where "N \geq 50 + 8m (where m is the number of IVs) for testing the multiple correlation and N \geq 104 + m for testing individual predictors". Brooks & Barcikowski, (2012, p.2) also used practical issue in research for small sample size.

3.4 Research tools & measurements of constructs

Survey questionnaire designed with two sections, consisted of demography and research objectives using google form; some items regarding the measurement of constructs were adapted from previous studies and carefully reworded to fit online learning adoption context in Cambodia with ACLEDA Institute of Business (AIB). The items of the TRA model adapted from (Davis et al., 1989), TAM (Davis, 1989), (Davis et al., 1989), the Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) (Ajzen, 1991), the Combined-TAM-TPB (Taylor and Todd, 1995), Model of PC Utilization (MPCU) (Thompson et al., 1991), Motivational Model (MM) (Davis et al., 1992), Social Cognitive Theory (SCT) (Bandura, 1986) and Innovation Diffusion Theory (IDT) (Rogers, 1995). The google form linked has sent to the respondents via google g-mail and telegram used to collect data. The data collection instrument was a self-administered questionnaire developed from the UTAUT item model (Venkatesh et al., 2003) using a sevenpoint Likert scale from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree). Instruments consisted of model constructs-performance expectancy (PE), effort expectancy (EE), social influence (SI), facilitating conditions (FC), and behavioral intention(BI) to actual acceptance of online learning(Mahande et al., 2016).

Construct	Corresponding Items	Items Sources	
	Online learning helps me to complete my study courses	Luarn and Lin (2005),	
	Using online learning would save my time	Venkatesh and Zhang	
Performance	I would use online learning anyplace	(2010),	
Expectance	It is useful tools for me	Foon and Fah (2011)	
	It increases my study result	(Dillon, 2006) (Yu,	
	It provides me opportunities to explore more knowledge	2012)	
	It is easy for me to access online learning through Microsoft Team	Luarn and Lin (2005),	
Effort	It is easy for me to use online learning devices	Venkatesh and Zhang	
Expectancy	It is easy for me to access internet	(2010),	
	It is easy for me to get relevant knowledge from digital learning	Foon and Fah (2011),	
	sources	Sripalawat et al. (2011)	
		(Yu, 2012)	
		(Dillon, 2006)	
		(continued)	

Table 1. Summary of measurement construct



Construct	Corresponding Items	Items Sources
	AIB requests me to learn online	Venkatesh et al. (2003),
Social	Lecturers who are in-charge in course encouraging me to learn	Venkatesh and Zhang
Influence	online	(2010), Foon and Fah
	Other students also learn online classes	(2011),
	My family thinks that I should learn online class	Sripalawat et al. (2011)
	I learn online because of Covid-19 pandemic	(Yu, 2012)
		(Dillon, 2006)
	AIB's study resources are ready for me	Venkatesh et al. (2003),
Facilitating	I have necessary resources to use the online learning	Venkatesh and Zhang
Conditions	I am able and capable to learn online	(2010), Sripalawat et al.
	AIB has specific person(group) to assist my online learning when	(2011) (Yu, 2012)
	I face difficulties during online classes	(Dillon, 2006)
Behavioral	I plan it as a study condition during Covid-19 pandemic	Venkatesh and Zhang
Intention	Following this plan to complete the courses	(2010), Luarn and Lin
	I prefer to use online learning	(2005), Sripalawat et al.
	I Intend to use online learning	(2011) (Yu, 2012)
	I would use it as a study option	(Dillon, 2006)

Table 1. Summary of measurement construct (continued)

3.5 Result of the instrument test for reliability

Table 2. The Measurement	of Variables'	Reliability
--------------------------	---------------	-------------

Variables	Items of Measurements	Pilot Cronbach's Alpha (n=30)
Performance Expectancy(PE)	6	0.834
Effort Expectancy (EE)	4	0.713
Social Influence (SI)	5	0.660
Facilitating Conditions (FC)	5	0.773
Behavior Intention (BI)	5	0.721

According to DeVellis (1991), Nunnally & Bernstein, (1994); Robinson et al., (199). Cronbach's alpha is an estimator of test reliability that is suitable for use in single applications of a test, typically in cross-sectional designs(Connelly, 2011). The reliability scores of Cronbach's alpha ranges from value of 0.660 to .0834. Nunnally & Bernstein, 1994; Vaskeh, 2008) have suggested that alphas in the .65–.80 range are acceptable (Vaske et al., 2017). Nunnally (1994) asserts that the Cronbach's Alpha which has the value more than 0.7 indicates a high reliability; and as the result of all scores for the constructs of all variables that used in this survey are above the 0.7 point. The lowest alpha is 0.660 and the highest is 0.880. The result of Cronbach Alpha for all variables (PE, EE, SI, FC & BI) are 0.880.

3.6 Data collection

A cross-sectional descriptive study conducted in 2021 on the students of ACLEDA Institute of Business. Data was collected from undergraduate students of all years and majors:



finance and banking, accounting, logistics and insurance, Fintech and business IT, marketing, International business by using google form.

3.7 Data analysis

The researchers downloaded survey questionnaire from google form to Microsoft spreadsheet then encoded and transformed to numerical data. The software used for statistical analysis were IBM SPSS version 23. The study used descriptive statistics to describe demography, means, standard deviation of each factors, and referential statistical tools used to analyze the prepared data for population inference such as regression, correlation. The statistical techniques that allow a set of relationships between one or more independent variables (IVs) both IVs and dependent variables (DVs) can be factors or measured variables (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2017). The regression analysis is used to investigate the relationship between a dependent variable(DV) and more than one independent variables(IVs) and examine how strong the relationship is between the DV and IVs (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2017).

3.8 Ethical consideration

The researchers ethically considered of the literature, authors, publishers, secondary, primary and tertiary sources, sampling and non-sampling errors used in academic research and in consented with research committee and the institute's vision, missions and values as the key factors influencing and implementing this article.

4. **Results and Discussions**

4.1 The analysis of respondent demographics

Among the 176 respondents, 142 were female which comprised of about 80.7% and 34 were male which comprised of about 19.3%. The responses indicate that the participants from age under 20 years old, the highest response rate of 65.3%, 21% were between age 21 to 25 and over 25 year-old respondents were 13.6%. Another distribution of the sample shows that there were 74.4% of total participants studying finance and banking, some are studying accounting for 12.5%, and other major 13.1%. More than half of students are actually, have experience of online learning, comprise of 55.1% while the rest experience less than one year. Regarding to the learning devices, 41.5% students using laptop, learning with tablet 2.3% and others 56.3%. At the same time, the students use WI-FI at 43.8%, and more frequent using of network cable 56.3%.

Respondents' demographic	Category (n=176)	Frequency	Percentage
Gender	Male	34	19.3
	Female	142	80.7
Age	Under 20 years old	115	65.3
	between 21to25 years old	37	21.0
	Others	24	13.6
			(continue



Agree

Respondents' demographic	Category (n=176)	Frequency	Percentage		
Skills	Finance and Banking	131	74.4		
	Accounting	22	12.5		
	Others	23	13.1		
Online Experience	One semester	60	34.1		
	one year	19	10.8		
	more than one year	97	55.1		
Learning device	Laptop	73	41.5		
	Tablet	4	2.3		
	Others	99	56.3		
Network Connection	WI-FI	77	43.8		
	network cable	99	56.3		

Table 3 Demographic Factor Analysis(continued)

4.2 Result on research constructs

The research constructs range value from the lowest mean 6.1034 with standard deviation 1.08243 for Behavioral intention to the highest mean 6.1875 for Social Influence, which has standard deviation 0.75355.

Table 4. Research Construct Statistics Level of Agreement						
Construct	Ν	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std.Deviation	Level of Agreement
Performance Expectancy	176	1.00	7.00	6.1193	0.94682	Agree
Effort Expectancy	176	1.00	7.00	6.1335	1.04331	Agree
Social Influence	176	2.00	7.00	6.1875	0.75355	Strongly Agree
Facilitating condition	176	1.00	7.00	6.1625	1.01608	Strongly Agree
Behavioral Intention	176	1.00	7.00	6.1034	1.08243	Agree

Table 4 Dessault Construct Statistics I and of Assurement

Table 5. Multiple Correlations Matrix						
Items	1	2	3	4	5	
1-Performance Expectancy	1					
2-Effort Expectancy	.375**	1				
3-Social Influence	.171*	.254**	1			
4-Facilitating condition	.470**	.364**	.067	1		
5-Behavioral Intention	.159*	.135	.171*	.366**	1	

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

*. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

Table 5 indicate the correlation among constructs. The lowest value is .067, the correlation between facilitating condition with social influence and the highest value is facilitating condition correlates with performance expectancy (.470**). Tabachnick & Fidell (2017) mention that correlation is used when the intent is simply to investigate the relationship between the DV and the IVs.



Model		Sum of Squares	Df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
1	Regression	32.324	4	8.081	8.001	.000 ^b
	Residual	172.714	171	1.010		
	Total	205.038	175			

Table 6. The Analysis of Variance

The table shows that the model is significance for the study with significant values of 0.000^{b} the result indicated that at least one independent variable among the Predictors (facilitating condition, social influence, effort expectancy, performance expectancy) impacts the dependent variable (Behavioral Intention) with F (4,171) =8.001, p<.001. Furtherly, r =.397 indicates that the model can predict 39.7% in variance of behavioral intention (BI).

Constructs	Unstandardized C	oefficients	Standardized Coefficients	Sig.
	В	S.E	Beta	
Performance Expectancy	043	.094	038	.648
Effort Expectancy	032	.083	031	.697
Social Influence	.229	.105	.160	$.030^{*}$
Facilitating condition	.409	.087	.384	$.000^{**}$

a. Dependent Variable: Behavioral Intention

The table of coefficients shows the performance expectancy has β = -.038 with p-value of 0.648. The effort expectancy has β =-.031 and the p-value .697. The social influence has β .160 and P-value (statistical significance) .030^{*}. The facilitating condition has β =.384 and p-value .000^{**}.

4.3 Hypothesis testing result

Hypothesis	Regression weights	Beta coefficient	Sig. value	Result
H1	$PE \rightarrow BI$	038	.648	Unsupported
H2	$EE \rightarrow BI$	031	.697	Unsupported
H3	$\mathrm{SI} \rightarrow \mathrm{BI}$.160	$.030^{*}$	Supported
H4	$FC \rightarrow BI$.384	$.000^{**}$	Supported

Table 8. Summary of hypothesis testing

The dependent variable, behavioral intention (BI) was regressed by predicting variable, performance expectancy (PE), effort expectancy (EE), social influence (SI) and facilitating conditions (FC) to test hypothesis H1, H2, H3 and H4 respectively. The independent variables (PE, EE, SI, & FC) predicted dependent variable (BI), F (4, 171) = 8.001, p < 0.005, which indicates that social influence and facilitating conditions have significantly impact on BI, whereas performance expectancy and effort expectancy don't. Furthermore, R=.397 depicts that the model may explain 39.7% of the variance in behavioral intention (dependent variable).



4.4 Discussion

The coefficients table indicated the performance expectancy with $\beta = -.038$ and p-value .648. The result was unsupported. The effort expectancy with $\beta = -.031$ and the p-value=.697. This shown unsupported too. For social influence having $\beta = .160$ and P-value (statistical significance) = .030, this is supported result; and the facilitating condition has $\beta = .384$ and p-value= $.000^{**}$, it has significantly positive result.

The finding of this study contradicted to the study of (Raman et al., 2014) which found that performance expectancy (PE) (β =0.418, p<0.01), social influence (SI) (β =0.238, p<0.01) and facilitating conditions (FC) (β =0.120, p<0.01) have positive influence towards behavioral intention (BI) to acceptance online learning in the context of the use of learning management system (LMS) with Moodle platform at Universiti Utara Malaysia. The inconsistent point is due to Raman et al (2014) studied on the curriculum designed for online with postgraduate students. The study conducted by Attuquayefio, S., & Addo, (2014) shown that effort expectancy (EE) (β =0.4, p <.05) significantly predicted behavioral intention(BI) to use ICT, while social influence (SI) and performance expectancy (PE) were statistically insignificant, as was Behavioral Intention (BI) on use behavior (UB). However, facilitating conditions (FC) (β =.26, p <.001) significantly influenced UB. The critical finding is that the acceptance of information and communication technology (ICT) with highly positive correlation due to Attuquayefio, S., & Addo, (2014) studied on the students of tertiary institutions, and social studies as well as business administration in Ghana.

5. Conclusion and Implication

5.1 Conclusion

During the year 2020 to 2021, the Covid-19 affects every factors around the globe including Cambodia. The Cambodian public and private sectors habituating the outbreak for almost two years. The education sectors both public and private use online teaching and learning, or hybrid teaching and learning. To explore on student's perception towards online acceptance, the research finds that ACLEDA Institute of Business(AIB) uses online classes during the years, the responses of participants from age under 20 years old, the highest response rate of 65.3%, 21% were between age 21 to 25 and over 25 year olds respondent were 13.6%. The distribution of the sample shows that there were 74.4% of total participants studying finance and banking, some are studying accounting for 12.5%, and other major 13.1%. Students actually have experience of online learning more than one year comprise of 55.1% while the rest experience less than one year. Regarding to the learning devices, 41.5% students using laptop, learning with tablet 2.3% and others 56.3%. At the same time, the students use WI-FI at 43.8%, and more frequent using of network cable 56.3%.



The IBM SPSS version 23 analyzed the regression of research constructs, the coefficients correlations of performance expectancy with $\beta = -.038$ and p-value= .648. The result was unsupported. This shows the negative correlation. The effort expectancy with $\beta = -.031$ and the p-value = .697 indicate the negative, unsupported result. For social influence having β .160 and P-value = .030(P<0.001), it shows supported result; and the facilitating condition has $\beta = .384$ and p-value= .000, it has significantly positive result (P<0.001).

5.2 Implications of the study

The researchers paraphrased the study of (Dhawan, 2020), that "the dependency of online learning on technological equipment and the provision of the equipment is a big challenge for institutions, faculty and learners". The authors emphasize that online learning and courses suit the best for tertiary education, higher education institutions and career training development. The trends of industrial revolution and digitalization rapidly grows, so learners should have self-transformation to digital people.

5.3 Recommendations for future research

The next researcher should employ mixed research method, quantitative and qualitative method in order to deepen on the perception of online learning, one of the form of distance education, and on procedures, and techniques to implement online learning for higher education institutions and tertiary education. The both method can properly deal with complexity according to its limited number of constructs and moderating variables which have more applicable and understandable to study the acceptance behavior to any new technology.



References

- Asghar, M. Z., Barberà, E., & Younas, I. (2021). Mobile learning technology readiness and acceptance among pre-service teachers in Pakistan during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Knowledge Management and E-Learning*, 13(1), 83–101. https://doi.org/10.34105/j.kmel.2021.13.005
- Attuquayefio, S., & Addo, H. (2014). Using the UTAUT model to analyze students' ICT adoption. International Journal of Education and Development using ICT, 10(3). *International Journal of Education and Development Using ICT*, 10(3), 75–86.
- Bhatiasevi, V. (2016). An extended UTAUT model to explain the adoption of mobile banking. *Information Development*, *32*(4), 799–814. https://doi.org/10.1177/0266666915570764
- Brooks, G. P., & Barcikowski, R. S. (2012). The PEAR method for sample sizes in multiple linear regression. *Multiple Linear Regression Viewpoints*, *38*(2), 1–16.
- Chansomey Chheang, & Sornnimul Khut. (2020). In Cambodia, Learning during Covid-19 -The Asia Foundation. In *The Asia FFoundation*. https://asiafoundation.org/2020/05/13/incambodia-learning-during-covid-19/
- Chayomchai, A., Phonsiri, W., Junjit, A., Boongapim, R., & Suwannapusit, U. (2020). Factors affecting acceptance and use of online technology in Thai people during COVID-19 quarantine time. *Management Science Letters*, 10(13), 3009–3016. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2020.5.024
- Chealy, C., & Serey, S. O. K. (2020). Dangers and opportunities related to the COVID-19 pandemic for Higher Education Institutions in Cambodia. 2(1), 20–26.
- Connelly, L. M. (2011). Cronbach's alpha. In A. C. Michalos (Ed.), *Medsurg nursing : official journal of the Academy of Medical-Surgical Nurses* (Vol. 20, Issue 1, pp. 1357–1359). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-0753-5_622
- Dhawan, S. (2020). Online Learning: A Panacea in the Time of COVID-19 Crisis. Journal ofEducationalTechnologySystems,49(1),5–22.https://doi.org/10.1177/0047239520934018
- Dillon, A. (2006). Human Acceptance of Information Technology. International Encyclopedia of Ergonomics and Human Factors, Second Edition - 3 Volume Set, 27(3), 425–478. https://doi.org/10.1201/9780849375477.ch230
- Hanif, A., Jamal, F. Q., & Imran, M. (2018). Extending the technology acceptance model for use of e-learning systems by digital learners. *IEEE Access*, 6(c), 73395–73404. https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2018.2881384
- Heng, K., & Sol, K. (2020). Online Learning During COVID-19: Key Challenges and



Suggestions to Enhance Effectiveness. *Cambodian Education Forum (CEF)*, *December*, 1–15.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/346719308_Online_learning_during_COVID-19_Key_challenges_and_suggestions_to_enhance_effectiveness

- Liu, I. F., Chen, M. C., Sun, Y. S., Wible, D., & Kuo, C. H. (2010). Extending the TAM model to explore the factors that affect Intention to Use an Online Learning Community. *Computers and Education*, 54(2), 600–610. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2009.09.009
- Mahande, R. D., Makassar, U. N., Malago, J. D., & Makassar, U. N. (2016). *an E-Learning Acceptance Evaluation Through Utaut Model in.*
- Moore, J. L., Dickson-Deane, C., & Galyen, K. (2011). E-Learning, online learning, and distance learning environments: Are they the same? *Internet and Higher Education*, 14(2), 129–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2010.10.001
- Morris, M. G., Hall, M., Davis, G. B., Davis, F. D., & Walton, S. M. (2003). User Acceptance of Information Technology: Toward a Unified view. 27(3), 425–478.
- onaolapo, sodiq, & Oyewole, O. (2018). Performance Expectancy, Effort Expectancy, and Facilitating Conditions as Factors Influencing Smart Phones Use for Mobile Learning by Postgraduate Students of the University of Ibadan, Nigeria. *Interdisciplinary Journal of E-Skills and Lifelong Learning*, *14*, 095–115. https://doi.org/10.28945/4085
- Raman, A., Don, Y., Khalid, R., & Rizuan, M. (2014). Usage of learning management system (Moodle) among postgraduate students: UTAUT model. *Asian Social Science*, 10(14), 186–192. https://doi.org/10.5539/ass.v10n14p186
- Sharma, R., Singh, G., & Sharma, S. (2020). Modelling internet banking adoption in Fiji: A developing country perspective. *International Journal of Information Management*, 53(March), 102116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2020.102116
- Siemens, G., Skrypnyk, O., Joksimovic, S., Kovanovic, V., Dawson, S., & Gasevic, D. (2015). The history and state of blended learning. *Preparing for the Digital University: A Review* of the History and Current State of Distance, Blended, and Online Learning, 234. http://linkresearchlab.org/PreparingDigitalUniversity.pdf
- Singh, G., Gaur, L., & Ramakrishnan, R. (2017). Internet of things technology adoption model in India. *Pertanika Journal of Science and Technology*, *25*(3), 835–846.
- Sitar-Tăut, D. A. (2021). Mobile learning acceptance in social distancing during the COVID-19 outbreak: The mediation effect of hedonic motivation. *Human Behavior and Emerging Technologies*, 3(3), 366–378. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbe2.261



- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2017). Using Multivariate Statistics. In Journal of AppliedPsychology(Vol.87,Issue4).Pearson.https://lccn.loc.gov/2017040173%0Ahttps://www.vlebooks.com/Vleweb/Product/Index/437320?page=0
- Tick, A. (2019). An extended TAM model, for evaluating elearning acceptance, digital learning and smart tool usage. *Acta Polytechnica Hungarica*, 16(9), 213–233. https://doi.org/10.12700/APH.16.9.2019.9.12
- University of the People. (2020). Facts: Is Online Learning As Good As Face-To-Face Learning? In *Official Website*. https://www.uopeople.edu/blog/online-learning-good-as-face-to-face-learning/%0Ahttps://www.uopeople.edu/blog/online-learning-good-as-face-to-face-learning/%0Ahttps://www.theodysseyonline.com/education-online-face-to-face-learning-internet-course-distant-l
- Vaske, J. J., Beaman, J., & Sponarski, C. C. (2017). Rethinking Internal Consistency in Cronbach's Alpha. *Leisure Sciences*, 39(2), 163–173. https://doi.org/10.1080/01490400.2015.1127189
- Yu, C. S. (2012). Factors affecting individuals to adopt mobile banking: Empirical evidence from the utaut model. *Journal of Electronic Commerce Research*, *13*(2), 105–121.



Adopting Theory of Planned Behavior on the Study of Blended Learning at Higher Education Institutions in Cambodia

Sokha Norng¹, Pisith Hok² & Lay Sau³

Corresponding Author. Email: norng.sokha@acleda-aib.edu.kh 1 & 2. ACLEDA Institute of Business 3. National University of Management

ABSTRACT

The study aims to determine the factors that influence students' intention to adopt blended learning in Cambodia. The Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB), developed by Ajzen (1985), has been employed to pave the way for the study. A survey questionnaire with 46 questions, adapted from previous studies, was designed using a 9-point Likert scale to meet statistical requirements. This survey was sent to 400 students at three targeted higher education institutions; however, only 204 students who live in Phnom Penh City filled in the survey questionnaire. First, confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) was used to validate the instrument, and then a structural equation modeling (SEM) was employed to test the specified hypotheses by running path analysis in AMOS software. The study has shown that the students use their mobile phone at 50.50% and laptop at 41.70% to study online via Zoom Meeting at 50% and Microsoft Teams at 46.60%. From the path analysis, the study has found that three hypotheses were supported and one hypothesis was not supported; in other words, attitude and subjective norm have a significant positive effect on the intention to adopt blended learning at (β =0.42) and (β =0.39), respectively; however, perceived behavioral control does not impact on the intention to adopt blended learning. Moreover, behavioral intention impacts positively on the actual adoption of blended learning at (β =0.67). The findings of this study contributed significantly to the improved blended learning activities. More importantly, it benefits academic program designers and the management team of the higher education institutions as they could integrate blended learning activities into a course or a program level.

Keywords: Blended learning, Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB), Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA), Structural Equation Modelling (SEM)



1. Introduction

1.1 Background of the study

Over the last two years, the outbreak of COVID-19 kept people in social distancing, and postponed social activities nationwide in Cambodia. In order to protect people from the pandemic, the Ministry of Education, Youth and Sport (MoEYS) announced the postponement of the physical classroom and encouraged online learning (MoEYS, 2020). Online learning was introduced to educational institutions at all levels to ensure that the learning would remain ongoing despite the pandemic.

The term online learning was considered relatively new to be implemented in the educational sector in Cambodia; therefore, development partners have taken quick actions to provide technical support for MoEYS. For instance, under UNESCO's Capacity Development for Education (CapED), UNESCO has worked closely with MoEYS to strengthen digital and distance learning for primary and lower secondary school students. Under this program, 200 video lessons have been produced and broadcasted on MoEYS's official online and digital learning platform and Techo TV channel (UNESCO, 2020). Likewise, UNICEF has produced distance learning materials such as videos and e-lessons for primary, lower, upper secondary education; and these materials were broadcast via social media platforms, TV, and radio (UNICEF, 2020). At the same time, all higher education institutions in Cambodia have been impacted by the COVID 19 as Heng (2020) described that there was no choice for all schools and universities across the country but to switch to online learning during the pandemic. According to (Post Staff, 2020), MOEYS has encouraged blended learning, a combination of in-class and distance learning.

1.2 Statement of the problem

Blended learning, applied by many universities worldwide, consists of both pros and cons. There are several advantages of blended learning, such as pedagogical richness, access to knowledge, social interaction, personal agency, cost-effectiveness, and ease of revision (Osguthorpe & Graham, 2003). Besides the advantages, blended learning has several challenges in terms of technical, organizational, and instructional design (Kaur, 2013). In Cambodia, very few teachers have adopted both online and off-line teaching approaches (Phal et al., n.d.). Moreover, a qualitative study conducted by (Heng & Hang, 2017) on teachers' perception towards blended learning adoption at the Institute of Foreign Languages, Royal University of Phnom Penh showed that the lecturers had a fairly positive opinion toward implementing blended learning at higher education institutions. They have suggested that other stakeholders such as MoEYS, educational institutions, and students need to be considered when implementing blended learning. Besides, at ACLEDA Institute of Business, a Commission of Online Plus has been created in order to make sure that Online Plus (Blended Learning) has been effectively implemented; however, the Commission has not employed a quantitative study on the adoption of blended learning yet. Furthermore, there is a lack of previous studies on students' intention to adopt blended learning in Cambodia.



1.3 Research objective

In order to fulfill the above gap, this study aimed to determine the factors that influence students' intention to adopt blended learning in Cambodia. Furthermore, the Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) has been employed to pave the way for the study. In this sense, the impact of attitude, subjective norm, and perceived behavior control toward the intention to adopt blended learning have been the central focus in this study.

1.4 Research question

In order to set the light for the research objective, the study raised one main research question: "Which factors of TPB influence students' intention to adopt blended learning in Cambodia?".

1.5 Significance of the study

The findings of this study contributed significantly to the key stakeholders and the existing literature. The university lecturers could select particular activities of blended learning that the students favored applying in their teaching. Moreover, academic program designers could integrate blended learning activities into a course or program level; and the management team of the higher education institutions could take advantage of blended learning by initiating the effective online academic program. Last but not least, the findings would be able to fill the gap of the existing literature of the Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB).

1.6 Scope of the study

This study employed a survey to collect a breadth of information; thus, it is limited in its nature (Schindler, 2019). Since Cambodia is still developing, some students living in the province and rural areas were not included as they could not adopt a new electronic platform yet. Last but not least, this study focused on higher education institutions only; therefore, students at primary, secondary, and high school education were not selected for this study.

2. Literature Review

2.1 Definition of blended learning

The concept of blended learning existed after the term hybrid course, yet the two terms are then used interchangeably (Graham, 2011). Blended learning is one of the top ten trends to emerge in the knowledge-based society (Rooney, 2003). There is a continuous debate on the definition of blended learning (Bonk & Graham, 2004). A group of authors, i.e. Bersin & Associates (2003), Orey (2002) and Singh & Reed (2001) refers to blended learning as "combining instructional modalities"; other authors such as Driscoll (2002) and Rossett (2002) define blended learning as the "combining instructional methods." Reay (2001), Rooney (2003), Sands (2002) and Young (2002) describe blended learning as the "combining online and face-to-face instruction." Even though the continuous debate exists, Graham et al. (2003) finally define the term "blended learning" as combining face-to-face instruction with


technology-mediated instruction. Blended learning, defined by Graham et al. (2003), is consistent with the context of Cambodia as Khoun (2020) describes blended learning as [... an integration of digital learning with an offline mode of knowledge delivery through affordable technologies...]. Table 1 shows the categories of blended learning, applied at the higher education institutions in several countries.

System/Institution	Themes	Author(s) & Year
Course	- First, technology is used as a supplement to traditional course	
Management	practices (technology-enhanced courses).	(Ross & Gage,
System, (WebCT)	- Second, apply computer-mediated activities to replace some	2006)
	of the traditional face-to-face lecture time.	
Global	- Third, students can choose to take a mix of both traditional	
Perspectives	face-to-face and completely online courses.	
University of	- Supported online - courses are taught in the traditional	
Waikato in New	lecture/tutorial mode, with online support materials	
Zealand	- Somewhat online - there is an online component for on	(Wright et al.,
	campus students	2006)
	- Mostly online - there is a mix of online and some on campus	
	work in the qualification	
	- Fully online - students can complete qualifications	
	without coming onto the campus	
University of	- Basic ICT usage stage (PowerPoint, Word, etc.)	
Glamorgan in Wales	- E-enhanced stage (use of LMS for productivity and communication)	(Jones et al., 2011)
	- E-focused stage (use of discussion boards, interactive	
	materials, online assessments, etc.)	
	- E-intensive stage (predominantly online courses with	
	minimal face-to-face time for inductions, briefings, etc.)	
Spanish public	- Stage1: an instructional design that integrates face-to-face	(Martín-García, A.
universities	and non-face-to-face spaces,	V., Martínez-
	- Stage2: interactive and accessible educational materials,	Abad, F., &
	- Stage3: a continuous support system	Reyes-González,
	- Stage4: a continuous assessment system	2019)

Table	1.	Blended	Learning	Categories
1 auto	1.	Dichucu	Leanning	Categories

2.2 The importance of blended learning

Blended learning has been applied not only in the educational sector but also in the business sector; for instance, corporations such as IBM and SUN Microsystems have adopted blended learning as a method for providing training for their employees. In higher education, blended learning exists at the institutional, program, course, and activity level (Bonk & Graham, 2004). Table 2 illustrates the application of blended learning at the course level.



System/Institution	Themes	Author(s) & Year
	-course design process (selection of blended learning activities	(Nikiforova, 2021)
European Maturity	and their sequence; selection of blended learning tools),	
Model	-course flexibility,	
for Blended	-course interaction,	
Education	-course experience (student learning, study load, inclusiveness)	
	Adapted from (Van Valkenburg et al., 2020)	
Mzumbe	-Group work and online collaborative learning	(Machumu et al.,
University,	-Interactions	2018)
Tanzania	-Assessments	
Open University	-The first stage (access and motivation)	(Astudillo, 2020)
Business School	-The second stage (online socialization)	
	-In the third stage (information exchange)	
	-The fourth stage (knowledge construction)	
	-The fifth stage (development)	
	Adapted from (Salmon, 2003)	
University of	Online activities:	(Anthony et al.,
Central Florida	-Individual learning activities	2020)
	-Collaborative learning activities	
	-Web based training & webcast	
	-Online tutorial, blog & chat rooms	
	-Discussion board activities	
	-Recorded lecturers & videos	
	-Online assessment & feedbacks	
	Face-to-Face (F2F) Activities:	
	-Class room lecturers	
	-Individua/group discussions	
	-Laboratory activities	
	-Presentation activities	
	-Student-student interaction	
	-Student-lecturer interaction	
	-Student assessment & feedbacks	
	Adapted from (Graham, 2013); (Moskal et al., 2013)	

Table 2: Blended Learning Activities

The corporations and higher education institutions choose to adopt blended learning for several reasons such as pedagogical richness, access to knowledge, social interaction, personal agency, cost-effectiveness, and ease of revision (Osguthorpe & Graham, 2003); and improved pedagogy, increase access/flexibility, and increased cost-effectiveness (Graham et al., 2003).

2.3 The adoption of Theory of Planned Behavior on blended learning

In order to confirm the connection between intention and behavior, Ajzen (1985) extended the Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA) into a Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB), which states that attitude, subject norms, and perceived behavioral control, which altogether shapes an



individual's behavioral intentions and behaviors (Ajzen, 1985). As cited in (Osman, 2020), the Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) has been used in the study of attitudes and behaviors in the disciplines (Renko et al., 2012), namely in health care campaigns (Javadi et al., 2013), in marketing (Ferdous, 2010), and on online distance learning (Osman, 2020).

2.4 Conceptual framework of Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) in the study about blended learning

In this study, TPB has been employed to identify the factors influencing students to adopt blended learning in Cambodia.

2.4.1 Attitude and behavioral intention

Fishbein & Ajzen (1975) define attitudes as an individual's evaluation of an object and as the individual's positive or negative feeling about performing the target behavior (Davis et al., 1989). Attitudes are influenced by behavioral beliefs and outcome evaluation, primarily through behavioral intention. Fishbein & Ajzen (1975) define intention as the agent's subjective probability whereby he or she will perform the behavior. Davis et al. (1989) confirm that attitude influences the intention to adopt a specific system. Bagozzi et al. (1992) supported that intention to adopt technology learning and usage is influenced by the attitude. Thus, the study proposed the following hypothesis.

H1: Attitude has a significant positive effect on the intention to adopt blended learning.

2.4.2 Subjective norm and behavioral intention

In the Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB), Ajzen (1985) defines subjective norm as the perceived social pressure to engage or not to engage in a behavior. In other words, it is the belief that an important person or group of people approve and support a particular behavior (Ham et al., 2015). The group that influences the individual behavior can be family, friends, social networks, or significant others. Subjective norm has been found to have a direct effect on the behavioral intention (Fishbein & Ajzen, 1975; Ajzen, 1985), information technology usage (Taylor & Todd, 1995), and system usage (Venkatesh & Morris, 2000). As a result, the study proposed the following hypothesis.

H₂: Subjective norm has a significant positive effect on the intention to adopt blended learning.

2.4.3 Perceived behavioral control and behavioral intention

Abrahamse (2019) defines perceived behavioral control (PBC) as a person's own perceptions of his or her ability to perform the behavior. Ajzen (1985) defines PBC as the person's belief that his or her performance of a specific behavior is under his or her control, and it is assessed by a degree of ease or difficulty of the behavior. Moreover, behavioral intention is determined by a person's expectancy to control his or her behavior called PBC



(Ajzen, 1985). In other words, PBC can directly affect behavioral intention (Ajzen, 2013), on the intention at Computing Resource Center (Taylor & Todd, 1995), and on the intention to adopt online distance learning (Osman, 2020). Therefore, the study proposed the following hypothesis.

H₃: Perceived behavioral control has a significant positive effect on the intention to adopt blended learning.

2.4.4 Behavioral intention and usage behavior

Usage behavior can be defined as continuous commitment to the product (Black, 1983). Usage behavioral in this study has been operationalized as the actual adoption of blended learning. Usage behavior is found to be influenced directly by behavioral intention on technology acceptance and usage (Davis et al., 1989; Venkatesh & Davis, 2000), on technological learning and usage (Bagozzi et al., 1992), at Computing Resource Center (Taylor & Todd, 1995), and on online distance learning (Osman, 2020). In order to study the relationship between behavioral intention and actual behavior to adopt blended learning, the study proposes the hypothesis as follows:

H₄: Behavioral intention has a significantly positive effect on the actual adoption of blended learning.

2.4.5 Conceptual model and research hypotheses



Figure 1: Conceptual model of TPB on blended learning

Therefore, the study employed the Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) in order to study the factors influencing blended learning adoption at higher education institutions in Cambodia. Furthermore, to set the light of the study, four main hypotheses have been proposed so that the objective can be fulfilled.



- H₁: Attitude has a significant positive effect on the intention to adopt blende d learning.
- H₂: Subjective norm has a significant positive effect on the intention to adopt blended learning.
- H₃: Perceived behavioral control has a significant positive effect on the intention to adopt blended learning.
- H₄: Behavioral intention has a significant positive effect on the actual adoption of blended learning.

3. Methods

3.1 Research design

The study employed a correlational design, which provides an opportunity to predict scores and explain the relationship among variables (Cresswell, 2012). Furthermore, previous studies have been analyzed, and construct measurements have been adapted to develop research instruments for collecting data. The study employed a survey questionnaire which was made in Microsoft Form as research tool and collected data was analyzed by demographic analysis, descriptive analysis, confirmatory factor analysis, and path analysis.

3.2 Research area and target population

Since the topic of blended learning is relatively new in the context of Cambodia, the study selected students from three higher education institutions (HEIs) that have applied blended learning during the Covid-19 pandemic from October to December 2020, namely ACLEDA Institute of Business, Beltei International University, and Institute of Foreign Languages. Furthermore, the study focused on the students who live in Phnom Penh City due to Internet accessibility.

3.3 Sample size

For a practical case of regression analysis in the structural equation model (SEM), the study selected 204 students as a sample size. This study follows previous research; for instance, Knofczynski & Mundfrom (2008) recommends a 200 sample size of an excellent prediction level of four predictors variables with a level of squared population multiple correlation of 0.2. Wolf et al. (2013) state that the simple two-factor model (with three indicators per factor) requires a minimum sample of 460, 200, and 120 for factor loadings of 0.50, 0.65, and 0.80, respectively in running the SEM.

3.4 Research tools

A questionnaire comprised of three sections was developed. Section one consists of ten questions focusing on personal data, and five questions focusing on general experiences of blended learning adoption. Moreover, section two consists of six items for attitude, seven items for subjective norm, six items for perceived behavioral control, six items for behavioral intention, and four items for usage behavior. All of the items in each section were adapted from previous studies, as shown in Table 3. Finally, section three consists of one question focusing



on suggestions and comments. Furthermore, 9-point Likert Scale was used as the rating for the five variables to reduce rater errors (Schindler, 2019). Scale number 1 refers to strongly disagree, and 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9 refer to disagree, moderately disagree, mildly disagree, neutral, mildly agree, moderately agree, agree, and strongly agree, respectively.

Constructs	Items	References
Attitude	ATT1: Face-to-face and online learning save me time.	(Fishbein and
	ATT2: Face-to-face and online learning have more advantages, and they are	Ajzen
	important to me.	1975)
	ATT3: It is a good idea to learn face-to-face and online.	Bagozzi et al.
	ATT4: It is wise to learn face-to-face and online.	(1992)
	ATT5: It is pleasant and interesting to learn face-to-face and online.	
	ATT6: Overall, I have a positive opinion toward face-to-face and online learning.	
Subjective	SN1: My classmates usually learn both face-to-face and online.	(Venkatesh &
Norm	SN2: My classmates think that I should learn both face-to-face and online.	Davis, 2000) (Ajzen, 2013)
	SN3: Generally speaking, I want to learn both face-to-face and online	(Taylor
	like my classmates.	&Todd,
	SN4: My university lecturers expect me to learn both face-to-face and online.	1995)
	SN5: My close friends expect me to learn both face-to-face and online.	
	SN6: My family expects me to learn both face-to-face and online.	
	SN 7: My idol expects me to learn both face-to-face and online.	
Perceived	PBC1: I would feel comfortable learning both face-to-face and online.	(Ajzen 2013)
Behavioral	PBC2: I have enough knowledge to learn both face-to-face and online.	(Osman, 2020)
Control	PBC3: Generally speaking, I want to learn both face-to-face and online	(Taylor &
	like my classmates.	Todd, 1995)
	PBV4: My university lecturers facilitate both face-to-face and online learning.	
	PBC5: I have the ability to learn both face-to-face and online.	
	PBC6: I believe I can control over face-to-face and online -learning.	
	PBC7: I have the resources to learn both face-to-face and online.	
Behavioral	BI1: I plan to do both face-to-face and online learning.	(Fishbein and
Intention	BI2: I intend to do both face-to-face and online learning.	Ajzen, 1975)
	BI3: I will strongly recommend both face-to-face and online learning to someone that I know.	(Bagozzi et al., 1992)
	BI4: Whenever I want to develop my knowledge, I will do both face- to-face and online learning.	
	BI5: I am willing to learn both face-to-face and online.	
	BI6: I would suggest my university/institution conduct learning both face-to-face and online.	

Гаble	3:	Construct	measurement	of	the	five	variables
-------	----	-----------	-------------	----	-----	------	-----------

(to be continued)



Constructs	Items	References
Usage	USE1: I have learned both in class and online during Covid 19	(Venkatesh
Behavior	pandemic.	& Davis,
	USE2: I used to learn both in class and online last year.	2000)
	USE3: I become familiar with both in-class and online learning.	(Ajzen 2013)
	USE4: Overall, I usually learn both in class and online learning during	(Taylor &
	Covid 19 pandemic.	Todd, 1995)

 Table 3: Construct measurement of the five variables(continued)

3.5 Data collection

Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, the study sent a survey link designed in Google Form to the research participants via Telegram, Facebook Messenger, Instagram, and LinkedIn. The survey link was sent to the selected students who had experienced blended learning at the three HEIs from February to May 2021.

4. **Results**

This chapter analyses the responses and presents the research findings from the data collected from the survey. Since the data analysis was based on a quantitative approach, thus the data collected were presented in ordinal, quantitative, and numerical manners. The outputs were generated using the AMOS program. This survey link was sent to 400 students at three selected higher education institutions, namely ACLEDA Institute of Business, Beltei International University, and Institute of Foreign Languages. However, only 204 students who live in Phnom Penh City filled in the survey questionnaire.

4.1 Demographics analysis

Among the 204 respondents, 129 were female, accounting for about 63%, and 75 were male, comprised of about 37%. The responses indicate that the participants from age 21-22, yielding the highest response rate of 56.9%. Another distribution of the sample shows that there were 86.76% of the total sample studying the bachelor's degrees; some are studying at years 2, 3, and 4, which accounts for 25.4%, 28.9%, and 33.3%, respectively. More than half of all the students are working while studying, and some of them run their own businesses, 8.30%. Regarding blended learning, the participants use their mobile phone the most, then laptop to study online via the three popular online platforms, i.e., Zoom Meeting (50%), Ms. Teams (46.6%), and Google Meet (3.4%). At the same time, the students use Schoology at 50% and Ms. Team at 46.6% as a medium for the asynchronous learning activity, and 96.56% of them use Telegram as a means for communication with their lecturers. Most of their online activities are online surveys, accounting for 68.60%, and 46.10% stated that they learn face-to-face before learning online.



Demographic	Category (n=204)	Frequency	Percentage
Gender	Male	75	36.80%
	Female	129	63.20%
Age	Between 17 to 20 years old	52	25.50%
	Between 21 to 22 years old	116	56.90%
	Between 23 to 25 years old	24	11.80%
	Over 25 years old	12	5.90%
Educational Background	Associate student	14	6.86%
	Bachelor student	177	86.76%
	Master student	13	6.37%
Year of Study	Year 2	52	25.49%
-	Year 3	59	28.92%
	Year 4	68	33.33%
	Others	25	12.25%
Occupational status	Company employee	104	51.00%
	Government officer	8	3.90%
	Business owner	17	8.30%
	Self-employed	7	3.40%
	Currently unemployed	68	33.30%
Types of devices used for	Computer Desktop	12	5.90%
blended learning	Laptop	85	41.70%
	Tablet	4	2.00%
	Mobile phone (smartphone)	103	50.50%
Online platform	Zoom Meeting	102	50.00%
	Microsoft Team	95	46.60%
	Google Meet	7	3.40%
Asynchronous activity	Schoology	102	50.00%
platform	Microsoft Team	95	46.60%
	Google Classroom	7	3.40%
Communication platform	Telegram Messenger	197	96.57%
	Facebook Messenger	7	3.43%
	Other	0	0%
Blended learning activities	Online Quiz	35	17.20%
	Online exercises	3	1.50%
	Online searching information	7	3.40%
	Online video	9	4.40%
	Online meeting	9	4.40%
	Online problem-solving	1	0.50%
	Online survey	140	68.60%

Table 4: Demographic factor of the blended learning

(to be continued)



Demographic	Category (n=204)	Frequency	Percentage		
Blended learning mode	I learned face-to-face (F2f) and online				
	at the same time.	31	15.20%		
	First, I learned face-to-face. Then I				
	learn online.	94	46.10%		
	First, I learned online. Then I learn				
	face-to-face.	39	19.10%		
	I learned face-to-face only.	2	1.00%		
	I learned online only.	38	18.60%		

Table 4: Demographic	factor of the blended	l learning (continue)
----------------------	-----------------------	-----------------------

4.2 Descriptive analysis

✤ Level of agreement

The mean of each variable ranges from the lowest one of 5.936, which is a subjective norm with a standard deviation of 1.903, to the highest of 6.475, which is a usage behavior with a standard deviation of 1.856. Moreover, the following data analysis shows the respondents' level of agreement towards the adoption of blended learning. Below is the nine-point Likert scale and its classification. The table 5 illustrates the respondents' level of agreement on the measurement of each factor that inspires students' attitude and perceived behavioral control towards adopting blended learning. According to (Armstrong, 1987), all the variables are classified as Mildly agree, except the actual use, which is Moderately agreed.

- 8.20 9.00 were classified as Strongly Agree
- 7.30 8.19 were classified as Agree
- 6.40 7.29 were classified as Moderately Agree
- 5.50 6.39 were classified as Mildly Agree
- 4.60 5.49 were classified as Neutral or Neither Agree nor Disagree
- 3.70 4.59 were classified as Mildly Disagree
- 2.80 3.69 were classified as Moderately Disagree
- 1.90 2.79 were classified as Disagree
- 1.00 1.89 were classified as Strongly Disagree

Variable	Min	Max	Mean*	SD	Level of Agreement
Attitude (ATT)	2	9	6.351	1.582	Mildly Agree
Subjective Norm (SN)	1	9	5.936	1.903	Mildly Agree
Perceived Behavioral Control (PBC)	1	9	6.264	1.938	Mildly Agree
Behavioral Intention (BI)	1	9	6.333	1.84	Mildly Agree
Actual Adoption (USE)	1	9	6.475	1.856	Moderately Agree

Table 5: Level of Agreement



4.3 Measurement model analysis

The conceptual model of TPB consists of three exogenous variables (attitude, subjective norm, and perceived behavioral control), one endogenous variable (actual adoption), and one mediating variable (behavioral intention). After running Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA), the study dropped three, four, four, three, and two indicators of the factors such as attitude, subjective norm, perceived behavioral control, behavioral intention, and actual adoption, respectively.

4.3.1 Factor loading

Figure 2 shows that the factor loadings of all items are highly adequate. The standardized regression weights range from 0.747 to 0.924, above 0.50 as suggested by Hair et al. (2010). Thus, most of the constructs confirm the convergent validity test, and those factor loadings can be used to estimate construct reliabilities (CR) and average variance extracted (AVE).



Figure 2: Factor loading analysis

4.3.2 Cronbach alpha and construct reliabilities

Table 6 shows that each construct consists of composite reliability reaching an acceptable value of 0.60 (Haruna, 2014). The behavioral intention has the highest Cronbach's alpha of 0.889, but the actual adoption has the lowest Cronbach's alpha of 0.738; moreover, the subjective norm has the highest construct reliability (CR) of 0.878, while actual adoption has the lowest reliability (CR) of 0.649.



Variable Types	Variable Names	Items	Cronbach's alpha	CR
Exo1	Attitude (ATT)	3	0.866	0.8674
Exo2	Subjective Norm (SN)	3	0.875	0.878
Exo3	Perceived behavioral control (PBC)	2	0.863	0.788
Mediating Variable	Behavioral Intention (BI)	3	0.889	0.764
Endo	Actual Adoption (USE)	2	0.738	0.649

Table 6: Cronbach's Alpha and Construct Reliabilities

4.3.3 Discriminant validity of constructs

Table 7 illustrates the result of variance extracted (VE), which is calculated into average variance extracted (AVE). The VE for attitude, subjective norm, perceived behavioral control, behavioral intention, and actual adoption is 0.685, 0.707, 0.765, 0.735, and 0.586, respectively.

Variable	Code	Factor Loading	SFL	Error	Variance Extracted
	ATT3	0.839	0.703	0.296	
ATT	ATT4	0.821	0.674	0.325	0.685
	ATT5	0.824	0.678	0.321	
	SN5	0.799	0.638	0.361	
SN	SN6	0.877	0.769	0.230	0.707
	SN7	0.846	0.715	0.284	
	PBC1	0.924	0.853	0.146	0.765
PBC	PBC2	0.823	0.677	0.322	
	BI2	0.893	0.797	0.202	
BI	BI3	0.875	0.765	0.234	0.735
	BI5	0.802	0.643	0.356	
USE	USE2	0.747	0.558	0.441	0.586
	USE4	0.784	0.614	0.385	

Table 7: Final CFA of the Five Variables

Table 8 illustrates the average variance extracted (AVE) for two variables. Phang (2016) cited "the AVE should be more than the squared inter-construct correlation (SIC) of the two constructs to support discriminant validity. If AVE is less than CS, the problem of multicollinearity would exist" (Fornell & Larcker, 1981). According to the Table, the highest AVE is between Perceived Behavioral Control and Behavioral Intention, equal to 0.750, and the lowest AVE is between Attitude and Usage Behavior, equal to 0.635.



Table 8: Average Variance Extracted (AVE) Matrix of Variables					
Variable Name	ATT	SN	PBC	BI	USE
ATT	1				
SN	0.696	1			
PBC	0.725	0.736	1		
BI	0.710	0.721	0.750	1	
USE	0.635	0.647	0.675	0.660	1

Table 9 reveals that each AVE value is more than the squared inter-construct correlation (SIC) as the comparison between the AVE value in Table 8 and the SIC value in Table 9. The highest difference is between Perceived Behavioral Control and Usage Behavior at 0.450, and the lowest difference is between Attitude and Behavioral Intention at 0.004. Thus, "discriminant validity theory is accepted, or multicollinearity is absent. In other words, each construct could be considered distinctively from one to another." (Phang, 2016).

Table 9: Squared Inter-Construct Correlation Estimates (SIC)						
Variable Name	ATT	SN	PBC	BI	USE	
ATT	1					
	0.508					
SN	(0.188) 0.643	1 0.617				
PBC	(0.082) 0.705	(0.118) 0.712	1 0.714			
BI	(0.004) 0.567	(0.009) 0.284	(0.036) 0.225	1 0.417		
USE	(0.068)	(0.362)	(0.450)	(0.243)	1	

*Note: value in parentheses indicated the comparison between the AVE value in Table 8 and the SIC value in Table (9)

4.3.4 Model fit indices

CFA confirmed that the TPB model is really fit in the study of blended learning adoption as the fit indices are acceptable, namely CMIN/DF=1.974<2 (good fit), RMSEA=0.069 (acceptable fit), NFI=0.946>0.90 (acceptable fit), CFI=0.972>0.97 (good fit), GFI=0.927>0.90 (acceptable fit), and AGFI=0.879> 0.85 (not great but tolerable).

Table 10: Fit indices and their acceptable thresholds

1 40	ie for fin marees and men acceptuo.		
Fit Measures	Good Fit	Acceptable Fit	
CMIN/DF($\chi 2$ /df)	$0 \le \chi 2/df \le 2$	$2 < \chi 2 \leq 3$	
RMSEA	$0 \le \text{RMSEA} \le 0.05$	$0.05 < \text{ RMSEA} \leq 0.08$	
NFI	$0.95 \leq \text{ NFI} \leq 1.00$	$0.90 \leq \ NFI < 0.95$	
CFI	$0.97 \leq \text{ CFI} \leq 1.00$	$0.95 \leq \text{ CFI} < 0.97$	
GFI	$0.95 \leq \text{ GFI} \leq 1.00$	$0.90 \leq \ GFI < 0.95$	
AGFI	$0.90 \le \text{AGFI} \le 1.00$	$0.85 \leq \text{AGFI} < 0.90$	

Note: CMIN/DF = Chi square divided by degrees of freedom, RMSEA=Root Mean Square Error of Approximation, NFI=Normed Fit Index, CFI=Comparative Fit Index, GFI=Goodness-of-Fit Index, AGFI=AdjustedGood-of-FitIndex



4.4 Path analysis

Figure 3 shows the standardized regression weight of path analysis. Factors such as Attitude (ATT), Subjective Norm (SN), and Perceived Behavioral Control (PBC) are the predictors of Behavioral Intention and the behavioral Intention is the predictor of actual adoption of blended learning.



Figure 3: Results Path Analysis

Table 11 shows a regression analysis of path analysis 1 with Behavioral Intention as the dependent variable. The result suggests that the model is statistically significant in explaining that at least one predictor impacts the Behavioral Intention to adopt blended learning. It showed that there is a positive impact of Attitude (β =0.42) at level significance (0.001) and Subjective Norm (β =0.39) at level (0.001) on Behavioral Intention. However, Perceived Behavioral Control was not significant on Behavioral Intention to adopt blended learning.

Exo.	Endo.	Unsta Est	ndardized imates	Standardized Estimates		Sig.
		В	S.E.	Beta	C.R.	(P-value)
ATT	BI	0.48	0.103	0.42	4.648	0.001**
SN	BI	0.43	0.092	0.39	4.701	0.001**
PBC	BI	0.18	0.095	0.20	1.924	0.054

Table 11: Path Analysis 1 (Behavioral Intention as Dependent Variable)

*. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed)

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed)

Note: Exo = Exogenous, Endo = Endogenous, B = direct effect, S.E. = standard Error, C.R. = Critical Ratio, Sig. = Significance, ATT = Attitude, SN = Subjective Norm, PBC = Perceived Behavioral Control, BI = Behavioral Intention



The following table is the result of regression analysis in path 2 for the relationship between Behavioral Intention as the independent variable and Actual Adoption as the dependent variable. It shows a significant positive impact of the Behavioral Intention (β =0.67) at 0.001 on the Actual Adoption of blended learning.

Exo.	Endo.	Unsta	ndardized	Standardized		Sig.
		Est	timates	Estimates		
		В	S.E.	Beta	C.R.	(P-value)
BI	USE	0.63	0.075	0.67	8.348	0.001**

*. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed)

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed)

Note: Exo.=Exogenous, Endo.=Endogenous, B=direct effect, S.E.=standard Error, C.R.=Critical Ratio, Sig.=Significance, BI=Behavioral Intention, USE=Actual Adoption

4.5 Results of hypothesis testing

The following table shows that H1, H2, and H4 were supported at the significance level of (0.001), but H3 was not supported at the significance level of 0.054.

	Hypotheses	Significance	Statistical
H1:	Attitude has a significantly positive effect on the Behavioral Intention to adopt blended learning.	0.001**	Supported
H2:	Subjective Norm has a significantly positive effect on the Behavioral Intention to adopt blended learning.	0.001**	Supported
H3:	Perceived Behavioral Control has a significantly positive Behavioral effect on the Intention to adopt blended learning.	0.054*	Not Supported
H4:	Behavioral Intention has a significantly positive effect on the Actual Adoption of blended learning.	0.001**	Supported

Table 13: Hypothesis Testing

4.6 Discussions

First of all, the impact of attitude factor on the behavioral intention at (β =0.42) is undeniable since this relationship strongly supports the TPB theory of (Ajzen,1985), adoption intention of a particular system of (Davis et al., 1989), and intention to adopt technology learning and usage (Bagozzi et al., 1992).

Secondly, the effect of subjective norm factor on the behavioral intention at (β =0.39) is inconsistent with the study of (Davis et al., 1989) and (Mathieson, 1991), which do not prove this relationship. However, this study supports previous findings that have a direct effect on behavior intention in TRA and TPB (Fishbein & Ajzen 1975; Ajzen 1985), on information technology



usage (Taylor & Todd 1995), and system usage (Venkatesh & Davis 2000).

Thirdly, perceived behavioral control does not influence behavior intention to adopt blended learning, so this study contradicts the theory of TPB (Ajzen 1985), the study at Computing Resource Center (Taylor & Todd, 1995), and research on the adoption of online distance learning (Osman, 2020). The reason may come from the students' capability to adopt blended learning. In other words, this mode of learning is rather new to them.

Last but not least, a positive impact of the Behavioral Intention on actual adoption of blended learning at (β =0.67) is in line with the study technology acceptance and usage (Davis et al., 1989; Venkatesh & Davis, 2000), on technological learning and usage (Bagozzi et al., 1992), at Computing Resource Center (Taylor & Todd, 1995), and on online distance learning (Osman, 2020).

5. Conclusion and implication of the study

5.1 Conclusion

Due to the outbreak of Covid 19, many higher education institutions (HEIs) in Cambodia have applied different modes of teaching and learning. Thus, to understand the students' behavior, this study attempts to identify the factors influencing students' intention to adopt blended, which is a combination of face-to-face and online learning. By adopting the Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB), this study employs the correlational study of the quantitative approach. The questionnaire, adapted from previous studies, has been designed using a 9-point Likert scale. The survey link has been sent to 400 students from three different HEIs, and 204 of them have filled in the questionnaires. The study has shown that the students use their mobile phone at 50.50%, laptops at 41.70% to study online via Zoom Meeting at 50%, and Microsoft Teams at 46.60%.

The study has found that three hypotheses were supported and one hypothesis was not supported; in other words, attitude and subjective norm have a significantly positive effect on the intention to adopt blended learning at (β =0.42) and (β =0.39), respectively; however, perceived behavioral control does not impact on the intention to adopt blended learning. Moreover, behavioral intention impacts positively on the actual adoption of blended learning at (β =0.67).

5.2 Implication of the study

The analysis of the Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) on the study of students' behavior towards blended learning adoption is relatively new in the context of HEIs in Cambodia. Furthermore, the study has found that the students are willing to adopt blended learning because they have a favorable opinion on this mode of study, and their behaviors are influenced by their close friends, family, and especially the current situation of COVID-19. Therefore, the study suggests the following:

- **TPB Model**: TPB is worth in adopting in investigating the behavioral intention and the behavior of students, teachers, and staff in the academic setting in order to adopt a



certain technological system.

- **The Management of HEIs**: The management of HEIs should take lead in introducing blended learning to their academic and professional programs. Moreover, they should decide which online platform and communication channel to adopt such as Zoom, Microsoft Team, Schoology, and Telegram Messenger. Moreover, HEIs should develop a robust support mechanism since perceived behavioral control partially influences behavioral intention to adopt blended learning.
- **Program designers and lecturers**: Blended learning can also be integrated at the course level. Program designers at HEIs, namely the provosts, faculty deans or department heads should apply blended learning to particular courses, especially the implementation of synchronous and asynchronous learning. They should conduct a study thoroughly on which courses can be integrated with blended learning, and how to integrate them. Face-to-face learning should be introduced before online learning. Likewise, the lecturers of HEIs should consider including blended learning activities such as online survey, online quiz, online video, and online meeting.
- 5.3 Limitations and further study

When conducting path analysis in SEM, this study deletes three items of Attitudes. The next study may extract these items and form them into a new external variable, which is so-called perceived usefulness. After that, the next study can rerun the path analysis of the TPB in order predict the behavior to adopt a new technological system.

This study investigates the influence of TPB factors toward blended learning at the higher education levels only. They study suggests that future researchers replicate this model in order to investigate students' behavioral intention and usage behavior at K-12 education. Moreover, experimental design is encouraged in the future study on blended learning. The study suggests applying the activities of blended learning in several classes, and compare the different outcomes of these classes to the other classes in which blended learning is not applied.



References

- Abrahamse, W. (2019). Chapter 4 Energy Conservation: For Money, or the Environment? In
 W. Abrahamse (Ed.), *Encouraging Pro-Environmental Behaviour: Academic Press*. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-811359-2.00004-4.
- Ajzen, I. (1985). From intentions to actions: A theory of planned behavior. In *Action control* (pp. 11–39). Springer.
- Ajzen, I. (2013). Theory of Planned Behaviour Questionnaire. Measurement Instrument. In *Database for the Social Science*.
- Anthony, B., Kamaludin, A., Romli, A., Raffei, A. F. M., Phon, D. N. A. L. E., Abdullah, A., & Ming, G. L. (2020). Blended learning adoption and implementation in higher education: a theoretical and systematic review. *Technology, Knowledge and Learning*, 1–48.
- Armstrong, R. L. (1987). The Midpoint on a Five-Point Likert-Type Scale. Perceptual and Motor Skills, 64(2), 359–362. https://doi.org/10.2466/pms.1987.64.2.359
- Astudillo, M. V. (2020). The Blended Learning Pedagogical Model in Higher Education. In Blended Learning: Convergence between Technology and Pedagogy (pp. 141–166). Springer.
- Bagozzi, R. P., Davis, F. D., & Warshaw, P. R. (1992). Development and test of a theory of technological learning and usage. *Human Relations*, 45(7), 659–686.
- Bersin, & Associates. (2003). Blended Learning: What Works? An Industry Study of the Strategy, Implementation, and Impact of Blended Learning. *Bersin & Associates*.
- Black, W. (1983). Discontinuance and diffusion: Examination of the post adoption decision process. *ACR North American Advances*.
- Bonk, C. J., & Graham, C. R. (2004). The Handbook of Blended Learning: Global Perspectives, Local Designs Memorial. In *Handbook of Blended Learning* (Vol. 33, Issue 1). John Wiley & Sons, Inc. https://doi.org/10.21225/d51g6h.
- Cresswell, J. W. (2012). Educational Research: Planning, Conducting, and Evaluating Quantitative and Qualitative Approaches to Research (4th ed.). Pearson Education, Inc.
- Davis, F. D., Bagozzi, R. P., & Warshaw, P. R. (1989). User Acceptance of Computer Technology: A Comparison of Two Theoretical Models. *Management Science*, 35(8), 982– 1003. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.35.8.982.
- Driscoll, M. (2002). Blended learning: Let's get beyond the hype. *E-Learning*, 1(4), 1–4.
- Ferdous, A. S. (2010). Applying the theory of planned behavior to explain marketing managers' perspectives on sustainable marketing. *Journal of International Consumer Marketing*, 22(4), 313–325.
- Fishbein, M., & Ajzen, I. (1975). Belief, Attitude, Intention and Behavior: An Introdluction to



Theorv and Research. Addison-Wesley.

- Fornell, C., & Larcker, D. F. (1981). Evaluating Structural Equation Models with unobservable variables and measurement error. Journal Marketing Research, 18, 30-50.
- Graham, C. R. (2011). Blended Learning Models. *Encyclopedia of Information Science and Technology, Second Edition*, 375–382. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-60566-026-4.ch063.
- Graham, C. R. (2013). Emerging practice and research in blended learning. In *Handbook of distance education* (pp. 351–368). Routledge.
- Graham, C. R., Allen, S., & Ure, D. (2003). Blended learning environments: A review of the research literature. *Unpublished Manuscript, Provo, UT*, 1–32.
- Hair, J. F., Black, B., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., & Anderson, R. E. (2010). *Multivariate Data Analysis: Global Edition, 7th Edition. New Jersey, USA: Pearson Education.*
- Ham, M., Jeger, M., & Frajman Ivković, A. (2015). The role of subjective norms in forming the intention to purchase green food. *Economic Research-Ekonomska Istraživanja*, 28(1), 738– 748.
- Haruna, V. M. (2014). A new model of green purchase intention and its derivatives: confirmatory factor analysis validation of constructs. *Information Management and Business Review*, 6(5), 261–268.
- Heng, K. (2020). COVID-19: A silver lining in the crisis for Cambodia's education sector. In K. Heng, S. Kaing, V. Ros, & K. Sol (Eds.), *English Language Teaching, Education, and Online Learning in Cambodia During COVID-19: Perspectives from Practitioners and Researchers* (pp. 41–47). Cambodian Education Forum. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/348004442.
- Heng, S., & Hang, S. (2017). THE PERCEPTION OF TEACHERS IN USING BLENDED LEARNING IN HIGHER EDUCATION IN CAMBODIA (Issue June). https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.18873.36965.
- Javadi, M., Kadkhodaee, M., Yaghoubi, M., Maroufi, M., & Shams, A. (2013). Applying theory of planned behavior in predicting of patient safety behaviors of nurses. *Materia Socio-Medica*, 25(1), 52.
- Jones, N., Chew, E., & Blackey, H. (2011). The blended learning journey of the University of Glamorgan. *International Conference on Hybrid Learning*, 157–166.
- Kaur, M. (2013). Blended Learning Its Challenges and Future. *Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 93, 612–617. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.09.248.
- Khoun, T. (2020). Education: Pedagogy and Infrastructure. In D. S. UDOM, B. J. MURG, O. VIRAK, & M. RENFREW (Eds.), *CAMBODIA 2040 CULTURE AND SOCIETY* (pp. 56–78). Konrad Adenauer Stiftung.

Knofczynski, G. T., & Mundfrom, D. (2008). Sample sizes when using multiple linear



regression for prediction. Educational and Psychological Measurement, 68(3), 431–442.

- Machumu, H., Ghasia, M., & Musabila, A. K. (2018). Blended learning activities in blended learning environments: experiences from Mzumbe University, Tanzania. *EdMedia*+ *Innovate Learning 2018*.
- Martín-García, A. V., Martínez-Abad, F., & Reyes-González, D. (2019). TAM and stages of adoption of blended learning in higher education by application of data mining techniques. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 50(5), 2484–2500.
- Mathieson, K. (1991). Predicting User Intentions: Comparing the Technology Acceptance Model with the Theory of Planned Behavior. *Information Systems Research*, 2(3), 173– 239. https://doi.org/10.1287/isre.2.3.173.
- MoEYS. (2020). Additional Preventing and Protecting Mechanism on the Outbreaks of COVID 19. https://www.facebook.com/rgsucambodia/photos/a.2972742039636381/29814525820986

60.

- Moskal, P., Dziuban, C., & Hartman, J. (2013). Blended learning: A dangerous idea? *The Internet and Higher Education*, *18*, 15–23.
- Nikiforova, M. (2021). Blended Learning Practices in Russian Higher Education: Benefits, Challenges, Perspectives. SHS Web of Conferences, 99, 1005.
- Orey, M. (2002). One year of online blended learning: Lessons learned. *Annual Meeting of the Eastern Educational Research Association, Sarasota, FL*.
- Osguthorpe, R. T., & Graham, C. R. (2003). Blended learning environments: Definitions and directions. *Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, 4(3), 227–233.
- Osman, Z. (2020). Determinants of Social Entrepreneur Intention and Behavior among Online Distance Learning Students in Malaysia. *Social Sciences*, *10*(11), 1496–1506.
- Phal, C., Rithyvong, C., Bunnath, O., & Makara, H. (n.d.). *Policy Brief Blended Learning: Practices, Challenges and Possibilities in Cambodia Secondary Resource Schools.*
- Phang, C. (2016). Determinants of the Internet Adoption among Cambodian Entreprises. [Unpublished Doctoral's Theiss]. Phnom Penh. National University of Management.
- PostStaff. (2020). The SOPs for reopening educational institutions within Covid-19 context. *Phnom Penh Post*. https://www.phnompenhpost.com/national-education/sops-reopening-educational-institutions-within-covid-19-context.
- Reay, J. (2001). Blended learning-a fusion for the future. *Knowledge Management Review*, 4(3), 6.
- Renko, M., Kroeck, K. G., & Bullough, A. (2012). Expectancy theory and nascent entrepreneurship. *Small Business Economics*, *39*(3), 667–684.
- Rooney, J. E. (2003). Blending learning opportunities to enhance educational programming and



meetings. Association Managment, 55(5), 26–32.

- Ross, B., & Gage, K. (2006). Global perspectives on blending learning. *The Handbook of Blended Learning; Bonk, JC, Graham, RC, Eds*, 155–168.
- Rossett, A. (2002). *The ASTD e-learning handbook*. McGraw-Hill. http://hdl.voced.edu.au/10707/156165.
- Salmon, G. (2003). E-moderating: The key to teaching and learning online. Psychology Press.
- Sands, P. (2002). Inside outside, upside downside: Strategies for connecting online and face-toface instruction in hybrid courses. *Teaching with Technology Today*, 8(6), 6.
- Schindler, S. P. (2019). Business Researcher Methods (13th ed.). McGraw Hill.
- Singh, H., & Reed, C. (2001). A white paper: Achieving success with blended learning. *Centra Software*, *1*, 1–11.
- Taylor, S., & Todd, P. A. (1995). Understanding information technology usage.pdf.crdownload.pdf. In *Information Systems Research* (Vol. 6, Issue 2, pp. 144– 176). https://doi.org/10.1287/isre.6.2.144.
- UNESCO. (2020). UNESCO Strengthens Distance-learning in Cambodian Education System during COVID-19. https://en.unesco.org/news/unesco-strengthens-distance-learningcambodian-education-system-during-covid-19.
- UNICEF. (2020). Continuous learning during COVID-19 UNICEF and partners are enabling children across the country to continue learning despite the pandemic. https://www.unicef.org/cambodia/stories/continuous-learning-during-covid-19.
- Van Valkenburg, W., Dijkstra, W., de los Arcos, B., & Goeman, K. (2020). *European Maturity Model for Blended Education*.
- Venkatesh, V., & Morris, M. G. (2000). Why don't men ever stop to ask for directions? Gender, social influence, and their role in technology acceptance and usage behavior. *MIS Quarterly*, 115–139.
- Wolf, E. J., Harrington, K. M., Clark, S. L., & Miller, M. W. (2013). Sample size requirements for structural equation models: An evaluation of power, bias, and solution propriety. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 73(6), 913–934.
- Wright, N., Dewstow, R., Topping, M., & Tappenden, S. (2006). New Zealand examples of blended learning. *The Handbook of Blended Learning: Global Perspectives, Local Designs*, 169–181.
- Young, G. (2002). 'Hybrid'Teaching Seeks to End the Drive Between Traditional and Online Instruction. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*, A33.



Investigating Factors Influencing Students' Intentions to Learn Mathematics Using the Theory of Planned Behavior: A Case Study at ACLEDA Institute of Business

Sokha Norng¹, Chanrey Phang², Mady Sen³ & Phorn Ngam⁴

Corresponding Author. Email: norng.sokha@acleda-aib.edu.kh 1, 2, 3 & 4. ACLEDA Institute of Business

ABSTRACT

Mathematics, one element of Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics (STEM) education, has been prioritized by the Royal Government of Cambodia. The mathematics course is offered from K12 to post-secondary education. To make sure that it has been applied successfully and effectively necessitates the study on students' attitudes and intentions towards learning the course. This study, therefore, attempts to investigate factors impacting students' attitude and intention to learn Mathematics by structuring teachers' knowledge and skills in the Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB). The study used correlational design by conducting a survey with 128 year-one students at ACLEDA Institute of Business and employed a structural equation modeling (SEM) to run path analysis. The study found that four hypotheses were supported and one hypothesis was not supported. In other words, teachers' knowledge had a positive significant impact upon students' attitudes towards learning mathematics at (β =0.418), but teachers' skills do not impact attitude towards learning mathematics. Attitude and perceived behavioral control had a positive significant impact upon the intention to learn mathematics at (β =0.429) and (β =0.654), respectively. Behavioral intention had a positive significant impact on the actual learning mathematics at (β =0.683).

Keywords: Mathematics, Teachers' Knowledge, Teacher's Skills, Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB), confirmatory factor analysis (CFA), Structural Equation Modelling (SEM)



1. Introduction

1.1 Background of the study

The Rectangular Strategy—Phase 4 of the sixth legislature focuses four priority areas, but "gives the top priority to people." In order to achieve Rectangle One, emphasizing human resource development, the Royal Government aims at completing four tasks: "improving the quality of education, science and technology; improving vocational training; improving public healthcare and nutrition; and strengthening gender equality and social protection" (The Royal Government of Cambodia [RGC], 2018, p.10). In addition, the Cambodia Industrial Development Policy 2015-2025 aims at developing human resources and skills by "strengthening basic knowledge for children and youth in mathematics, sciences, literature and technology"; and promoting "the study on sciences, technology, engineering, and mathematics (STEM) from primary education to post-secondary education level" (RGC, 2015, pp. 26-27). Moreover, the Cambodia National Qualification Framework (CQF) aims at promoting numerical skills through learning outcomebased curriculum (CQF, 2012); and the guidelines and rubrics for National Standards for Accreditation of Higher Education Institution requires each higher education committee of Cambodia [ACC], 2019).

To meet ACC's requirement, the Mathematics course has been integrated into the curriculum of Foundation Year at ACLEDA Institute of Business. The course falls into three categories: Mathematics for Finance and Banking in semester one to students majoring in Finance and Banking; Mathematics for Business and Economics in semester one to students majoring in Business IT, Fintech, and International Business; and Mathematics for Computing in semester two to students majoring in Business IT and Fintech.

1.2 Problem statement

To be able to implement the Mathematics course effectively, an understanding of students' attitudes is really needed. For instance, Huda et al., (2021) illustrates a positive students' perception of online mathematics learning using You Tube. Bringula et al. (2021) reveals that learners have mixed notions about their mathematics capabilities and interest in learning mathematics in an online environment. Bong and Skaalvik (2003) identify individuals' ability related to mathematics as compared to others and they seek immediate learning interventions from teachers or their classmates.

As part of the mathematical modeling, the Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB), developed by Ajzen, (1991), "offers a theoretically meaningful framework for examining students' beliefs and attitudes toward mathematics at school" (Niepel et al., 2018). However, In Cambodia, little is known about the adoption of Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) on the investigation of students' intention to study Mathematics class, especially the students' perception towards their teachers' knowledge and skills.



1.3 Research objective

Therefore, this study attempts to investigate factors influencing students' intention to learn Mathematics by using Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) with additional variables of teachers' knowledge and skills.

1.4 Research questions

- Which factors influence students' intention to learn Mathematics?
- Does students' intention influence the actual learning of mathematics?

1.5 Hypotheses

- H1: Teachers' knowledge has a positive significant effect on students' attitudes to learn Mathematics.
- H2: Teachers' skills have a positive significant effect on students' attitudes to learn Mathematics.
- H3: Attitude has a positive significant effect on students' Intention to learn Mathematics.
- H4: Perceived Behavioral Control has a positive significant effect on students' Intention to learn Mathematics.
- H5: Students' Intention has a positive significant effect on the actual learning of Mathematics.
- 1.6 Significance of the study

The findings of this study contributed significantly to the existing Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) and teachers of mathematics classes. The structuring of teachers' knowledge and skills into TPB has made the conceptual model even more helpful in predicting students attitudes and intention to learning mathematics; and mathematics teachers can improve their techniques and strategies in improving or strengthening the students' learning outcomes of their classes.

2. Literature Review

2.1 Definition of mathematics

According to Harel (2008), mathematics is defined as a union of two categories of knowledge, namely ways of understanding and ways of thinking. Later, the definition has been generalized as the notions of proof and proof scheme, respectively (Harel, 2008). In the Encyclopedia Britannica, mathematics is defines as "the science of structure, order, and relation that has evolved from elemental practices of counting, measuring, and describing the shapes of objects... it deals with logical reasoning and quantitative calculation, and its development has involved an increasing degree of idealization and abstraction of its subject matter" (Folkerts et al., 2020, para. 1).

At ACLEDA Institute of Business, Mathematics for Finance and Banking covers topics such as Simple Interest and Simple Discount, Compound Interest and Compound Discount, Simple Annuities, General Annuities, Amortization, Bonds, and Business Investment Decisions. Mathematics for Business and Economics covers topics such as Linear Equation, Non-Linear



Equation, and Mathematics for Finance, Differential, Partial Differential, and Linear Programming. Mathematics for Computing covers topics such as Introduction to Algorithms, Base and Number Representation, Computer Representation and Arithmetic, Functions, Introduction and Recursion, Introduction to graph theory, and Algorithms and Computational Complexity.

2.2 The adoption of Theory of Planned Behavior on intention to learn mathematics

Influenced from Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA), firstly developed by (Fishbein & Ajzen, 1975), an extended variable of Perceived Behavioral Control (PBC) has been structured in order to connect intention and behavior (Ajzen, 1991). The structuring of PBC into TRA has developed a new theoretical background, namely the Theory of Planned Behavior. Niepel et al. (2018) cited that "a person's intention to carry out a certain behavior is the best predictor of his or her actual performance of that behavior" (p.25). Ajzen (1991) also asserts that the individual's intention is influenced by his or her attitude, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control.

TPB has been used in predicting entrepreneurial intentions and actions (Kautonen et al., 2015); in predicting attendance of peer-assisted study sessions for statistics (White et al., 2008); in predicting college students' intention to graduate (Sutter & Paulson, 2017); and in analyzing students' beliefs and attitudes toward mathematics across time (Niepel et al., 2018).

2.3 Conceptual framework of Theory of Planned Behavior (TPB) in the study of intention to learn mathematics

Since teachers' knowledge and skills influence students' learning, this study has structured them into TPB in order to determine the factors influencing students to learn Mathematics.

2.3.1 Knowledge and attitudes

According to Bolisani & Bratianu (2018), Knowledge is an abstract concept without any reference to the tangible world. Chong & Cheah (2009) cited, "Teachers must know the subject they will teach and understand how to organize curriculum in light of both students' needs and the schools' learning objective" (p.7); and three interconnected areas between teachers, learners and content are knowledge of learners and their development in social contexts, knowledge of subject matter and curriculum goals, and knowledge of teaching (Hammond & Snowden, 2007). Thus, the study proposed the following hypothesis.

- H1: Teachers' knowledge has a positive significant effect on students' attitudes to learn Mathematics.
- 2.3.2 Skills and attitudes

Irvine (1997) as cited in (Chong & Cheah, 2009, p.5) defines skills as "achievements and/or behavior to be acquired through practice or training to facilitate the student learning and classroom management". As part of the teaching profession, teachers need the teaching skills,



which required as a set of procedures in order that they can apply during their teaching experiences (Grossman, 1990). These skills include pedagogical skills, interpersonal skills, reflective skills, personal skills, and administrative and management skills (Chong & Cheah, 2009). Therefore, the study proposed the following hypothesis.

H2: Teachers' skills have a positive significant effect on students' attitudes to learn Mathematics.

2.3.3 Attitude and behavioral intention

Attitude toward behavior is defined as an individual's belief of a certain behavior or act which makes a positive or negative contribution to that person's life (Alexander, 2015). Actually, individual's attitude answers the question of what individuals think about the behavior as to whether or not it is enjoyable. If one expects to gain from the action, the attitude toward the action is logically positive (EPM, 2020). For instance, if the students enjoy the mathematics formulas, are likely to discover the various solutions, or believe that Mathematics makes them get good grade, or benefit their future work, they intentionally contribute to the class. Attitude is the main predictor of behavioral intention (Ajzen, 1991). It influences the intention to adopt a specific system (Davis et al., 1989) and to adopt technology learning (Bagozzi et al., 1992). Thus, the study proposed the following hypothesis.

H3: Attitude has a positive significant effect on students' intention to learn Mathematics.

2.3.4 Subjective norm (Controlled Variable)

According to Ajzen (1991), subjective norm is defined as the perceived social pressure to engage or not to engage in a behavior. This variable normally answers the individuals' question of what others think about the behavior (EPM, 2020). The group that influences the individuals' behaviors can be family, friends, social networks, or significant others (Ajzen, 1991). However, this variable is controlled in this study since mathematics course is the required by the Foundation Year Department of ACLEDA Institute of Business.

2.3.5 Perceived behavioral control and behavioral intention

Perceived Behavioral Control (PBC) expresses a person's belief on how easy or hard it is to display a certain behavior or act in a certain way (Alexander, 2015). In psychology, control, an important variable within the TPB of which a person feels capable and confident in their ability to execute the desired behavior, plays a central role in their intentions and actual behavior outcomes (Smith, 2013). PBC is also the predictor of behavioral intention (Ajzen, 1991); intention to adopt online distance learning (Osman, 2020); and intention to adopt Computing Resource Center (Taylor & Todd, 1995). Therefore, the study proposed the following hypothesis.

H4: Perceived Behavioral Control has a positive significant effect on students' intention to learn Mathematics.



2.3.6 Behavioral intention and usage behavior

Ajzen (1991) defines behavioral intention as willingness to perform a certain task. The actual system use (usage behavior) is the end-point where people use technology and it is influenced by behavioral intention on technology acceptance and usage (Davis et al., 1989), on technological learning and usage (Bagozzi et al., 1992), at Computer Resource Center (Taylor & Todd, 1995), and online distance learning (Osman, 2020).

H5: Behavioral Intention has a positive significant effect on the actual learning of Mathematics.

2.4 Conceptual model in the adoption of TPB on learning mathematics



Figure 1: Conceptual model of Structured TPB on Learning Mathematics

3. Methods

3.1 Research design

This study employed quantitative research approach, using a correlational design (Cresswell, 2012). To test the hypotheses, the study developed a logistics plan by aligning the research question. Moreover, the study used a survey questionnaire as a research tool to collect primary data. The questionnaire was designed in Microsoft Form with two main categories: the first category involving personal data of the respondents and the second one measuring six constructs. Then, the survey questionnaire was distributed to students through such media platforms as Microsoft Team and Telegram. The obtained data were later coded for both descriptive and inferential statistical analysis.



_

3.2 Sampling and sample frame

The study selected students from three different shifts of Mathematics classes at ACLEDA Institute of Business. The students were grouped in terms of gender, age, year of study, and major. Multiple stage random sampling was employed. The study selected 128 students as a sample size. This sample size was appropriate because Green (1991) determined N > 50 + 8 m is appropriate for the best practice of regression analysis; and "m" represents the number of independent variables.

3.3 Research tools & measurements of constructs

The questionnaire was comprised of two main categories: the first involving identifies personal data of the respondents and the second measuring six constructs namely Teachers' Knowledge (TK), Teachers' Skills (TS), Attitude (ATT), Perceived Behavioral Control (PBC), Behavioral Intention (BI), and Actual Learning (USE). Moreover, 7-likert scale was employed in order to minimize the errors.

Variables	Items	Sources
Teachers'	TS1: My Math lecturer is skillful in delivery instruction.	(Chong & Cheah,
Skill (TS)	TS2: My Math lecturer is approachable whenever I need his/her assistant.	2009)
	TS3: My Math lecturer is reflective in responding to my questions.	
	TS4: My Math lecturer is well prepared and good at time management.	
	TS5: My Math lecturer is good at assigning tasks and giving	
	feedback.	
Teachers' Knowledge (TK)	TK1: My Math lecturer is very knowledgeable about his/her subject teaching.TK2: My Math lecturer understand my learning styles.TK3: My Math lecturer properts the content of the subject fulfills.	(Chong & Cheah, 2009)
	my needs and understanding	
	TK4: My Math lecturer know the speed (not too fast or not too slow) of his teaching.	
	TK5: Overall, the knowledge of my Math lecturer is very good.	
Attitudes (ATT)	ATT1: It is a good idea to learn Mathematics online. ATT2: It is wise to learn Mathematics online.	(Ajzen, 2013) (Yang et al., 2021)
	ATT3: It is pleasant and interesting to learn Mathematics and	(Keo et al., 2021)
	online.	(Em et al., 2021)
	ATT4: Overall, I have a positive opinion towards learning Mathematics online.	(York et al., 2021)

Table 1: Construct Measurements of all Variables

(continued)



Variables	Items	Sources
Perceived	PBC1: I would feel comfortable to learn Mathematics online	(Taylor & Todd,
Behavioral	PBC2: I have enough knowledge to learn Mathematics online.	1995)
Control	PBC3: I could do self-learning in online class of Mathematics.	(Ajzen, 2013)
(PBC)	PBC4: I have the ability to learn Mathematics online.	(York et al., 2021)
	PBC5: I believe I can control over online Mathematics class.	
Behavioral	BI1: I plan to do online Mathematics class in the future.	(Ajzen, 2013)
Intention	BI2: I intend to learn Mathematics online.	(Yang et al., 2021)
(BI)	BI3: I will strongly recommend online Mathematics class to	(Keo et al., 2021)
	someone that I know.	(Em et al., 2021)
	BI4: Whenever I want to develop my knowledge, I will do online	(York et al., 2021)
	Mathematics.	
Actual	USE1: I have learned Mathematics online during Covid-19	(Venkatesh &
Learning	pandemic.	Davis, 2000)
(USE)	USE2: I have learned Mathematics online every week during	(Taylor & Todd,
	Covid-19 pandemic.	1995)
	USE3: I become familiar with learning Mathematics online.	(Ajzen, 2013)

 Table 1: Construct Measurements of all Variables(continued)

3.4 Data collection

The questionnaires were administered to 300 students who had learned the three courses of mathematics, namely Mathematics for Finance and Banking, Mathematics for Business and Economics, and Mathematics for Computing. The data were collected between from September to October 2021.

3.5 Data analysis

The study transformed data from Microsoft Form to SPSS and then did demographic analysis (analysis in terms of frequency and percentile), descriptive analysis (analysis measurement of constructs in terms of Minimum, Maximum, Mean, Standard deviation and level of agreement), and measurement model analysis (reliability and validity). Moreover, the study analyzed the bivariate of each construct to test their association before running Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA). Finally, the study ran path analysis as part of hypothesis testing in AMOS.

3.6 Ethical consideration

To avoid plagiarism, the study offered credit to all works, done by others; especially, the study used in-text citation and end-text citation. Moreover, the study had to keep confidential of the respondents' response. Last but not least, the study had to maintain integrity in interpreting and reporting all the data.



3.7 Reliability test (Cronbach's alpha)

According to the Table 2, the Cronbach's Alpha of all constructs scored above 0.7 in both pilot test (n=30) and the actual result (n=128), which was that the constructed variables and factors are reliable to be implemented in this research (Nunnally, 1994). Therefore, the constructs are good to be used to acquire the students' intention to learn Mathematics.

No	Item	n= 30	n=128
1	Attitude	0.807	0.823
2	Perceived Behavioral Control	0.756	0.843
3	Behavioral Intention	0.742	0.816
4	Actual Use	0.754	0.800
5	Teachers' Skill	0.787	0.872
6	Teachers' Knowledge	0.853	0.910
	All Variables	0.893	0.930

Table 2: Reliability Test of Cronbach's Alpha on Each Variable

4. **Results and Discussions**

4.1 Results of the study

4.1.1 Demographic factors

Table 3: Demographic Respondents

Item	Categories(N=128)	Frequency	Percentage
Gender	Female	110	85.9%
	Male	18	14.1%
Age	Equal or under 17 years old	3	2.3%
	18-19 years old	84	65.6%
	20-21 years old	31	24.2%
	22-23 years old	4	3.1%
	24-25 years old	2	1.6%
	Over 25 years old	4	3.1%
Education	Bachelor	117	91.4%
	Associate	10	7.8%
	Master	1	0.8%
Major	Finance and Banking	104	81.3%
	Business IT	1	0.78%
	Fintech	11	8.59%
	International Business	12	9.38%
	Logistic and Supply Chain		
	Management	0	0.0%

(continued)



	rable 5. Demograph	lie Respondents (continued))
Item	Categories(N=128)	Frequency	Percentage
Occupation	Currently Unemployed	85	66.4%
	Company Employee	25	19.5%
	Government Officer	3	2.3%
	Business Owner	10	7.8%
	Self-employed	5	3.9%

Table 3: Demographic Respondents (continued)

4.1.2 Level of agreement

Based on the research stated of evaluation criteria, (Armstrong, 1987), the variable becomes essential when score is higher. They questionnaires of variables were conducted in 7-likert scale points ranging from following:

- Strongly Disagree ranges from 1.00 to 1.85
- Disagree ranges from 1.86 to 2.71
- Somewhat Disagree ranges from 2.72 to 3.57
- Neutral ranges from 3.58 to 4.42
- Somewhat Agree ranges from 4.43 to 5.28
- Agree ranges from 5.29 to 6.14
- Strongly Agree ranges from 6.15 to 7.00

Variable	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation	Level of Agreement
Attitude (ATT)	3.75	7.00	5.7793	0.69064	Agree
Perceived Behavioral Control (PBC)	3.20	7.00	5.5484	0.77936	Agree
Behavioral Intention (BI)	2.75	7.00	5.4121	0.88935	Agree
Actual Learning (USE)	3.00	7.00	5.6849	0.72971	Agree
Teacher's Skill (TS)	3.40	7.00	5.8250	0.65255	Agree
Teacher's Knowledge (TK)	2.40	7.00	5.8016	0.79467	Agree

Table 3: Level of Agreement

*Note: Somewhat Agree: 4.43 – 5.28, Agree: 5.29 – 6.14, Strongly Agree: 6.15 – 7.00

4.1.3 Correlation analysis

Correlation Analysis was used to test correlation level and validity between all constructs which in this research brought six constructs into testing. The correlation's values ranging between -1 to +1, meaning that the closer of number in each variable reaching nearly +1, the stronger of correlations (Pearson, 1926).

Table 4 shows that all variables are significantly correlated at the significant level of 0.01 (2-tailed). The results also showed the favorable and positive correlations between variables



with the lowest of 0.589 of teacher skill towards behavioral intention and highest of 0.791 of teacher skill towards teacher knowledge.

	1	2	3	4	5	6
1-Attitude	1					
2-Perceived Behavioral Control	0.715**	1				
3-Behavioral Intention	0.664**	0.760**	1			
4-Actual Use	0.646**	0.618**	0.596**	1		
5-Teacher Skill	0.715**	0.676**	0.589**	0.676**	1	
6-Teacher Knowledge	0.657**	0.658**	0.679**	0.675**	0.791**	1

Table 4: Pearson Correlation Matrix

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

4.1.4 Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA)

After running Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA), the study dropped three, three, two, three, two, and one indicators of the following factors such as Teachers' Knowledge (TK), Teachers' Skill (TS), Attitude (ATT), Perceived Behavioral Control (PBC), Behavioral Intention (BI), and Actual Learning (USE), respectively.

4.1.5 Factor loadings

Figure 2 shows that the factor loadings of all items were highly adequate. The standardized regression weights ranged from 0.641 to 0.903, above 0.50 as suggested by (Hair et al., 2006). Thus, most of the constructs confirm the convergent validity test, and those factor loadings can be used to estimate construct reliabilities (CR) and average variance extracted (AVE).



Figure 2: Factor loading analysis



4.1.6 Cronbach alpha and construct reliabilities

Table 5 shows that each construct consists of composite reliability reaching an acceptable value of 0.60 (Karatu et al., 2014). The teacher skill has the highest Cronbach's alpha of 0.843, but perceived behavioral control has the lowest Cronbach's alpha of 0.724; moreover, the teacher skill also has the highest construct reliability (CR) of 0.849, while perceived behavioral control has the lowest reliability (CR) of 0.755.

Variable Types	Variable Names	Items Name	Items	Cronbach's alpha	CR
Exo1	Teacher knowledge (TK)	TK2 TK4	2	0.824	0.828
Exo2	Teacher Skill (TS)	TS1 TS3	2	0.843	0.849
Exo3	Perceived behavioral control (PBC)	PBC4 PBC5	2	0.724	0.755
Mediating Variable	Attitude (ATT)	ATT1 ATT2	2	0.795	0.800
Mediating Variable	Behavioral Intention (BI)	BI2 BI3	2	0.789	0.797
Endo	Actual Adoption (USE)	USE1 USE2	2	0.824	0.834

Table 5: Cronbach's Alpha and Construct Reliabilities

4.1.7 Discriminant validity of constructs

Table 6 illustrates the result of variance extracted (VE), which is calculated into average variance extracted (AVE). The VE for teacher knowledge, teacher skill, attitude, perceived behavioral control, behavioral intention, and actual adoption is 0.706, 0.737, 0.668, 0.613, 0.663, and 0.716, respectively.

Variance	Error	SFL	Factor Loading	Code	Variable
Extracted					
0.706	0.227	0.773	0.879	TK2	ТК
	0.360	0.640	0.800	TK4	
0.737	0.279	0.721	0.849	TS1	TS
	0.247	0.753	0.868	TS3	
0.668	0.229	0.771	0.878	ATT2	ATT
	0.434	0.566	0.752	ATT1	

Fable (6:	Final	CFA	of the	Six	Vari	ables
---------	----	-------	-----	--------	-----	------	-------



Variable	Code	Factor Loading	SFL	Error	Variance
					Extracted
PBC	PBC5	0.641	0.411	0.589	0.613
	PBC4	0.903	0.815	0.185	
BI	BI2	0.855	0.731	0.269	0.663
	BI3	0.771	0.594	0.406	
USE	USE2	0.814	0.663	0.337	0.716
	USE1	0.877	0.769	0.231	

Table 6: Final CFA of the Six Variables(continued)

Table 7 illustrates the average variance extracted (AVE) and squared inter-construct correlation (SIC) for two variables. As cited in Phang (2016), the AVE should be more than the squared inter-construct correlation (SIC) of the two constructs to support discriminant validity. If AVE is less than CS, the problem of multicollinearity would exist (Fornell & Larcker, 1981). The table also shows that the highest AVE is between Teacher Skill and Actual Use, equal to 0.726, and the lowest AVE is between Perceived Behavioral Control and Behavioral Intention, equal to 0.638. The highest SIC was between Teachers' Knowledge (TK) and Behavioral Intention (BI), equal to 0.656, and the lowest SIC was between Attitude (ATT) and Actual Learning (USE), equal to 0.298.

Table 7: Average Variance Extracted (AVE) and Squared Inter-Construct Correlation Estimates (SIC)

Variable Name	ТК	TS	ATT	PBC	BI	USE
TK	1					
TS	0.722	1				
	(0.594)	0.502				
ATT	0.687	0.703	1			
	(0.384)	(0.413)				
PBC	0.660	0.675	0.641	1		
	(0.567)	(0.503)	(0.360)			
BI	0.685	0.700	0.665	0.638	1	
	(0.656)	(0.372)	(0.594)	(0.627)		
USE	0.711	0.726	0.692	0.665	0.689	1
	(0.382)	(0.428)	(0.298)	(0.419)	(0.327)	

*Note: SIC in parenthesis

Table 7 also reveals that each AVE value was more than the squared inter-construct correlation (SIC). The highest difference was between Attitude (ATT) and Actual Learning (USE) at 0.3939, and the lowest difference was between Perceived Behavioral Control (PBC) and Behavioral Intention (BI) at 0.0107. Thus, discriminant validity theory is accepted, or multicollinearity is absent. In other words, each construct could be considered distinctively from one to another (Phang, 2016).



4.1.8 Model fit indices

CFA confirms that the TPB model is really fit in the study of student intention as the fit indices are:

Table 8: Model Fit

Fit Measures	Value	Results
CMIN/DF(χ2 /df) RMSEA	1.857<2 0.082	good fit acceptable fit
NFI	0.922>0.90	acceptable fit
CFI	0.961>0.97	good fit
GFI	0.921>0.90	acceptable fit
AGFI	0.843> 0.85	not great but tolerable

Adopted from (Schermelleh-Engel et al., 2003)

Note: CMIN/DF= Chi square divided by degrees of freedom, RMSEA=Root Mean Square Error of Approximation, NFI=Normed Fit Index, CFI=Comparative Fit Index, GFI=Goodness-of-Fit Index, AGFI=AdjustedGood-of-FitIndex

4.1.9 Path analysis

Figure 3 shows the standardized regression weight of path analysis. For Path 1, factors such as Teachers' Skill (TS) and Teachers' Knowledge (TK) are the predictors of the Attitude. For Path 2, factors such as Attitude (ATT) and Perceived Behavioral Control (PBC) are the predictors of the Behavioral Intention (BI). For Path 3, Behavioral Intention (BI) is the predictor of the Actual Learning (USE).



Figure 3: Results Path Analysis



Table 9 shows a regression analysis of path analysis 1 with Attitude as the dependent variable. The result suggests that the model is statistically significant in explaining that at least one predictor impacts the Behavioral Intention to adopt blended learning. It also shows that there is a positive impact of Teacher Knowledge (β =0.418) at a significance level (0.017), but Teachers' Skills do not impact Attitude as the p-value is 0.068 > 0.05.

IV	DV	Unstan Estin	Unstandardized Estimates			Sig.	
		В	S.E	Beta	C.R.	(P-value)	
TK	ATT	0.324	0.136	0.418	2.389	0.017*	
TS	ATT	0.281	0.154	0.314	1.828	0.068	

Table 9: Path Analysis 1 (Attitude as Dependent Variable)

*. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed)

Note: IV= Independent Variable, DV=Dependent Variable, B=direct effect, S.E.=standard Error, C.R.=Critical Ratio, Sig.=Significance, ATT=Attitude, TK=Teachers' Knowledge, TS= Teachers' Skills

The following table (Table 10) is the result of regression analysis in path 2 for the relationship between Attitude and Perceived Behavioral Control as the independent variable and Behavioral Intention as the dependent variable. It showed a positive impact of the Attitude (β =0.429) at level significance (0.000) and positive impact of Perceived Behavioral Control (β =0.654) at a significance level (0.000) on Behavioral Intention.

Table 10: Path Analysis 2	(Behavioral	Intention as I	Dependent Variable)
2			1 /

IV	DV	Unstanda Estimat	Unstandardized Estimates			Sig.	
		В	S.E.	Beta	C.R.	(P-value)	
ATT	BI	0.458	0.110	0.429	4.165	0.000**	
PBC	BI	0.632	0.109	0.654	5.790	0.000**	

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed)

Note: IV= Independent Variable, DV=Dependent Variable, B=direct effect, S.E.=standard Error, C.R.=Critical Ratio, Sig.=Significance, BI=Behavioral Intention, Att= Attitude, PBC= Perceived Behavioral Control

The following table (Table 11) is the result of regression analysis in path 3 for the relationship between Behavioral Intention as the independent variable and Actual Adoption as the dependent variable. It shows a positive impact of the Behavioral Intention (β =0.683) at a significant level (0.000) on the Actual Adoption of student intention to learn Mathematics.

IV	DV	Unsta Esti	Unstandardized Estimates			Sig.	
		В	S.E.	Beta	C.R.	(P-value)	
BI	USE	0.664	0.097	0.683	6.844	0.000**	

Table 11: Path Analysis 3 (Actual Adoption as Dependent Variable)

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed)

Note: IV= Independent Variable, DV=Dependent Variable, B=direct effect, S.E.=standard Error, C.R.=Critical Ratio, Sig.=Significance, BI=Behavioral Intention, USE=Actual Adoption



4.1.10 Results of hypothesis testing

The following table shows that H1, H3, H4, and H5 were supported at the significance level of (0.017), (0.000), (0.000), and (0.000), respectively; whereas H2 was not supported at the significance level of (0.068).

Hypot	heses	Significance Value	Statistical Significance
H1:	Teachers' knowledge has a positive significant effect on students' attitudes to learn Mathematics	0.017	Supported
H2:	Teachers' skills have a positive significant effect on students' attitudes to learn Mathematics.	0.068	Not Supported
H3:	Attitude has a positive significant effect on students' Intention to learn Mathematics.	0.000	Supported
H4:	Perceived Behavioral Control has a positive significant effect on students' Intention to learn Mathematics.	0.000	Supported
H5:	Students' Intention has a positive significant effect on the actual learning of Mathematics.	0.000	Supported

Table	12:	Hypothesis	Testing
-------	-----	------------	---------

4.2 Discussion

The structuring of Teachers' Knowledge and Teachers' skills in the current TPB model is statistically significant when controlling Subjective Norm variable. The conceptual model on the study of students' intention to learn mathematics met the Goodness of Fit Indices. This was in line with the adoption of TPB in health care campaigns (Javadi et al., 2013), Decomposed Theory of Planned Behavior (Taylor & Todd, 1995), the adoption of online distance learning (Osman, 2020).

The mean score of Teacher's Knowledge was 5.801, which was in line with (Chong & Cheah, 2009); and Teacher's Knowledge had a positive impact on students' attitude towards learning mathematics. In this sense, the students had a positive opinion on their teachers' knowledge, whereby their learning styles and teaching are understood at an acceptable speed.

The mean score of Teacher's Skills was 5.825, which was consistent with (Chong & Cheah, 2009); however, Teacher's skills do not impact students' attitude toward learning mathematics. In other words, the teachers' skills do not influence the students' behavior to learn mathematics.

The mean score of Attitude was 5.779; and Attitude had a positive significant impact on students' intention to learn mathematics, which means that the students were willing to learning mathematics because they formed a positive opinion about the course itself and teachers' knowledge and skills. Furthermore, the mean score of Perceived Behavioral Control was 5.548; and Perceived behavioral control had a positive significant impact on students' intention to learn mathematics. In other words, the students were willing to learn mathematics because they had the ability to learn the course, especially their ability to control over online mathematics class. This finding was in line with the study of White et al.


(2008) on Predicting attendance at peer-assisted study sessions for statistics; of Lipnevich et al. (2011) on Mathematics attitudes and mathematics outcomes of the United States; and Belarusian middle school students; of Hagger et al. (2015) on Perceived autonomy support and autonomous motivation toward mathematics activities; and of Niepel et al. (2018) on Students' beliefs and attitudes toward mathematics across time.

5. Conclusion

The results show that regarding a demographic factor, most of the students are female, accounted for 85.94%, whose age ranges between 18 to 19 years, equal to 65.63%. Moreover, a large majority of them are currently doing bachelor degree, accounting for 91.41%, majoring in Finance and Banking, equaling to 81.25%; and 66.41% of them are currently unemployed since they are now in their first year.

The study has found that the four hypotheses were supported but one hypothesis was partially supported; in other words, Teachers' Knowledge had a positive significant impact attitude towards learning mathematics at (β =0.418); Attitude and Perceived Behavioral Control had a positive significant impact the intention learning mathematics at (β =0.429) and (β =0.654), respectively; and Behavioral Intention had a positive significant impact the actual learning mathematics at (β =0.683); However, Teachers' Skills do not impact attitude towards learning mathematics at (β =0.314).

The study found that TPB is very useful in the analysis of attitudes and behavior to learn mathematics. The study removes Subjective Norm from the proposed conceptual model because Mathematics course is the compulsory; in other words, students do not have choice in the Foundation Year Programs. More importantly, the structuring of teachers' knowledge and skills is the pure finding in this study, which can be a value added to the adoption of SEM in the quantitative research in the educational setting.

Implications and further study

The finding of this study shows that students are willing to learn mathematics because they form a positive opinion towards the course, and they have enough ability and knowledge to learn the course as well. In this sense, the study suggests that the Math lecturers pay close attention to attitudes toward this course since the understanding of students' attitudes and intention can be useful inputs for conducting the Math course effectively. Furthermore, teachers' knowledge plays a significant role in motivating students to learn the Math course; however, teachers' skills are still concern in this study as they do not influence students' attitudes to learn mathematics. Therefore, the study suggests Math lecturers upgrade their teaching skills continuously.

Since the study mainly focuses on Mathematics course at ACLEDA Institute of Business; the results can be generalized to other higher education institutions. In this regard, the study suggests that future researchers adapt this proposed conceptual model in order to analyze students' attitudes and intention in other courses or at other higher education institutions in Cambodia



References

- ACC. (2019). Guidelines and Rubrics for National Standards for Accrditation of Higher Education Institutions. Phnom Penh: Accreditation Committee of Cambodia.
- Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behavior. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 50(2), 179–211.
- Ajzen, I. (2013). Theory of Planned Behaviour Questionnaire. Measurement Instrument. In *Database for the Social Science*.
- Alexander, D. (2015). Theory of Planned Behaviour. In the Video Presentation, designed by Alexander Dreiling, Geremy Farr-Wharton and Jack Robin. Copyright by Queensland University of Technology.
- Armstrong, R. L. (1987). The Midpoint on a Five-Point Likert-Type Scale. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 64(2), 359–362. https://doi.org/10.2466/pms.1987.64.2.359
- Bagozzi, R. P., Davis, F. D., & Warshaw, P. R. (1992). Development and test of a theory of technological learning and usage. *Human Relations*, 45(7), 659–686.
- Bolisani, E., & Bratianu, C. (2018). The elusive definition of knowledge. In *Emergent knowledge strategies* (pp. 1–22). Springer.
- Bong, M., & Skaalvik, E. M. (2003). Academic self-concept and self-efficacy: How different are they really? *Educational Psychology Review*, *15*(1), 1–40.
- Bringula, R., Reguyal, J. J., Tan, D. D., & Ulfa, S. (2021). Mathematics self-concept and challenges of learners in an online learning environment during COVID-19 pandemic. *Smart Learning Environments*, 8(1), 1–23.
- Chong, S., & Cheah, H. M. (2009). A values, skills and knowledge framework for initial teacher preparation programmes. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education (Online)*, 34(3), 1–17.
- CQF. (2012). Cambodia Qualifications Framework. Retrieved from http://cambodiancouncilofnurse.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Cambodiaqualification-framework_Eng.pdf.
- Cresswell, J. W. (2012). Educational Research: Planning, Conducting, and Evaluating Quantitative and Qualitative Approaches to Research (4th ed.). Pearson Education, Inc.
- Darling-Hammond, L., & Baratz-Snowden, J. (2007). A good teacher in every classroom: Preparing the highly qualified teachers our children deserve. *Educational Horizons*, 85(2), 111–132.
- Davis, F. D., Bagozzi, R. P., & Warshaw, P. R. (1989). User Acceptance of Computer Technology: A Comparison of Two Theoretical Models. *Management Science*, 35(8), 982–1003. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.35.8.982
- Em, S., Norng, S., & Thab, C. (2021). The Analysis of Technology Acceptance Model on the Study of Consumer Attitudes toward the Intention to Adopt Mobile Banking App in Cambodia. *AIB Research Series*, *Volume 1*, 74–86. http://acleda-



aib.edu.kh/tc/eng/business-news-20210302.pdf

- EPM. (2020). Theory of Planned Behavior. In the Video Presentation. Retrieved from https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=hhlxxJrWLUE.
- Fishbein, M., & Ajzen, I. (1975). *Belief, Attitude, Intention and Behavior: An Introduction to Theorv and Research.* Addison-Wesley.
- Folkerts, M., Berggren, . John L., Knorr, . Wilbur R., Fraser, . Craig G., & Gray, . JeremyJohn.(2020).Mathematics.EncyclopediaBritannica.https://www.britannica.com/science/mathematics.In Encyclopedia Britannica.
- Green S B. (1991). How Many Subjects Does It Take To Do A Regression Analysis. *Multivariate Behavioral Research*, 26(3), 499–510. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327906mbr2603
- Grossman, P. L. (1990). *The making of a teacher: Teacher knowledge and teacher education*. Teachers College Press, Teachers College, Columbia University.
- Hagger, M. S., Sultan, S., Hardcastle, S. J., & Chatzisarantis, N. L. D. (2015). Perceived autonomy support and autonomous motivation toward mathematics activities in educational and out-of-school contexts is related to mathematics homework behavior and attainment. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 41, 111–123.
- Hair, J. F., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., Anderson, R. E., & Tatham, R. L. (2006). *Multivariate* Data Analysis (6th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Prentice Hall.
- Harel, G. (2008). DNR perspective on mathematics curriculum and instruction, Part I: focus on proving. *ZDM*, *40*(3), 487–500.
- Huda, N., Wahyuni, T. S., & Fauziyah, F. D. (2021). Students' Perceptions of Online Mathematics Learning and Its Relationship Towards Their Achievement. *International Conference on Engineering, Technology and Social Science (ICONETOS 2020)*, 522– 529.
- Irvine, J. J. (1997). Critical Knowledge for Diverse Teachers and Learners. ERIC.
- Javadi, M., Kadkhodaee, M., Yaghoubi, M., Maroufi, M., & Shams, A. (2013). Applying theory of planned behavior in predicting of patient safety behaviors of nurses. *Materia Socio-Medica*, 25(1), 52.
- Kautonen, T., Van Gelderen, M., & Fink, M. (2015). Robustness of the theory of planned behavior in predicting entrepreneurial intentions and actions. *Entrepreneurship Theory* and Practice, 39(3), 655–674.
- Keo, S., Norng, S., & Seng, S. (2021). Consumers' Attitudes toward Intention to Adopt Mobile Banking: The Adoption of Diffusion of Innovation Theory on the Study of ABA Mobile Bank. *AIB Research Series*, *Volume 1*, 33–48. http://acledaaib.edu.kh/tc/eng/business-news-20210302.pdf
- Lipnevich, A. A., MacCann, C., Krumm, S., Burrus, J., & Roberts, R. D. (2011). Mathematics attitudes and mathematics outcomes of US and Belarusian middle school students. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 103(1), 105.



- Niepel, C., Burrus, J., Greiff, S., Lipnevich, A. A., Brenneman, M. W., & Roberts, R. D. (2018). Students' beliefs and attitudes toward mathematics across time: A longitudinal examination of the theory of planned behavior. *Learning and Individual Differences*, 63, 24–33.
- Nunnally, J. C. (1994). Psychometric theory 3E. Tata McGraw-hill education.
- Osman, Z. (2020). Determinants of Social Entrepreneur Intention and Behavior among Online Distance Learning Students in Malaysia. *Social Sciences*, *10*(11), 1496–1506.
- Pearson, K. (1926). On the coefficient of racial likeness. *Biometrika*, 105–117.
- RGC. (2015). Cambodia Industrial Development Policy 2015 2025: "Market Orientation and Enabling Environment for Industrial Development". Phnom Penh: Council of Ministers.
- RGC. (2018). Rectangular Strategy_Phase 4. Retrieved from http://cnv.org.kh/wpcontent/uploads/2012/10/Rectangular-Strategy-Phase-IV-of-the-Royal-Governmentof-Cambodia-of-the-Sixth-Legislature-of-the-National-Assembly-2018-2023.pdf.
- Smith, N. (2013). Introduction to Theory of Planned Behaviour. In the Video Presentation, produced by Nathan Smith. Copyright by the University of Birmingham.
- Sutter, N., & Paulson, S. (2017). Predicting college students' intention to graduate: a test of the theory of planned behavior. *College Student Journal*, *50*(3), 409–421.
- Taylor, S., & Todd, P. A. (1995). Understanding information technology usage.pdf.crdownload.pdf. In *Information Systems Research* (Vol. 6, Issue 2, pp. 144– 176). https://doi.org/10.1287/isre.6.2.144
- Venkatesh, V., & Davis, F. D. (2000). Theoretical extension of the Technology Acceptance Model: Four longitudinal field studies. *Management Science*, 46(2), 186–204. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.46.2.186.11926
- White, K. M., Thomas, I., Johnston, K. L., & Hyde, M. K. (2008). Predicting attendance at peer-assisted study sessions for statistics: Role identity and the theory of planned behavior. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, 148(4), 473–492.
- Yang, S., Norng, S., & Thab, C. (2021). Consumer's Attitudes toward the Intention to Adopt Mobile Payment System: A Study on Mobile Application of ABA Bankin Cambodia. *AIB Research Series*, 1, 1–19. http://acleda-aib.edu.kh/tc/eng/business-news-20210302.pdf
- York, T., Norng, S., & Sem, L. (2021). Factors Inspiring Customers to Use Mobile Banking App: The Adoption of Decomposed Theory of Planned Behavior (DTPB) Model on the Study of ACLEDA Unity ToanChet App. AIB Research Series, 1, 117–131. http://acleda-aib.edu.kh/tc/eng/business-news-20210302.pdf



The Adoption of SERVQUAL Model on the Study of Customer Satisfaction of ACLEDA Unity Toanchet

Dinasane San¹, Raingsey Keo² & Chanthorn Thab³

Corresponding Author. Email: sandinasane11@gmail.com 1, 2 &3. ACLEDA Institute of Business

ABSTRACT

This study aims to analyze customer satisfaction with ToanChet, a local mobile banking app of Cambodia, using the service quality model or SERVQUAL. ToanChet is based on service quality, reliability, Assurance, Tangibles, Empathy and Responsiveness. The study employed a quantitative approach with a sample size of more than 120 people to analyze service quality in the app. All dimensions of customer satisfaction are strongly associated statistically while there are rooms for the app to be improved. The study shows that the customers are satisfied with the overall service quality. The study is a useful contribution to the related parties, especially ACLEDA Bank and customers. Further studies should be conducted in some other ways such as different sample size, sampling method, country, comparison, research design approach, companies or banks and models.

Keywords: SERVQUAL, customer satisfaction, mobile banking.



1. Introduction

Service quality is the ability to satisfy customer through the performance of service providers. It is very important in the service sector because it has always been identified as the positive connection that can result in profits and customer satisfaction (Kalidas, 2014). Notably, financial sector companies strategically compete to increase their market share of income. Among these companies, the banks have changed dramatically by shifting from the traditional practice to the modern system of branchless banking to serve their customers even better. Adopting state-of-the-art technology has allowed banks to update themselves to another level and ingeniously adapt to the banking innovation and enlarge their numbers of customer base (Saleem & Rashid, 2011).

Mobile banking is a new idea and trend that have arisen over the recent years, creating new streaming in the finance and manufacturing fields. Mobile banking has the undertakings as it is directed by mobile phone, a wireless platform for the development of value in banking transactions by clients (AMIRI & Faghani, 2012). Mobile banking system is convenient because of its flexibility for customers to do the transactions anywhere and anytime at ease. Delivering quality service in a new and competitive environment is the secret to a sustainable competitive advantage. Satisfying customers has thus become a major target for professionals, administrators and academics. Satisfaction of customers could bring a positive impact on the organization's productivity (Saleem & Rashid, 2011)

There are not many documents accessible about the study on this issue in Cambodia, and mostly the focus areas are not about mobile banking. For instance, there are research studies about Cambodia's health service quality (Yasuoka, Poudel, Ly, Nguon, Socheat & Jimba, 2012, Hasegawa, Yasuoka, Ly, Nguon & Jimba, 2013, Soeters & Griffiths, 2003), education quality (Chen, Sok & Sok, 2007), bus service quality (Sum, Champahom, Ratanavaraha & Jomnonkwao, 2019; Ok & Hengsadeekul, 2018). There is a study conducted on the service quality of One Window Service Office using SERVQUAL Model. This study mainly focusses on one facility that combines the government services and information in order to save time and effort of citizens to get the service that they need. In addition, the study focused on the perception of citizens' satisfaction. Thus, the researcher suggested and encouraged other researchers to focus on the specific services rather than solely to work on the study of customer satisfaction of the service (Vutha, 2013). Therefore, this current study aims to fill in the gap of the previous studies by examining ACLEDA customers' satisfaction with ACLEDA ToanChet using SERVQUAL Model.

1.1 Research objective and research question

The objective of this research is to analyze customer satisfaction with ACLEDA ToanChet by adopting SERVQUAL Model. In this regard, the study aims to answer one research question, "To what extent are customers satisfied with the service quality of ACLEDA ToanChet?"



1.2 Significance of the study

This study is contributed to banks, microfinance institution and customers by showing the impacts, root problem, solutions and recommendation to improve the service delivery to customers by understanding their needs and wants. The study also gives insight for the companies to adopt the convenient and modern options to reach the customer's preferences that obtain the valued customers and attract new target customers.

2. Literature Review

2.1 Customer satisfaction

According to Zhang, Vonderembse, & Lim (2003), customer satisfaction is the degree in which customers feel about the worthiness of the price they have paid for the product or service and they feel that how much they have paid for are worth it. Some researchers believe that customer's satisfaction is reaction in terms of emotion toward the gap between what they have expected and what they receive. Customer satisfaction can be measured as the satisfaction from the previous attributes, such as the reward and expectation. Alternatively, it is the conceptual response of the customer to the purchase and use of the product or service that come from the comparison to the expectation. Cengiz (2010) asserts that customer satisfaction could not only be defined by the standard or the quality of the products or services, but by the relationship between the customer and the service provider.

2.2 Service quality

There is still a debate for more than two decades about the definition of service quality (Prakash & Mohanty, 2013). Service quality is the customer's impression on the service providers and their services. In the literature term, service quality has been defined as the overall assessment on the performance of the services evaluated by the customers (Sharma & Malviya, 2011). However, some argue that service quality is a global judgement or attitude relating to a particular service (Fogli, 2006).

Customer satisfaction has a significant connection with the service quality of the product or service. Service quality has a positive impact on the customer satisfaction, which means that the better the service, the better customer satisfaction. Cambodia mobile banking app ToanChet needs to scale up its service quality in order to measure the satisfaction that customers have on the app. A model, which measures the service quality, is needed to scale the ToanChet service quality (Desiyanti, Sudja, & Martini, 2018).

2.3 Customer expectation

Customer expectation has been defined as what customers want from products or services. It is developed from what is created in the minds of the customers according to their individual experiences and preferences (Bayraktar, 2020).



2.4 Customer perception

Customer perception is prejudiced by the experiences that customers had already received from the similar services or products (Lekhanya & Dlamini, 2017). Customer perception of the service quality is based on the evaluation of a particular service delivery (Mmutle, 2017). Lekhanya and Dlamini (2017) say that customer perception can be biased by previous experiences.

2.5 Conceptual framework

Model (SERVQUAL) was used to analyze customer satisfaction on ACLEDA ToanChet. It mainly focuses on the Gap 5 of customer expected service to perceived service. This is the adopted framework from the previous study (AMIRI & Faghani, 2012).

SERVQUAL model are Reliability, Assurance, Tangibles, Responsiveness, Empathy, which is also known as RATER model (Buttle, 1996, p.9).

- Reliability: the ability to perform the promised service dependably and accurately.
- Assurance: employee's knowledge and courtesy and their ability to inspire trust and confidence.
- Tangibles: appearance of physical facilities, equipment, personnel.
- Empathy: caring, customer understanding, easy to access, good communication and attention have been provided to customers.
- Responsiveness: the willingness to help customers and provide prompt service (Naik, Gantasala & Prabhakar, 2010).



Figure 1: Conceptual Model



2.6 Research hypothesis

ToanChet is a mobile banking app was developed and based in Phnom Penh, Cambodia. The study will test five hypotheses focusing on the service quality of a mobile banking app in the industry of mobile banking in Cambodia or ToanChet's app service quality dimensions on customer satisfaction will be measured.

- H1: Reliability has a positive impact on service quality of ACLEDA ToanChet.
- H2: Assurance has a positive impact on service quality of ACLEDA ToanChet.
- H3: Tangibles has a positive impact on service quality of ACLEDA ToanChet.
- H4: Empathy has a positive impact on service quality of ACLEDA ToanChet.
- H5: Responsiveness has a positive impact on service quality of ACLEDA ToanChet.

3. Methods

3.1 Research design

The study employed quantitative approach to examine customer satisfaction with the service quality of ACLEDA ToanChet. In other words, the quantitative method was used in this research study to answer the research question.

3.2 Sampling and sampling frame

The study applied convenience sampling because it might be impossible to get the list of ToanChet users due to the privacy of the bank data and the respondents to be selected were those who were near the researcher. The respondents were selected at ACLEDA Bank Plc, with the assistance of the bank staff, to identify the ToanChet users and sought the approval to participate in the study. Thus, convenience sampling is more suitable for this study and Cambodia current situation of COVID-19 pandemic. For the sample size, the numbers were calculated by the using the formula of Cochram (1977). There are two steps involved in the calculation such as calculating sample size for infinite population and adjusting sample size to the required population. The percentage of 4300 populations is 50, confidence level 92% and error is 0.08.

Step 1: sample size for Infinite Population calculation

S = [Z2 x P (1 – P)] / M2 S = (1.75) (1.75) x 0.5 x (1–0.5)0.08 x 0.08 = 119.62

Step 2: Adjust the sample size to the Required Population

Adj. S = S/ [1 + [(S - 1)/ N]] Adj. S = 119.621+119.62-14300 = 116.40

S is sample size; Z is the given confidence level of Z value; P is the percentage of population; M is the confidence interval or error; and N is the population. So, the sample size to be conducted is rounded up to 120.



3.3 Research tool

The questionnaire was selected for this study. The questionnaire is divided into three categories such as demographic profile, ACLEDA ToanChet and customer satisfaction. The respondents answered 32 questions about their expectation and perception toward ToanChet. In the last part of the question, customers could make suggestions to improve service quality. Customers could also suggest what they would like to do to improve the service quality and reached level of customer satisfaction (Gibson, 2009). The questionnaire was sent as the paper-based questionnaire and the main location to collect the data was located at ACLEDA Bank Head office based in Phnom Penh, Cambodia. The questionnaire was designed in both Khmer and English versions and sent out to the respondents who are the ToanChet users (Ndamnsa, 2013).

In preparation of the major study, the researcher chose a number of samples to pilot the questionnaire. In the pilot study, the validity and reliability of the questionnaire were checked as it is considered the main way to look through in the questionnaire (Srinivasan & Lohith, 2017). For the pilot sample size, Iddagoda (2017) suggested that it should be 10 to 20 in size, so before conducting the actual data collection, 20 pilot tests via E-Surveys were used to test the questionnaires. After the Cronbach's Alpha data analysis, the tool was proved reliable at 93.5%.

Reliability refers to the degree to which a test is consistent and stable in measuring what it is intended to measure. Cronbach's alpha is used to test the internal consistency of the research tool and Cronbarch's alpha reliability. Coefficient is considered a measure of scale reliability. The result of the test of Cronbarch's Alpha of each variable greater than 0.7 means that all constructed variables and factors are reliable for the research (Nunnally, 1994)

Validity refers to the degree to which the test actually measures what it claims to measure. Validity tells whether the test scores are measuring the right things for a particular use of the test. It is also the extent to which inferences, conclusions, and decisions made on the basis of test scores are appropriate and meaningful (Livingston, Carlson, Bridgeman, Golub-smith & Stone, 2018).

The validity test is acceptable only if the statements in the research tool are correlated and understandable to the respondents, while reliability test is used to test the research instrument consistency and the result could be considered reliable when the percentages are close to +1. The outcomes of the Pilot Cronbach's Alpha are in acceptable level in both tests. The result for validity test of the research instrument showed that the SERVQUAL dimensions in the questionnaire are significantly correlated with one another, which leads to the conclusion that the items are valid to use for the major study. Per the respondents' comments, the questions in the research tool are understandable.

3.4 Data analysis

The study used quantitative data analysis, which employed both descriptive statistics and inferential statistics (Khan, Khan, Khan, Yar & Khan, 2014). Results came from the perception score of each statement minus the expectation score of every statement in the questionnaire (Almomani, 2017). In order to find each dimension result, the calculation of



the mean score of the statements in each dimension in perception extract expectation. This method was applied to every dimension of SERVQUAL in the survey and the result of the score coming from the means of each dimension.

For the inferential statistics, ANOVA was used. In this analysis process, Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) was an essential tool to use as a medium in extracting the data, data transformation and analysis (Thomes, 2018). ANOVA table focuses on F test as well as paired sample T test correlation which were essential for this study because it showed the result of the correlation between independent variables and dependent variables ((Monther & Mahadevan, 2019, p.114s). Service quality and customer satisfaction were found associated with one another.

4. **Results and Discussions**

4.1 Demographic factors

The research shows that the female respondents are in the higher percentages than the males. There are only 39 males in the total of 120 people, while females are 81, accounting for 67.5%. The ages of the respondents range from 18 to over 55. The age of 26-35 is the highest among all ages, which results in 37.5% of the total responses. Those aged 45-55 and over 55 are the least. The result also shows that the occupations of those surveyed are business people, employees, teachers, students and households. 78.3% of respondents are employers/employees and $1\10$ of 120 people are business people.

		0 1	
	Category	Frequency	Percentage
Gender	Male	39	32.5%
	Female	81	67.5%
Age	18-25	36	30.0%
0	26-35	45	37.5%
	36-45	37	30.8%
	46-55	1	.8%
	Over 55	1	.8%
Occupation	Businessman/Woman	12	10.0%
-	Employer/Employee	94	78.3%
	Teacher	5	4.2%
	Student	6	5.0%
	Household	3	2.5%

Table 1: Demographic Factor

Correlation analysis describes the direction of the linear relationship; the values can appear differently as negative (-1) or positive (+1) to determine to statistical relationship, and the values can also occur in zero if there is no significant association within variables (Pallant & Manual, 2001). This table indicates the correlation result of the customer satisfaction, SERVQUAL and the dimensions. Notably, the values are significantly correlated. SERVQUAL dimension are significantly associated with the customer



	Table 2: Correlation							
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1.	Reliability	1						
2.	Assurance	.743**	1					
3.	Tangibles	.653**	.801**	1				
4.	Empathy	.638**	.618**	.688**	1			
5.	Responsiveness	.608**	.618**	.694**	.732**	1		
6.	Overall Satisfaction	.510**	.601**	.577**	.494**	.524**	1	
7.	SERVQUAL	.837**	$.870^{**}$	$.888^{**}$.859**	.856**	.627**	1

satisfaction as can be seen in Table 2. Moreover, SERVQUAL and the customer satisfaction are also correlated among the variables in a positive string.

4.2 Key findings

SERVQUAL assesses service quality by measuring the actual perception of the service to the expectation of the service. Hence, service quality = consumer's perception (P) – consumer's expectation (E). The gap between the perceived service and expected service shows the customer's satisfactory level, which means that high service quality leads to high satisfaction. For instance, positive score of SERVQUAL formula indicates customer satisfaction while negative score represents customer dissatisfaction (Almomani, 2017).

Table 3: Perceptions, Expectations and GAP Scores

Dimension	Perception	Expectation	GAP Score
Reliability	4.1027	4.0333	0.0694
The use of ToanChet is reliable.	4.35	4.05	0.3
ToanChet provides its service quickly.	4.2916	4.0083	0.2833
ToanChet is error free.	3.6666	4.0416	-0.375
Assurance	4.2625	4.05	0.2125
I feel secure while making transactions through			
ToanChet.	4.2333	4.0166	0.2166
ToanChet does not share my personal information			
with others.	4.2916	4.0833	0.2083
Tangibility	4.1291	4.075	0.0541
ToanChet technology is up to date.	4.2583	4.1333	0.125
There are a lot of supporting information and			
guidelines on how to use the app.	4	4.0166	-0.0166
Fmnathy	A 1666	1 0701	0 0875
Empany ToanChat is available all the time	4.1000	4.0771 1.0833	0.0016
Toanchet is available an une time.	4.175	4.0055	0.0910
Toanchet provides personal attention to customers.	4.1303	4.075	0.0035

(continued)



Dimension	Perception	Expectation	GAP Score
Responsiveness	4.0361	4.0333	0.0027
All ToanChet relevant transaction confirmation			
details are sent by SMS or email within 24 hours.	4.0916	4.0833	0.0083
I am always informed by the app when the services			
will be performed.	4.05	3.9666	0.0833
Response of service through mobile app is very quick			
and prompt.	3.9666	4.05	-0.0833
SERVQUAL score (Perception – Expectation)	4.1394	4.0541	0.0852

Table 3: Perceptions, Expectations and GAP Scores(continued)

i) Reliability

Two of the statements used to measure the service quality of reliability of reliability dimension are positive. The highest gap is "The use of ToanChet is reliable" ranking at +0.3. Overall, the mean score of reliability (0.0694) has a positive point, especially on the quickness and reliability of the app.

ii) Assurance

ToanChet is a mobile banking app that aims to inspire the trust of its users. Customers are satisfied with the assurance dimension and secureness in using the app. The highest score was 0.2166, which is the highest score for the statement mentioned that customer feel secure when using the bank transaction.

iii) Tangibility

ToanChet's service quality meets customer expectations as the gap score is positive (0.0541) Customers are not satisfied with the supporting documents/guidelines as well as on how to use the app (-0.0166) The bank needs to take an extra care on the lack point to improve for the future update.

iv) Empathy

The statement "ToanChet is available all the time." has a positive gap score (0.0916) in the empathy dimension. Customers totally agreed that ToanChet provides personal attention for them and enables them to use the app anywhere anytime rather than directly going to the bank. This means that they feel better than performing banking transactions physically at the bank.

v) Responsiveness

ToanChet's responsiveness is determined by the confirmation via SMS, performance information and speed of the response in the service. Customers are satisfied with all the dimension of the service quality but unsatisfied with the prompt service section.



vi) Customer satisfaction

ToanChet is a mobile banking app that allows users to transfer money between bank accounts. The survey showed that nearly 60% of the respondents choose "Satisfied", 32.5% extremely satisfied in using the app and 8.3% neither satisfied nor dissatisfied.

Cronbach Alpha

Cronbach Alpha is used to scale internally of the questions, and the result could range from zero to one (Pallant & Manual, 2001) As long as the value is 60/100, the data is considered acceptable (Bell, Bryman & Harley, 2018). The analysis indicates the Cronbach Alpha result of each dimension of SERVQUAL and all of the values demonstrate acceptable states in the tools as the result of each dimension exceeds 0.73.

Reliability

The reliability test of 120 samples contributing to ToanChet users are analyzed to explore the degree of consistency of the research tool. The result shows that there is a slight difference between the results of the pilot 20 samples compared to 120 answers; however, the outcomes are still in good terms within the range to what is called reliable percentages close to the perfect term (0.912).

Correlation Test

The results from the correlational analysis indicate that the correlations between the customer satisfaction and the dimensions are remarkably correlated. The correlation is significant because it builds a bridge to correlate between the variables in a positive string. In addition to the correlation, the measurements also build a bridge between the service provider and customer satisfaction. In the correlational analysis, all SERVQUAL dimensions are significantly correlated at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

✤ Hypotheses Testing

	Table 4: ANOVA					
	Model	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
	Regression	25.600	5	5.120	15.779	.000 ^b
1	Residual	36.991	114	.324		
	Total	62.592	119			

a. Dependent Variable: Overall Satisfaction

b. Predictors: (Constant), Responsiveness, Reliability, Tangibles, Empathy, Assurance

As can been seen in the ANOVA table 4, there is a strong connection between dependent and independent variables. The correlation shows the significant relationship of both variables at less than 0.01; thereby, the proposed hypotheses cannot be rejected.



Table 5: Hypothesis

Hypotheses	Sig.	Result
H1: Reliability has a positive impact on service quality of ACLEDA ToChet.	0.000**	Support
H2: Assurance has a positive impact on service quality of ACLEDA ToanChet.	0.000**	Support
H3: Tangibles has a positive impact on service quality of ACLEDA ToanChet.	0.000**	Support
H4: Empathy has a positive impact on service quality of ACLEDA ToanChet.	0.000**	Support
H5: Responsiveness has a positive impact on service quality of ACLEDA		
ToanChet.	0.000**	Support

4.2 Discussion

The study was conducted mainly to measure the service quality of ACLEDA's ToanChet in order to link with customer satisfaction by adopting a model called SERVQUAL. A total number of 120 people participated in the survey. The gap analysis of the perception and expectation score is the major way to calculate the result.

The result of the gap score measurement of the perception score with the expectation score shows that all dimensions such as reliability, assurance, tangibles, empathy and responsiveness are satisfactory to customers. The lowest gap score of the dimensions is responsiveness which is 0.0027 in the variance between perception and expectation. In the five dimensions, there are 12 questions to be asked in both perceptions and expectations.

Despite a few negative statements, ToanChet's overall performance remains at a satisfactory level. The positive feedback statements are a lot more than the negative statements. Customers feel secure while making the transactions due to the confidential customer data. ToanChet maintains a service standard in providing personal attention to customers; customers are also satisfied that all relevant transactions are sent to inform customers within 24 hours and always informed when app is ready to perform.

All the dimensions in SERVQUAL of this research are all in the satisfactory level and are significantly correlated with service quality and customer satisfaction. The result supports Asfour and Haddad (2014) which found there is a positive link between mobile banking service and customer satisfaction.

A study on service quality and customer satisfaction in Umea has found that customers are not satisfied with the service since the expectations are more than what have been provided (Ndamnsa, 2013). This was supported by another research on the assessment of service quality and customer satisfaction. However, Temba's findings were contradicted by this research, which has found customer is in the unsatisfactory level since the expectation scores are higher (Temba, 2013).

Customer satisfaction is accepted as the P-value is lower than the alpha, but responsiveness. There is a slight contradiction on the responsiveness as the hypothesis is rejected by some of the relationships between service quality. Alabboodi (2019) conducted a study on customer satisfaction effecting on service quality and has proven that assurance, tangibles, empathy, and reliability are accepted.



SERVQUAL is a valid measurement to measure the service quality and customer satisfaction of ToanChet. The overall service quality is satisfactory as most of the points are in an advantage level. However, it still needs some updates to seek the desired level of standard of service quality.

5. Conclusion and Recommendation

5.1 Conclusion

In order to meet customer expectations, service quality is the key to obtaining competitive advantage in this service delivered market as excellent services help to sustain customers' trust. Different effective strategies are being developed in order to meet the quality expectation, which leads to the rise in customer satisfaction and especially its relationship with customer to receive loyalty.

The main purpose of this study is to analyze customer satisfaction on ACLEDA ToanChet by adopting SERVQUAL Model. It is significant because there have not been any existing studies which investigate service quality and customer satisfaction in mobile banking in Cambodia so far. This study can serve as the starting point for other researchers who wish to further their studies.

All variables are strongly correlated and they are statistically significant, showing that there are connections among the variables. All proposed hypotheses have been accepted in this study. One of the most significant findings emerging is that all the variables are highly correlated with each other.

5.2 Implications for finance and banking

Bank policy makers can use the findings of this study to analyze the weaknesses and strengths for the future strategic plans and further updates on the app to close the negative gaps for reaching higher level of customer satisfaction. The study also contributes to service firms aiming to improve the quality standards to satisfy their existing and future customers. In other words, this study could be a great contribution for banking sector and its customers.

The SERVQUAL Model is based on the overall performance, which means different sectors can result differently because the numbers of the questions may be reduced. The new model or different dimension should be considered for application as it could lead to a reduction in the number of questions and the amount of time taken to answer them.

The service provider should consider investing in new technology because customers prefer using the app that operates smoothly without any errors or interruptions. The responses of the app need to be quick and prompt and it would be better if the confirmation SMS send to the app users faster than the current time spent because users do not want to wait for the SMS messages about the code or relevant transactions.

5.3 Limitations and future research

This thesis can be considered as the first research study conducting on service quality to customer satisfaction of ACLEDA Unity ToanChet user in Cambodia. The sample size of the research study is still small and scope of the study area is only in Phnom Penh City.



Further research is recommended to conduct with a larger sample size in order to obtain a more generalizable result to the population.

Research can be conducted on the service quality of mobile banking apps of the same bank or different banks to compare them with each other and see whether they are better or worse. The results can also be compared from year to year so that it could show whether the app has been improved by comparing the gap score in different years. Alternatively, the options can be a variety of mobile bank apps compared with one another.

Qualitative approach could be considered in future research to seek further insights into the issue. In other words, the researcher could interview to obtain the opinions of the banking industry expert and the manager's perspectives.

In the future study, SERVQUAL model is a similar tool to the SERVPERF model, but the difference is that it focuses only on the perception measure rather than comparing perception to expectation. It is advisable that another clone model be considered.



References

- Alabboodi, A. (2019). The effect of customer satisfaction on service quality: The case of Iraqi banks. International Journal of Applied Research, 5(1), 146-152.
- Almomani, Ghaith. (2018). Measuring Service Quality and Customers Satisfaction in the UK Mobile Telecommunications Market Using the SERVQUAL Instrument. 10.13140/RG.2.2.20846.10564, 25-26.
- AMIRI, A. S., & Faghani, F. (2012). Mobile banking service quality and customer satisfaction (application of SERVQUAL model), 352-355.
- Asfour, H. K., & Haddad, S. I. (2014). The impact of Mobile Banking on enhancing customers' E-satisfaction: An empirical study on commercial banks in Jordan. International Business Research, 7(10), 145.
- Bayraktar, C. A. (2020). Content Suggestion for Mobile Applications to Facilitate Student Life in Technical Universities: The ITU Mobile. In Engineering Education Trends in the Digital Era (pp. 242-266). IGI Global.
- Bell, E., Bryman, A., & Harley, B. (2018). Business research methods. Oxford university press.
- Buttle, F. (1996). SERVQUAL: review, critique, research agenda. European Journal of marketing, 9.
- Cengiz, E. (2010). Measuring customer satisfaction: must or not. Journal of Naval Science and Engineering, 6(2), 76-88.
- Chen, C. Y., Sok, P., & Sok, K. (2007). Benchmarking potential factors leading to education quality. Quality Assurance in Education.
- COCHRAM, W. (1977). Sampling Techniques. John Wiley and Sos. Inc. New York. USA.
- Cuevas, A., Febrero, M., & Fraiman, R. (2004). An anova test for functional data. Computational statistics & data analysis, 47(1), 111-122.
- Desiyanti, N. L., Sudja, I. N., & Martini, L. K. B. (2018). Effect of Service Quality on Customer Satisfaction, Customer Delight and Customer Loyalty (Study on LPD Desa Adat Sembung and LPD Desa Adat Seseh). International Journal of Contemporary Research and Review, 9(03), 20660-20668.
- Fogli, L. (2006). Customer Service Delivery. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 11.
- Gibson, C. (2009). Using SERVQUAL to assess the customer satisfaction level of the Oregon HIDTA ISC analytical unit. Hatfield School of Government Executive Master of Public Administration, 29.
- Hasegawa, A., Yasuoka, J., Ly, P., Nguon, C., & Jimba, M. (2013). Integrating child health services into malaria control services of village malaria workers in remote Cambodia: service utilization and knowledge of malaria management of caregivers. Malaria journal, 12(1), 292.



- Iddagoda, Anuradha. (2017). Re: Sample size for a pilot study?. Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/post/Sample_size_for_a_pilot_study/59c0c78d93553b86f 54a4fd5/citation/download.
- Kalidas, M. G. (2014). Financial services marketing a study on marketing practices of banks in Kerala on service quality dimensions, 84.
- Kayastha, S. (2011). Defining service and non-service exchanges. Service Science, 3(4), 313-324.
- Khadka, K., & Maharjan, S. (2017). Customer satisfaction and customer loyalty: Case trivsel städtjänster (trivsel siivouspalvelut).
- Khan, M. S., Khan, I., Khan, F., Yar, N. B., & Khan, A. A. (2014). Relationship between Service Quality and Customer Satisfaction: A study of internet banking. Industrial Engineering Letters, 4(4), 70-88.
- Lekhanya, L. M., & Dlamini, H. L. (2017). Customer's perception towards product quality of automotive SMEs operating in Metropolitan areas, and consideration of environmental impact. Environmental economics, (8, Iss. 1), 36-45.
- Livingston, S. A., Carlson, J., Bridgeman, B., Golub-smith, M., & Stone, E. (2018). Test reliability–Basic concepts. Research Memorandum No. RM-18-01). Princeton, NJ: Educational Testing Service, 8.
- Mmutle, T. (2017). Customers' perception of service quality and its impact on reputation in the hospitality industry, 2.
- Monther, Wessam & Mahadevan, Ananthalakshmi. (2019). The Impact of Service Quality on Customer Satisfaction: A Study of Arab restaurants in Malaysia, 114.
- Naik, C. K., Gantasala, S. B., & Prabhakar, G. V. (2010). Service quality (SERVQUAL) and its effect on customer satisfaction in retailing. European journal of social sciences, 16(2), 231-243.
- Ndamnsa, L. E. (2013). The SERVQUAL Measuring Instrument Applied in Assessing" Service Quality and customer Satisfaction" Case of Norrlands Universitets Sjukhuset-Umea, 15-18
- Nunnally, J. C. (1994). Psychometric theory 3E: Tata McGraw-hill education.
- Pallant, J., & Manual, S. S. (2001). Open University Press. Buckingham and Philadelphia.
- Prakash, A., & Mohanty, R. P. (2013). Understanding service quality. Production Planning & Control, 24(12), 1050-1065.
- Saleem, Z., & Rashid, K. (2011). Relationship between customer satisfaction and mobile banking adoption in Pakistan. International Journal of Trade, Economics and Finance, 2(6), 537.
- Sharma, G., & Malviya, S. (2011). Exploring the dimensions of mobile banking service quality. Review of Business and Technology research, 4(1), 187-196.



- Soeters, R., & Griffiths, F. (2003). Improving government health services through contract management: a case from Cambodia. Health policy and planning, 18(1), 74-83.
- Srinivasan R., Lohith C.P. (2017) Pilot Study—Assessment of Validity and Reliability. In: Strategic Marketing and Innovation for Indian MSMEs. India Studies in Business and Economics. Springer, Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-3590-6_6, 43-49.
- Sum, S., Champahom, T., Ratanavaraha, V., & Jomnonkwao, S. (2019). An Application of Importance-Performance Analysis (IPA) for Evaluating City Bus Service Quality in Cambodia. International Journal of Building, Urban, Interior and Landscape Technology (BUILT), 13, 55-66.
- Temba, M. (2013). The assessment of service quality and customer satisfaction using SERVQUAL Model: The Case Study of Tanzania Telecommunications Company Limited (TTCL) (Doctoral dissertation, The Open University of Tanzania).
- Thomes, J. (2018). What is SPSS and its importance in research & data analysis. Medium Coporation. Estados Unidos, 16, 12.
- Vutha, S. (2013, May). Service Quality in One Window Service Office (OWSO): Reflection from Takhmao Municipality, Cambodia. In 2013 International Conference on Public Management (ICPM-2013). Atlantis Press, 241.
- Yasuoka, J., Poudel, K. C., Ly, P., Nguon, C., Socheat, D., & Jimba, M. (2012). Scale-up of community-based malaria control can be achieved without degrading community health workers' service quality: The Village Malaria Worker project in Cambodia. Malaria journal, 11(1), 4.
- Zhang, Q., Vonderembse, M. A., & Lim, J. S. (2003). Manufacturing flexibility: defining and analyzing relationships among competence, capability, and customer satisfaction. Journal of Operations Management, 21(2), 173-191.



Consumers' Attitudes Towards the Intention to Adopt Mobile Payment System: A Study on Bakong App of National Bank of Cambodia

Putheary Phan¹, Sovannary Long², Laychamnan Meas³ & Vanda Vong⁴

Corresponding Author. Email: puthearyphan@gmail.com 1, 2, 3 & 4. ACLEDA Institute of Business

ABSTRACT

Mobile payment has become popular among urban Cambodians. However, it is hard to understand the behavioural intention to adopt mobile payment system owing to a lack of studies focusing on the context of Cambodians' behaviour and preferences in adopting innovations. This study aims to identify factors affecting Cambodian users' attitude and intention in using Bakong, an inter-bank mobile payment app developed by the National Bank of Cambodia, by using the Technological Acceptance Model (TAM). The results illustrate a full support for the positive influence on intention to use mobile payment technology from perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, attitude, perceived compatibility, and self-efficacy. Perceived trust has a slight concern to influence the Intention to adopt the mobile payment technology, and subjective norm has not fully supported from the Bakong's users at all. The findings from this study bring out some recommendations for future researchers as well as mobile payment developers.

Keywords: Bakong, Consumer Attitude, Mobile Payment, TAM, Intention



1 Introduction

1.1 Background of study

Fintech is a new financial industry that applies technology to improve activities related to finance (Schueffel et al., 2017). Amer et al. (2015) depicts the development of Fintech as a progressing handle "during which finance and technology have evolved together." It leads to numerous incremental and disruptive innovations, such as internet banking, mobile payments, crowdfunding, peer-to-peer lending, Robo-Advisory, online identification, etc. Chishti & Barberis (2016) displays how the marriage between finance and technology has led to innovation within the financial services sector, through start-up firms (e.g., eToro), at incumbent companies (e.g., Citi), at the government level (e.g., Israel), or through supraorganizations (e.g., Quick). In each of these cases, Fintech has significantly impelled advancement (Schueffel, 2017).

The combination of social and economic factors has brought an energetic and rapidly evolving blockchain ecosystem in Asia (Wang et al., 2019). While four nations have become fast-growing blockchain hubs in Asia, namely China, Japan, Singapore, and South Korea, Cambodia has been running blockchain ventures. In the last few years, Cambodians are sure to have seen the news from at least one of the several blockchain projects under way in the Kingdom such as the National Bank of Cambodia, Entapay, K-Coin, Lockcoin, KH Coin, Serey Coin, etc. According to The World Economic Forum, there are almost 200,000 participants who use Bakong mobile system (Weforum.Org, n.d., 2021).

1.2 Research problem

According to (Seng & Lay 2018), the results from the FinScope Consumer Survey Kingdom of Cambodia conducted in 2015 show that mobile money services are used by 36% (3.6 million) of the population, but little is known about the behavioural intention of the Bakong app. As Cambodia takes the step to adopt blockchain for the first time, Bakong is still new for every Cambodian.

Therefore, we have to study further about the Bakong System, especially the factors that enable users to adopt this platform. There is also a previous study on Bakong that concentrates on Bakong Payment System's influence to fund transfer service in ACLEDA Bank Plc. Using a qualitative approach. To add to existing understanding, our research will focus on consumers' attitude towards the intention to adopt Bakong using a quantitative approach.

1.3 Research objectives

This research aims to determine users' attitude and intention towards using Bakong mobile payment among Cambodian users. It is also aimed at identifying influential factors that enable the adoption of mobile payment.

1.4 Research question

This study aims to answer the following research question: What factors influence consumers' attitude and intention to adopt the Bakong app?



1.5 Significance of the study

This study benefits various stakeholders in the financial industry, including mobile payment developers, financial institutions, banks and public policy makers. Thus, mobile payment developers could use the insights to improve their mobile payment platform to serve the customers better and as well as gain more users. Therefore, this study will provide some recommendations to these stakeholders to improve their mobile banking app or mobile payment app.

2 Literature Review

2.1 Overview of Bakong system

Bakong is designed as a new platform that uses Distributed Ledger Technology (DLT) to enhance the efficiency (cost, speed, and security) of payment system (Bakong et al., 2020). The implementation of Bakong would connect all financial institutions and payment service providers under a single payment platform. It will allow for fund transfers to proceed on a real-time basis without the need for a centralized clearinghouse. Institutions that are current participants of the Fast and Secure Transfers (FAST) payment system would be able to interface directly with Bakong without making changes to their existing infrastructure.

The National Bank of Cambodia (NBC) firstly began exploring and developing Bakong in June 2018 and launched it in October 2020. Bakong is a new mobile payment service that enables easy fund transfer by combining e-wallets, mobile payments, online banking, and financial applications within one easy-to-use interface for any preferred bank account. Bakong provides fund transfers for 25 partners in Cambodia. They include commercial banks, specialized banks, microfinance institutions, and digital wallets. To be on board with the system, the participating banks and institutions need to register with NBC to obtain permission to join the network. After successful registration, they will access the Payment Gateway, so their customers can create accounts under their domain. The Payment Gateway also helps financial institutions. There is no limit to the number of funds transferred per day when using Bakong System.

2.2 Theoretical framework of TAM

Davis (1989) developed the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) on the basis of the Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA) and the Theory of Planned Behaviour (TPB) by Ajzenand and Fishbein (1980) and Ajzen (1991), respectively. TAM suggests perceived usefulness (PU) and perceived ease of use (PEOU) are the main motoring sources by an individual to establish the attitude towards the adoption of specific innovations as well as display the intention of new technology adoption (Davis, 1989).

For technology acceptance fields, the intention has been well studied, including in mobile services (Wang & Li et al., 2012), mobile credit card (Leong et al., 2013; Liébana-Cabanillas et al., 2017), mobile tickets (Suki et al., 2017), mobile banking and wireless of mobile (Kim &, 2009). TAM usually needs to either expand or extend its scope through addition of new



related variables to capture the characteristics of the new technology in question (Venkatesh & Davis, 2000). TAM is a popularly used and empirically proven framework that examines technology acceptance in the field of information technology.

In spite of the fact that TAM has been through several revisions (Lee et al., 2003), it stands as a solid, impactful, and meticulous model for investigating the acceptance behaviour (Davis, 1989; Wu et al., 2011). Keramati (2012), for example, uses TAM to demonstrate service adoption in relation to mobile payment using technological and behavioural factors of mobile payment service. Some variables that were studied, including perceived ease of use (PEOU), perceived usefulness (PU), trust, compatibility, payment habit, norm, cost, convenience, and mobile payment knowledge, are fit to the criteria and research type of mobile payment adoption according to the previous studies (de Luna et al., 2019). Even though PU and relative advantages of the technological perceptions have an effect on mobile payment, trust also has a strong influence on user behaviour of mobile payment (Gao & Waechter et al., 2017). To discover the adoption of mobile payment in Singapore to be an amazing anticipator of behavioural intention (Chandra et al., 2010) extended trust with TAM. Shin (2010) also extended TAM discovering the mobile payment adoption in the US using perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, trust, and perceived risk affect users' adoption of payment technology. Yan & Yang (2015) presented the positive impact on the user's intention to adopt the technology using trust with TAM in China.

Singh et al. (2020) studied consumer acceptance of three main mobile payment systems including SMS, NFC and QR code. The study identified subjective norms as the most essential variable influencing intention. Many previous studies also demonstrated that subjective norm is statistically correlated with individuals' behavioural intention to use m-payment (Jaradat & Faqih et al., 2014; Schierz et al., 2010; Faqih & Jaradat et al., 2015), and the perceptions of ease of use are determined by self-efficacy and perceptions of external control as well as the perceptions of usefulness by image and output quality. According to (Kim, 2015), self-efficacy has an impact on intention to use payment-type Fintech services.



Figure 1: Technology Acceptance Model (Davis, 1989).



2.3 Conceptual framework

Davis (1989) defines perceived usefulness (PU) as the degree to which a person believes that using a particular system would enhance his or her performance. It is one of the two main elements in the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM). Within the context of the mobile payments, PU is conducted as the scope to which other people anticipate that a mobile payment system can extensively enlarge the capacity of performance in transactions (Su, Wang, & Yan., 2018). Customers indicate new payment solutions as a benefit if these systems make their lives easier and this construct incorporates the performance (Davis, 1989; Moore & Benbasat et al., 1991). Shin and Shin (2011) illustrated a positive relationship between PU and user attitude in the context of social network games. The extensive research has provided evidence on the significant effect of PU on attitude towards usage (Muñoz, Hernández-Méndez, & Sánchez-Fernández et al., 2012).

The perceived ease of use (PEOU) is another construct of TAM that refers to the individual's perception that using a particular system is effortless or easy to do (Davis et al., 1989). If a system is perceived as easy to use, it also provides more usefulness to its users (Davis et al., 1992). Ease of use impacted users' attitude towards that system and their use intention (Gefen, Karahanna, & Straub, 2003; Teo, Lim, & Lai, 1999). PEOU is also constructed and approved by various researchers in the mobile services context (Liébana-Cabanillas et al., 2014; Phonthanikit Thaworn et al., 2015; Wang, Wang, Lin, & Tang, 2003; and Nysveen et al., 2005).

Trust plays a major role in inclining the usability of mobile payment. Mayer (1995) described "trust" as the belief of the trustor that the trustee will fulfill the trustor's expectations without taking advantage of the trustor's vulnerabilities. Jarvenpaa & Leidner (1999) have shown the positive effect of trust on consumer purchase intentions. Gefen (2000) highlighted the importance of trust in the user acceptance of Internet related technologies. According to Yan and Pan (2014), has implied that trust in online payment stands as a key initial trust towards mobile payment and when the user's experience with mobile payment is doubtful, they will depend on online payment. Mu & Lee (2017) stated that the user's intention is driven by their trust on their third-party mobile payment that they have studied on Alipay and WeChat apps environment. Perceived trust is expected to have a direct effect on behavioural intentions. Hence, we expected trust to be another variable in online payments for influencing beliefs in mobile payment adoption.

According to Roger (1962), perceived compatibility is defined as an extent to which innovation suits consumer's experiences or activities. Compatibility is defined as the degree to which mobile payment is reconcilable with existing values, behavioural patterns, and experience (Gerhardt et al., 2010). Tornatzky & Klein (1982) found that the perceived compatibility of an individual is a crucial feature leading to the acceptance of a new or particular technological innovation. There is an indication to believe that perceived compatibility has a direct influence towards intention to adopt an innovation (Mallat et al., 2006; Cooper & Zmuetd, 1990).

Subjective norm is defined as an individual's perception that most people who are important to him or her think he or she should or should not perform the behaviour in



question (Ajzen & Fishbein, 1975). In the context of mobile payment, the subjective norm is the degree to which a social environment perceives mobile payment as desirable (Schierz et al., 2010). The importance of the subjective norm in regard to the attitude towards usage has previously been established in the context of mobile internet applications (Nysveen et al., 2005). Some studies conducted in different social settings have reported that subjective norm has some empirical positive influence on behavioural intention (Eze et al., 2011; Sadi & Noordin, 2011; Linck et al., 2006; Shin, 2007; Lu et al., 2008; Gu et al., 2009). Moreover, plenty of authors have identified a direct and positive link between subjective norms and the intention to use (Jin et al., 2012; Li & Zhang, 2012; Yang et al., 2012; Yongmeng, 2013; Li et al., 2014; Jaradat & Faqih, 2014).

Self-efficacy alludes to the degree to which an individual believes that he or she has the capacity to perform a particular task/job using mobile (Venkatesh & Bala, 2008). Khraim (2011) inspected mobile banking services in Jordan concluded that self-efficacy was an important variable in their adoption. The perspective of self-efficacy with respect to consumers' mobile and online purchasing behaviour has emerged as a major determinant in biometric technology adoption and acceptance. The moderating role of self-efficacy on the adoption processes of distinctive IT domains has been inadequately addressed and few insights are accessible on how consumer's perceived self-efficacy moderates key connections of adoption theories of behaviour (Jaradat & Faqih et al., 2014). This clearly showed that perceived self-efficacy among the people played a very critical role in setting perception about ease of use of the technology and service that is being offered.



Figure 2: Conceptual Framework

All in all, this model was established to figure out the factors affecting consumers' attitude and intention to adopt and utilize existing mobile applications for online payment by combining TAM model (perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use) and external variables (perceived compatibility, trust, subjective norms and self-efficacy) that have a positive influence on the intention to adapt with mobile payment technology.



2.4. Operational variables

Consumer attitude refers to the initial act of purchasing a certain product or service (Ajzen, 2015). Mobile payment is defined as a special form of electronic handling of payments. Regarding the function of mobile payments, all definitions refer to the transfer of monetary value (Gerhardt et al., 2010).

Intention refers to plans act to in a particular way and represent the motivation toward the behaviour (Keat, 2009). The technology acceptance model (TAM) is an information systems theory that models how users come to accept and use a technology (Encyclopedia. (n.d).)

2.5 Summary of research hypotheses

This study has set up following hypotheses to investigate influential factors that enable the adoption of consumers in using mobile payment.

- H1: Perceived usefulness has a positive and significant impact on his/her attitude towards an intention to adopt Bakong Mobile Application.
- H2: Perceived ease of use has a positive and significant impact on his/her attitude toward an intention to adopt Bakong Mobile Application.
- H3: Consumer's rust has a positive and significant impact on his/her intention to adopt a mobile payment system.
- H4: Perceived compatibility has a positive and significant impact on his/her intention to adopt a mobile payment system.
- H5: Subjective norm has a positive and significant impact on the intention towards using mobile payment services.
- H6: Self-efficacy has a positive and significant impact on the intention towards using mobile payment services.
- H7: Attitude has a positive and significant impact on his/her intention to use a mobile payment system.

3. Research Methodology

3.1 Research design

This research employed a quantitative approach (Cooper & Schindler et al., 2007) to determine the factors influencing consumer attitude towards Bakong app. After reviewing existing studies, there are not many scientific papers focusing on mobile payment adoption using an extended TAM model. This paper focused on consumer's adoption of the mobile payment system by testing the hypotheses using an extended TAM model. The study focused on a group of individuals who have mobile devices, internet connections, and mobile payment users in the age of 18 to 40 years old, which does not necessarily suggest that the participants have adopted the services.



3.2 Sampling site and frame

The intended population for this study is working professionals, employees, business owners, students, and anybody who is familiar with mobile payments apps, between the age of 18 and 40. We intended to gather solid information initially from the point of view of all Cambodians living or working in Phnom Penh only.

3.2.1 Research area

This study was conducted in Phnom Penh, focusing on customers' attitudes towards the intention to use the Bakong mobile system. The study selected the users who utilize the existing Bakong mobile system.

3.2.2 Determine the sample size

The sample size was determined by to the formula $n = (z^2 p(1-p))/e^2$, specifically established by Cochran (1963) for infinite population size. Z is desired confidential level with Z (95%) = 1.96; P is estimate proportion with 50% = 0.5; e is desired level of precision with e = 5% = 0.05; and n is desired population. Assuming that the "e" margin error is set at 5%, we have 385. As a result, the numer of target respondents chosen for the study is 385.

3.2.3 Sampling procedure

The researcher employed only probability sampling design that is the random sampling technique. The method would increase a sample's statistical efficiency, adequate data for analysis and enable different research methods and procedures.

3.3 Research tools and instruments

The researchers collected the data from respondents through an online survey using Google Form. Google form can generate and clarify the data which displayed clear results from desired samples.

Item	References
 PU1: Using Bakong App would improve my fund transfer performance across participating banks in one platform. PU2: Using Bakong App would enhance my effectiveness in fund transfer performance across participating banks in one platform PU3: Using Bakong App would allow me to transfer money across participating banks in one platform more quickly. PU4: Overall, Bakong App provides a useful mode of 	Bhattacherjee, 2001, Daştan and Gürler, 2016 Davis, 1989 Schierz, Schilke and Wirtz, 2010
transferring money.PEOU1: I think learning to use Bakong App is easy.PEOU2: Interaction with the tools in Bakong App is flexible.PEOU3: Interaction with the tools in Bakong App is clear and understandable.PEOU4: Overall, it is easy to interact with Bakong App.	Daştan & Gürler 2016 Davis, 1989, Schierz, Schilke and Wirtz, 2010
	ItemPU1: Using Bakong App would improve my fund transfer performance across participating banks in one platform.PU2: Using Bakong App would enhance my effectiveness in fund transfer performance across participating banks in one platformPU3: Using Bakong App would allow me to transfer money across participating banks in one platform more quickly.PU4: Overall, Bakong App provides a useful mode of transferring money.PEOU1: I think learning to use Bakong App is easy.PEOU2: Interaction with the tools in Bakong App is clear and understandable.PEOU4: Overall, it is easy to interact with Bakong App.

Table 1: Summary of construct measurements



Construct	Item	References	
Deres 1	PC1: Using mobile transfers and/or payment services of	Moore and	
Compatibility	Bakong App fits well with my lifestyle.	Benbasat (1991)	
(PC)	PC2: Using mobile transfers and/or payment services of	Plouffe et al.	
$(\mathbf{r} \mathbf{c})$	Bakong App fits well with my habit.	(2001)	
	PC3: Using mobile transfers and/or payment services of		
	Bakong App fits well with the way I like to work.		
Sach in a time	SN1: People who are important to me recommend using the	Taylor and Todd	
Norm	Bakong mobile payment system.	(1995), Venkatesh	
(SN)	SN2: People who are important to me view the Bakong mobile	and Davis (2000),	
(21.)	payment system as beneficial.	Schierz et al.	
	SN3: People who are important to me think it is a good idea to	(2010)	
	use Bakong mobile payment systems.		
	SE1: I think that I can use Bakong App system even if there	Venkatesh and	
Self-Efficacy	was no one around to tell me what to do as I go.	Bala (2008)	
(SE)	SE2: I could use Bakong App application if I had just the built-		
	in help facility for assistance.		
	SE3: I could use Bakong App application if someone showed		
	me how to do it first.		
	ATT1: Using mobile transfers and/or payment services of	Venkatesh and	
Attitude	Bakong App is a good idea.	Bala (2008)	
(ATT)	ATT2: Using mobile transfers and/or payment services of		
	Bakong App is beneficial.		
	ATT3: Using mobile transfers and/or payment services of		
	ATTA: Using mobile transfers and/or payment services of		
	Bakong App is interesting.		
Intention	IT1: Lintend to use Bakong App in making fund transfers.	Davis (1989)	
(IT)	IT?: Lintend to use Bakong App in maxing time transferred	Chen, C. C., &	
	whenever I use.	Tsai, J. L. (2019)	
	IT3: I will increase the frequency of using Bakong App.	Venkatesh and	
	IT4: I will strongly recommend others to use Bakong App.	Davis (2000)	

Table 1: Summary of construct measurements(continued)

3.4 Data collection

As the study used quantitative data analysis, the researchers collected the responses from the targeted samples, including the people who are currently using the Bakong app. However, due to the covid-19 pandemic and the need to practice social distancing, our data collection is conducted through an online survey (Google Form). The survey was shared with people in researchers' networks, such as employees in the institution, students, and lecturers, as well as through the social media channels and opened for the public in which anyone can access the link. In addition, we also requested ACLEDA Bank, with assistance from the school to help sharing the online survey to their employees at ACLEDA Bank Plc



Headquarters to voluntarily participate in the survey. As of the closing date for the survey, there were 196 respondents participated in the survey.

3.5 Data analysis

In the data analysis, we used descriptive statistics and focused on finding the frequencies and means. After all essential information was collected, it was subjected to analysis based on respondents' answers. Firstly, the information collected from the survey to gather the responses upon desired sample sizes will be put into the category or table of Excel sheets. The data in each category will be calculated using formulas of frequency, mean, and percentile. For a better interpretation of data in each category, the analysis was conducted as pie charts displaying the numbers and the percentage of each collected element.

3.6 Result of the instrument test for reliability

Cronbarch's Alpha measures internal consistency between items in scale (Blagoeva & Mijoska et al., 2017) and the extent that research with multiple-construct measurements is considerately a routine (Schmitt et al., 1996). Nunnally (1994) asserts that the Cronbach's Alpha, which values more than 0.7 indicates a high reliability.

No	Item	Pilot Cronbach Alpha (n=20)	Pilot Cronbach Alpha (n=196)
1	PU	0.949	0.945
2	PEOU	0.930	0.920
3	PT	0.936	0.923
4	PC	0.923	0.933
5	SN	0.706	0.873
6	SE	0.846	0.770
7	ATT	0.905	0.945
8	IT	0.845	0.895

Table 2: Reliability	Test of Cronbach'	's Alpha on	Each Variable
----------------------	-------------------	-------------	---------------

According to the Table 2, the Cronbach alpha of all constructs scored more than 0.7 for both pilot test (n=20) and the actual results (n=196). Therefore, the constructs are good to be used and reliable. The combination of all variables statistically exceeds 0.9 which is considered a high reliability.

4. **Results of Discussion**

4.1 Demographic factor

58.67% of the sample was female, 49.21% male, and 0.51% others. In addition, the age gaps presented that the respondents' age between 16 to 26 years old has got the highest response at 49.49%, followed by the 32.65% of the age between 27 to 37 years old, 16.84% on the age between 38 to 48 years old and 1.02% on more than 48 years old respectively. For educational background, the result showcased that approximately 2.55% was high school students, 33.16% of respondents were undergraduate level, followed by 51.53% of graduate degree, while the 10.71% are with MBA degree, and the rest 1.92% is PhD graduate, respectively. Last but not least, the employment status has illustrated that the majority of



respondents were employees accumulated to 65.82%, while 9.69% of them were government officers. Whereas, the business owners were 5.61% and 14.80% were currently unemployed, and 4.08% respectively.

Table 3: Survey Demographics					
Item	Categories (N = 196)	Frequency	Percentage		
	Female	115	58.67%		
Sex	Male	80	40.82%		
	Other	1	0.51%		
	16 to 26 years old	97	49.49%		
	27 to 37 years old	64	32.65%		
Ages	38 to 48 years old	33	16.84%		
	More than 48 years old	2	1.02%		
	High school student	5	2.55%		
	Undergraduate	65	33.16%		
	Graduate	101	51.53%		
Education	MBA	21	10.71%		
	PhD	2	1.02%		
	Others	2	1.02%		
	Employee	129	65.82%		
	Government officer	19	9.69%		
Employment	Business owner	11	5.61%		
	Currently unemployed	29	14.80%		
	Others	8	4.08%		

4.2 Presentation of key findings

4.2.1 Analysis of level of agreement

The research used the 7-point rating scale, the mean of each variable explained the effective level of each factor from the respondents. The result showed that all of the variables were stated in "Agree" level based on the reference to the ranges of 7-point scale (Armstrong, 1987).

Table 4: Level of Agreement						
No	Variables	Min	Max	Mean	SD	Level of Agreement
1	PU	1.00	7.00	5.84	1.131	Agree
2	PEOU	1.00	7.00	5.43	1.139	Agree
3	PT	1.00	7.00	5.52	1.119	Agree
4	PC	1.00	7.00	5.38	1.170	Agree
5	SN	1.00	7.00	5.31	1.198	Agree
6	SE	2.25	7.00	5.41	1.022	Agree
7	ATT	1.00	7.00	5.71	1.104	Agree
8	IT	1.00	7.00	5.43	1.142	Agree

*Note: Neutral: 3.58-4.42, Somewhat Agree: 4.43-5.28, Agree: 5.29-6.14, Strongly Agree: 6.15-7.00 Source: Author's calculation



4.2.2 Correlation analysis, validity & reliability test

The correlation level and validity between all constructs of this research were tested. The researchers brought 8 constructs into testing. According to (Pearson, 1926), the correlation's values range from -1 to +1 and were calculated to explore the strength between variables. That means the closer the number in each variable reaches nearly +1, the stronger correlations are, which means the more positive the relationship between two variables is (Pearson, 1926).

	PU	PEOU	PT	PC	SN	SE	ATT	IT
PU	1							
PEOU	0.770^{**}	1						
PT	0.706^{**}	0.769^{**}	1					
PC	0.727^{**}	0.737**	0.805^{**}	1				
SN	0.648**	0.689**	0.668^{**}	0.748^{**}	1			
SE	0.662^{**}	0.628^{**}	0.592^{**}	0.632**	0.701^{**}	1		
ATT	0.811**	0.729^{**}	0.672^{**}	0.759^{**}	0.684^{**}	0.728^{**}	1	
IT	0.722^{**}	0.692^{**}	0.623**	0.722^{**}	0.674^{**}	0.707^{**}	0.812^{**}	1

Table 5: Result of Pearson Correlation Matrix

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

4.2.3 Significance test of model fitness

Source: Author's calculation

Table 5 illustrates that all the variables are significantly correlated at the significant level of 0.01 (2-tailed). The results also showed the favourable and positive correlations between variables with the lowest of 0.592 of perceived trust towards subjective norms and highest of 0.812 of attitude with intention.

	Table 6: Result of ANOVA of Model Fitness							
Model		Sum of Squares	Df	Mean Square	F	Sig.		
	Regression	181.506	7	25.929	67.115	.000		
1	Residual	72.632	188	.386				
_	Total	254.138	195					

Table 6: Result of ANOVA of Model Fitne

Source: Author's calculation

Concurring to the table above, the TAM model proposed in this study was statistically effective in examining intention to adopt mobile payment. It was apparent with a significance value of 0.000, which is smaller than 0.05.

4.2.3.1 First block of regression analysis

In table 7, perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use were run as independent variables while the attitude was the dependent variable. Consequently, hypothesis 1 (H1) outlined the significance level of perceived usefulness at 1%, the Beta of it accumulated to 0.612 ($\beta = 0.612$), which implies that when perceived usefulness goes by 1 standard deviation, it will appear the direct impact around 0.60 towards attitude which is considered to be moderate. Moreover, hypothesis 2 (H2): perceived ease of use (PEOU) is significant at 1%, and has $\beta = 0.258$, which demonstrated that when perceived ease of use remains at 1



standard deviation, it will slowly increase on the attitude at approximately 0.3. Thus, H2 was not supported.

		Ũ				
		Unstand	lardized	Standardized		
		Coefficients		Coefficients		
Mod	lel	В	Std.Error	Beta	t	Sig.
1	(Constant)	.871	.241		3.612	.000
	PU	.597	.062	.612	9.654	.000
	PEOU	.250	.061	.258	4.063	.000

Table 7: Regression of PU and PEOU towards Attitude

Dependent Variable: Attitude, PU: Perceived Usefulness, PEOU: Perceived Ease of Use, Source: Author's calculation

4.2.3.2 Second block of regression analysis

As for Table 8, perceived trust, perceived compatibility, subjective norm, self-efficacy, and attitude stood as independent variables to run for intention to use as a dependent variable. The result showcased the significance level of perceived compatibility, self-efficacy, and attitude as they were. For perceived trust, it demonstrated the $\beta = -.026$, which implies that trust does not affect the intention to use the technology. The table measurably showed the positive impact of perceived compatibility towards intention to use Bakong App with the significance level of $.021^{**}$ and was a potential factor within the variables with the standard $\beta = .189$. The result suggests that subjective norm is not the main reason for Bakong's users' intention to use. Moreover, self-efficacy has a positive impact on intention to use the Bakong app with the significance level of $.003^{**}$ and was another potential factor within the variable with the variable with the standard $\beta = .187$. From the results, perceived compatibility, self-efficacy, and attitude were completely significant, but perceived trust and subjective norm are not fully supported.

Model		Unstan Coeff	dardized icients	Standardized Coefficients	t	Sig.
		В	Std. Error	Beta		
1	(Constant)	.129	.265		.486	.627
	PT	027	.069	026	388	.699
	PC	.184	.079	.189	2.333	.021
	SN	.077	.063	.081	1.222	.223
	SE	.209	.070	.187	2.977	.003
	ATT	.512	.072	.495	7.125	.000

Table 8: Regression of PT, PC, SN, SE, and ATT towards Intention to use Bakong app

Dependent Variable: Intention to use, Source: Author's calculation

4.2.4. Discussions

Table 9 exhibits the summary results from the tested hypotheses with the regression analysis.



Table 9: Hypotheses Result					
Hypotheses	Sig	Result			
H1: Perceived Usefulness has positive and significant impact on his/her					
attitudes towards an intention to adopt Bakong Mobile Application.	.000	Supported			
H2: Perceived Ease of Use has positive and significant impact on					
his/her attitudes toward an intention to adopt Bakong Mobile	.000	Supported			
Application.					
H3: Consumer's Trust has positive and significant impact on his/her					
intention to adopt a mobile payment system.	.699	Unsupported			
H4: Perceived Compatibility has positive and significant impact on					
his/her intention to adopt a mobile payment system.	.021	Supported			
H5: Subjective norm has positive and significant impact on the intention					
towards using mobile payment services.	.223	Unsupported			
H6: Self-efficacy has positive and significant impact on the intention					
towards using mobile payment services.	.003	Supported			
H7: Attitude has positive and significant impact on his/her intention to	.000	Supported			
use a mobile payment system.					

The study found that both perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use had a positive impact on attitude towards the intention to use Bakong app. Simultaneously, the study aligns with the existing research on online shopping payment (Ramayah & Ignatius, 2005); electronic banking (Jahangir & Begum, 2008); and mobile payment services (Schierz et al., 2010). The result infers that Bakong app users perceived the system as practically useful in terms of making payments. The outcome also implies that the app was convenient for the customers to use with the simplicity and understand ability of the app performance. Nevertheless, when integrating trust (H3) into the model, the result on this hypothesis showed that trust did not support the intention to adopt the technology (t = -.388, Sig. $\le .699$) due to existing doubts about using the app based on the majority of the sample. However, the result was in contrast with previous findings by Wong and Mo (2019) that perceived trust has a positive impact on consumer consumers. Likewise, the result also aligns with many existing studies on mobile payment of (Mu & Lee, 2017); (Y. Lu et al., 2011); and mobile banking (Gu et al., 2009), which showed a genuinely positive influence of trust on users' intentions to adopt a particular mobile payment system. On the other hand, perceived compatibility (H4) is proven to be a significant factor that influences the consumers' intention to use the Bakong system. This finding is also supported by past studies such as the studied of mobile service in Vietnam (Liu & Tai, 2016), mobile payment services (Schierz et al., 2010), and mobile service in Thailand (Phonthanukitithaworn et al., 2016). This result implies the use of Bakong app is compatible with users' daily lifestyle, working, and preferences in monitoring their fund transfers. However, when subjective norm is integrated into the model (H5), it is discovered to have a less influence to the users' intention to use the technology. The finding interprets that there is still doubt from most of sample respondents with subjective norm in supporting the intention to use the Bakong app.



Nevertheless, the result is contrary to existing studies such as the studies of factors influencing teachers' intention to use technology (Teo, 2011), the citizen's intention to use e-government services (Gultom, 2020), the behavioural intention to use services of banking system (Algasa et al., 2014), and acceptance of mobile payment in restaurant industry (Cobanoglu et al., 2015). Their research findings suggest that users are influenced by their peers in their decision regarding the intention to adopt a technology. Furthermore, the result showcased that self-efficacy (H6) had a significant impact on the consumers' intention to use the technology system. In other words, the users are more likely to adopt the mobile payment system if they believe and are confident in their skills, knowledge, and ability to perform the platform independently. The result is consistent with the results from previous studies that focus on self-efficacy in the context of mobile payment adoption, such as (Kim et al., 2016), (Jaradat & Faqih, 2014). Last but not least, the essential finding that defined mobile payment adoption was attitude towards intention to use the technology. There is a crucial support for the significance of consumers' attitude on the intention to adopt the mobile payment, resulting in (t = 7.125, Sig. \leq .000) and supporting H7 pointing out that consumer's attitude has a positive influence on intention to use a mobile payment system. Furthermore, it positively influenced the intention to use mobile payment, which was consistent with Schierz et al. (2010). This outcome reveals that after Cambodian users experienced a mobile payment system, they found it was personally desirable, beneficial, interesting, and modern.

5. Conclusion and Recommendations

This research study adopted the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) with an extension of four variables, including perceived compatibility, trust, subjective norms, and self-efficacy. The result of the research presented that the TAM model was highly significant when adding two more variables including perceived compatibility and self-efficacy. This finding suggests that perceived compatibility and self-efficacy should be added to TAM in a similar study field. However, the outcome finding showed that trust and subjective norm were insignificant when added into TAM. Therefore, trust and subjective norms should not be integrated into the TAM, since it was unsupported when these two variables were integrated into the model.

The study also provides some essential recommendations for practice. Firstly, according to the outcome, most respondents use the Bakong app only once per month, and most are young adults from strong educational background. Thus, it indicates that the Bakong system has less frequent usage, and there are not many people utilizing it yet. Therefore, we highly suggest the builder or developer of the Bakong system consider running more advertising and marketing campaigns to attract more users. Secondly, the research finding stated that perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, perceived compatibility, and self-efficacy have a positive and significant influence on attitude and intention to adopt mobile payment. This result might assist the marketers in promoting mobile payment adoption and developers to make a proper decision on establishing data by concentrating on increasing the usability and improving the functionality to respond to the



needs of loyal users or new users. Likewise, as it is highly challenging for developers to design systems that offer a mobile environment with highly usable features since mobile technology has limitations in features, designs, usage, and implementation, the developers should investigate how to deliver an appropriate and effective interface design for a mobile device. It means that financial institutions and banks need to ensure the mobile payment services offered to customers meet their current values, needs, and lifestyle. Lastly, the result of the level agreement showed that trust and subjective norms were agreed to impact the intention to adopt the Bakong system by users in Cambodia. Since Cambodians are more likely to adopt the Bakong app when they consider the system reliable and trustworthy, NBC should advertise more about the high security of performing fund transfer transactions on the Bakong app. Moreover, the agreement of subjective norm in behavioural intention suggests that individual social connections and the social status of group affiliation, such as family members, friends, and colleagues, lead to adopting the Bakong app in Cambodia. Consequently, the service providers, including Bakong developers, financial institutions, and banks, potentially need to consider people's social connections and status to increase the degree of adoption of mobile payment services. Therefore, promoting mobile payment services through the social and community network may be useful for increasing the level of adoption in Cambodia.

The study has some limitations. The main scope of this paper focuses on determining the attitude and intention of Bakong users in Cambodia; however, the model was adopted from various prior studies that mostly took place in abroad context. Thus, it does not ensure the accuracy of the model application in the country. In the meantime, the study only includes Bakong platform that currently have limited users, and as a result, only a limited number of respondents contributed in the survey form. The survey questionnaire itself is also shared with a small group of people who mostly reside near researchers' area. Therefore, the sample study can only represent people who live in Phnom Penh rather than more diverse population like provinces across the country. Moreover, given the limited time of research and the global pandemic situation, the researchers also find it challenging to have more access to a bigger sample size that can genuinely represent the whole population.

Hence, with mentioned limitations, further research should consider the following:

- Next researchers should target a larger sample size in order to make the data more comprehensive.
- The items to measure the constructs were entirely adapted from the previous studies. Therefore, further research should implement factor analysis on the questions.
- Future researchers should extent the study on factors that influence people not to use the Bakong app too. It will help researchers receive a wider context and different types of respondents.
- Future research may deploy qualitative techniques or mixed methods to acquire a more in-depth understanding and perspectives of users regarding mobile payment adoption.


References

- Ajzen, I. (2015). Consumer attitudes and behavior: the theory of planned behavior applied to food consumption decisions. Italian Review of Agricultural Economics, 70(2), 121– 138. https://doi.org/10.13128/REA-18003
- Ajzen, I., & Fishbein, M. (1975). A Bayesian analysis of attribution processes. Psychological Bulletin, 82(2), 261.
- Alqasa, K. M., Mohd Isa, F., Othman, S. N., & Zolait, A. H. S. (2014). The impact of students' attitude and subjective norm on the behavioural intention to use services of banking system. International Journal of Business Information Systems, 15(1), 105– 122.
- Armstrong, R. L. (1987). The midpoint on a five-point Likert-type scale. Perceptual and Motor Skills, 64(2), 359–362.
- Arner, D. W., Barberis, J. N., & Buckley, R. P. (2015). The Evolution of Fintech: A New Post-Crisis Paradigm? SSRN Electronic Journal. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2676553 Bakong, P. (2020). Next Generation Payment System. June.
- Cambodias-digital-currency-ishowing-other-central-banks-the-way @ www.weforum.org. (n.d.). https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2021/08/cambodias-digital-currencyishowing-other-central-banks-the-

way?utm_source=linkedin&utm_medium=social_scheduler&utm_term=Financial+a nd+Monetary+Systems&utm_content=08/09/2021+00:00

- Chandra, S., Srivastava, S. C., & Theng, Y.-L. (2010). Evaluating the Role of Trust in Consumer Adoption of Mobile Payment Systems: An Empirical Analysis. Communications of the Association for Information Systems, 27(1). https://doi.org/10.17705/1cais.02729
- Chishti, S., & Barberis, J. (2016). The Fintech book: The financial technology handbook for investors, entrepreneurs and visionaries. John Wiley & Sons.
- Cobanoglu, C., Yang, W., Shatskikh, A., & Agarwal, A. (2015). Are Consumers Ready for Mobile Payment? An Examination of Consumer Acceptance of Mobile Payment Technology in Restaurant Industry. Hospitality Review, 31(4), 6.
- Cooper, R. B., & Zmud, R. W. (1990). Information technology implementation research: a technological diffusion approach. Management Science, 36(2), 123–139.
- Davis, F. D. (1989). Perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, and user acceptance of information technology. MIS Quarterly, 319–340.
- de Luna, I. R., Liébana-Cabanillas, F., Sánchez-Fernández, J., & Muñoz-Leiva, F. (2019). Mobile payment is not all the same: The adoption of mobile payment systems depending on the technology applied. Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 146(October 2017), 931–944. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2018.09.018



Encyclopedia. (n.d). Technology acceptance model. Retrieved from

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Technology_acceptance_model

- Eze, U. C., Goh, M. H., Ling, H. Y., & Lee, C. H. (2011). Intention to use e-government services in Malaysia: Perspective of individual users. International Conference on Informatics Engineering and Information Science, 512–526.
- Faqih, K. M. S., & Jaradat, M.-I. R. M. (2015). Assessing the moderating effect of gender differences and individualism-collectivism at individual-level on the adoption of mobile commerce technology: TAM3 perspective. Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services, 22, 37–52.
- Gerhardt, P., Schilke, O., & Wirtz, B. W. (2010). Electronic Commerce Research and Applications Understanding consumer acceptance of mobile payment services: An empirical analysis. Electronic Commerce Research and Applications, 9(3), 209–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.elerap.2009.07.005
- Gu, J.-C., Lee, S.-C., & Suh, Y.-H. (2009). Determinants of behavioral intention to mobile banking. Expert Systems with Applications, 36(9), 11605–11616.
- Gultom, S. (2020). The Influence Of Attitude and Subjective Norm on Citizen's Intention to Use E-Goverment Services. Journal of Security and Sustainability Issues, 9(M), 173– 187.
- index @ bakong.nbc.org.kh. (n.d.). https://bakong.nbc.org.kh/
- Jahangir, N., & Begum, N. (2008). The role of perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use, security and privacy, and customer attitude to engender customer adaptation in the context of electronic banking. African Journal of Business Management, 2(2), 32–40.
- Jaradat, M.-I. R. M., & Faqih, K. M. S. (2014). Investigating the moderating effects of gender and self-efficacy in the context of mobile payment adoption: A developing country perspective. International Journal of Business and Management, 9(11), 147.
- Jin, D., Chai, K.-H., & Tan, K.-C. (2012). Organizational adoption of new service development tools. Managing Service Quality: An International Journal.
- Keat, O. (2009). Factor influencing consumer purchased intention of dietary supplement product in Penang Island. An MBA Thesis, Graduate School of Business, University Sains Malaysia.
- Kim, Y., Choi, J., Park, Y.-J., & Yeon, J. (2016). The adoption of mobile payment services for "Fintech." International Journal of Applied Engineering Research, 11(2), 1058– 1061.
- Li, C., & Zhang, M. (2012). Research on the factors affecting consumers' willingness to the use of mobile payment. In Advances in Computer Science and Engineering (pp. 575– 580). Springer.



- Linck, K., Pousttchi, K., & Wiedemann, D. G. (2006). Security issues in mobile payment from the customer viewpoint.
- Liu, G.-S., & Tai, P. T. (2016). A study of factors affecting the intention to use mobile payment services in Vietnam. Economics World, 4(6), 249–273.
- Lu, X., & Viehland, D. (2008). Factors influencing the adoption of mobile learning.
- Lu, Y., Yang, S., Chau, P. Y. K., & Cao, Y. (2011). Dynamics between the trust transfer process and intention to use mobile payment services: A cross-environment perspective. Information & Management, 48(8), 393–403.
- Luarn, P., & Lin, H.-H. (2005). Toward an understanding of the behavioral intention to use mobile banking. Computers in Human Behavior, 21(6), 873–891.
- Mallat, N., & others. (2006). Consumer and merchant adoption of mobile payments. Helsinki School of Economics.
- Mu, H.-L., & Lee, Y.-C. (2017). Examining the influencing factors of third-party mobile payment adoption: a comparative study of Alipay and WeChat Pay. The Journal of Information Systems, 26(4), 247–284.
- Nysveen, H., Pedersen, P. E., & Thorbjørnsen, H. (2005). Explaining intention to use mobile chat services: moderating effects of gender. Journal of Consumer Marketing.
- Pearson, K. (1926). On the coefficient of racial likeness. Biometrika, 18(1/2), 105–117.
- Phonthanukitithaworn, C., Sellitto, C., & Fong, M. W. L. (2016). An investigation of mobile payment (m-payment) services in Thailand. Asia-Pacific Journal of Business Administration.
- Ramayah, T., & Ignatius, J. (2005). Impact of perceived usefulness, perceived ease of use and perceived enjoyment on intention to shop online. ICFAI Journal of Systems Management (IJSM), 3(3), 36–51.
- Sadi, A., & Noordin, M. F. (2011). Factors influencing the adoption of M-commerce: An exploratory Analysis. International Conference on Industrial Engineering and Operations Management, 492–498.
- Schierz, P. G., Schilke, O., & Wirtz, B. W. (2010). Understanding consumer acceptance of mobile payment services: An empirical analysis. Electronic Commerce Research and Applications, 9(3), 209–216.
- Schueffel, P. (2017). Taming the Beast: A Scientific Definition of Fintech. Journal of Innovation Management, 4(4), 32–54. https://doi.org/10.24840/2183-0606_004.004_0004
- Singh, N., Sinha, N., & Liébana-Cabanillas, F. J. (2020). Determining factors in the adoption and recommendation of mobile wallet services in India: Analysis of the effect of innovativeness, stress to use and social influence. International Journal of Information Management, 50, 191–205.



- Sultan, K., Ruhi, U., & Lakhani, R. (2018). Conceptualizing blockchains: Characteristics & applications. Proceedings of the 11th IADIS International Conference Information Systems 2018, IS 2018, 49–57.
- Taherdoost, H. (2017). Determining sample size; How to calculate survey sample size. International Journal of Economics and Management Systems, 2(2), 237–239.
- Teo, T. (2011). Factors influencing teachers' intention to use technology: Model development and test. Computers \& Education, 57(4), 2432–2440.
- Tornatzky, L. G., & Klein, K. J. (1982). Innovation characteristics and innovation adoptionimplementation: A meta-analysis of findings. IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management, 1, 28–45.
- Venkatesh, V., & Bala, H. (2008). Technology acceptance model 3 and a research agenda on interventions. Decision Sciences, 39(2), 273–315.
- Venkatesh, V., & Davis, F. D. (2000). Theoretical extension of the Technology Acceptance Model: Four longitudinal field studies. Management Science, 46(2), 186–204. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.46.2.186.11926
- Wong, A. T. T. (2018). A study of consumer acceptance of mobile payment services in Hong Kong. Journal of Economics, Management and Trade, 1–14.
- Wong, W. H., & Mo, W. Y. (2019). A Study of Consumer Intention of Mobile Payment in Hong Kong, Based on Perceived Risk, Perceived Trust, Perceived Security and Technological Acceptance Model. Journal of Advanced Management Science, 7(2), 33–38. https://doi.org/10.18178/joams.7.2.33-38
- Wu, K., Zhao, Y., Zhu, Q., Tan, X., & Zheng, H. (2011). A meta-analysis of the impact of trust on technology acceptance model: Investigation of moderating influence of subject and context type. International Journal of Information Management, 31(6), 572–581.
- Yan, H., & Yang, Z. (2015). Examining mobile payment user adoption from the perspective of trust. International Journal of U-and e-Service, Science and Technology, 8(1), 117– 130.
- Yang, S., Lu, Y., Gupta, S., Cao, Y., & Zhang, R. (2012). Computers in Human Behavior Mobile payment services adoption across time: An empirical study of the effects of behavioral beliefs, social influences, and personal traits. 28, 129–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2011.08.019
- Yongmeng, W. X. G. Y. J. (2013). Study on the Planning for Area Combined City: A Case Study of Huai'an New City Planning. Huazhong Architecture, 4.



Impact of Promotion Strategies on Adoption of Mobile Banking: A Case Study of ACLEDA Mobile

Vimeanpichta Prak¹, Kimdaneth Ou², Monyta Chamroeun³, Khunsopheakneath Pen⁴, Nimol Nou⁵ & Bun Khem⁶

Corresponding Author. Email: prakvimean2017@gmail.com 1, 2, 3, 4, 5 & 6. ACLEDA Institute of Business

ABSTRACT

This article aims to study factors that encourage users to adopt mobile banking application. Drawing on the Technological Acceptance Model (TAM), the study surveyed over 300 subscribers of ACLEDA Mobile App to determine if promotion strategy had an impact on adoption in addition to perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use. The results show perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use had influence on the adoption of mobile banking, alongside other variables including advertising, social media, sales promotions, direct marketing, and public relations efforts that had been used to promote the benefit of mobile banking.

Keyword: Technology Acceptance Model (TAM), Promotion Strategies, Mobile Banking



1. Introduction

1.1 Background of the study

Digitization has changed the rules in banking. Most of the marketplace was focused on the impact of the internet on innovation. The internet was the newest competition for the marketplace. And all the economy was changed to a new strategy rule for a challenge with the competitor. Traditional modernization tactics were used to develop new opportunities as the competitive dynamics in a certain industry were modified by digitization.

Digitalization in the banking business also transformed the type of service provided; it created lines between rival banks that would continue to grow indefinitely, allowing for more strategies to be developed, causing the banking industry to swiftly expand. On the other side, there are several opportunities. Digitization gave banks several options to improve their service and quality in order to attract clients, such as improving interactions between consumers and internal and external stakeholders, improving management decision-making quality, and enabling new business and/or operational models. Banks need digital banking to adopt customers and compete with competitors by bringing benefits of digital banking to customers (Patriotism et al., 2013). The Digital banking, e-banking, m-banking, Contactless Card (e.g., tap and go), ATM, and point-of-sale), Telephone banking allowed customers' transactions through telephones. (A.; Alalwan et al., 2018) while with internet banking, customers could have carried out banking services via the internet from their homes (Tam & Oliveira, 2017).

After 1993 general elections, the Government of Cambodia began formulating a comprehensive macroeconomic and structural reform. The banking system transformed and the result was really significant success in stabilizing the economy. In the 1990 s, the economy in Cambodia was growing up rapidly. By separating central bank functions from commercial banking activity, Cambodia's banking system was altered from a mono banking system to a two-tier banking system. By producing healthy profits, the financial sector, particularly in the banking industry, was able to accomplish excellent results and expansion.

The National Bank of Cambodia's top objective today was to maintain the balance between increasing financial inclusion and ensuring financial stability. Building Cambodia's digital banking sector will also boost the country's economy by allowing it to move away from the traditional banking system and toward digitization of financial transactions and better corporate organization models. (Chhun,2005)

1.2 Problem statement

Mobile banking is moving the banking industry from traditional banking that gives more benefit to customers. Financial institutions are continuing to grow in terms of turnover and profitability as a result of the financial sector's digital transformation. ACLEDA Bank also offers digital banking to its customers by improving the ACLEDA Mobile application in order to improve financial services and meet the challenges of the



digital revolution. The ACLEDA Mobile application, according to (ACLEDA Bank Plc., 2021), has several benefits to consumers, including being convenient, fast, and highly secure in performing banking transactions via ACLEDA Mobile, lowering costs, and saving time by without directly go to bank. However, the customer was unfamiliar with the new product. A promotion campaign is the most effective strategy to encourage people to utilize mobile banking services. One of the most efficient ways to inform clients about the security of the ACLEDA Mobile Banking service is to use an advertising plan. According to the results of the Fin Scope Consumer Survey Kingdom of Cambodia, according to Seng & Lay (n.d.), in terms of mobile banking services.

1.3 Research objective

The research proposes to explore the variable of promotion strategies impact on promote mobile banking user for influence customer intention using mobile banking app among Cambodians, specifically ACLEDA Mobile App users. As well as, to identify influential factors of promotion strategies to promote the ACLEDA Mobile application.

1.4 Research question

The identified research objective leads to arisen to our research question which is:

"What is the element of promotion strategies impact on ACLEDA Mobile application users?"

1.5 Significance of the study

This research thesis's potential outcome will contribute to various stakeholders in the financial industry, including mobile banking developers, financial institutions, and banks. The study will provide insights regarding the key factors that motivate the customer intention of adopting the ACLEDA Mobile app. Thus, ACLEDA Mobile app developers could use the insights to improve their platform that serves the customers better, and as well as gains more users. Therefore, this study will provide some recommendations to these stakeholders to improve their mobile banking app. Mainly, as this survey focuses explicitly on the mobile banking system of ACLEDA Bank PLC, it will benefit the ACLEDA Mobile app developers in the area to improve their platform. Finally, this article would significantly provide a useful resource for future research with relevant or similar topics.

1.6 Scope of the study

This study makes major contributions to financial institutions in terms of expanding and improving their financial services. However, obtaining information on consumer acceptance of mobile banking for the purpose of analysing the variables that motivate their decision to utilize mobile apps in their daily lives has certain limits. First and foremost, this research will focus on ACLEDA Bank's apps, which are widely used and exploited across the country. This mobile application was chosen since it is widely utilized for quick banking transactions and is one of Cambodia's most well-known commercial banks.



Second, the sample size will be calculated using 337 people randomly selected of about 1,945,646 users who use mobile phones and use mobile banking services across the country, according to ACLEDA BANK's first quarterly report for 2021.

Third, this study will not include all the important factors that influence customer acceptability of mobile banking. Risk, ubiquity, network externalities, and consumer security are all variables to consider.

Finally, in addition to the commercial bank's mobile application, more research should be done on a different variable type of mobile banking using the same TAM model with different variables or with different conceptual frameworks and models to shed light on the perspective of a larger sample size in different groups, models, and variables. This will almost certainly assure that the outcomes will be varied in terms of the model utilized for future research.

2. Literature Review

2.1 Definition of mobile banking

The mobile banking is defined as a financial transaction application app that can be downloaded on a mobile phone and allows clients to bank anywhere, anytime using wireless device (Chitungo & Munongo, 2013). Mobile banking is the integration of electronic money into mobile communication services through multi-platform cooperation and cross-industry collaboration between mobile telecom providers and banking institutions (Kelly and Palaniappan, 2019). It makes use of a piece of software known as an app, which may be downloaded onto a mobile device. The concept of mobile banking: Using electronic communication technology can be improved the banking system without changing its objectives and functions. It made speed, quality, accuracy, and satisfaction of banking services that offered to customers will improve to a great. Mobile banking not only offers ideal banking services to the whole society but also follows the ideal banking system characteristics to better suit the needs of the people. A mobile banking system should have characteristics that can be predicted and classified (Aithal, 2016). Mobile banking is a service provided by financial sector to customers for financial transactions using a mobile device such as a smartphone or tablet. The ability to use mobile banking is contingent on the availability of an Internet or data connection on the mobile device (2003; Barnes & Corbitt, 2003).

2.2 Theoretical framework

Fred Davis developed the technology acceptance model as part of his doctoral thesis in 1986. This theory has been proved to describe the concept of technology acceptance as well as the attitudes and behaviours that people adopt toward accepting and using technology through the use of information technology (websites, software/applications, device use) individually or in groups (Davis, 1989). Davis built the TAM model based on behavioural concepts including Theory of Reasoned Action (Ajzen & Fishbein, 1975), self-efficacy theory (Seneviratne, n.d.), cost-benefit decision making procedure (Beach and Mitchell, 1978), Theory of Diffusion of Innovation (Tornatzky & Klein, 1982), and the Channel



Disposition Model (Swan-son, 1987). Furthermore, Davis is of the view that user acceptance of technology has two main factors: perceived ease of use and perceived usefulness. The intention to use TAM construction, which includes perceived ease of use and utility, is the next variable. It is also important to analyse consumer behaviour and determine the intensity of the company's performance by observing client reactions to the company's new technology. In addition, throughout the digital era, this variable must be linked to the banking industry's digitalization agenda. Figure 2 is show about the process of element of technology acceptance model on customer's attitude (Lusala Aliata et al., 2012).



Figure 1: Technology Acceptance Model

2.3 Conceptual model

The marketing approach by which a firm communicates with clients about products and services is known as business promotion. One of the 4Ps of the marketing mix is a promotion strategy. A promotion strategy is a practical method for getting people to learn about a company's core products or services, create more leads, and increase customer engagement. The marketing also aids you in attracting your target's attention, analysing new products and services, determining demand, and encouraging them to buy from you. The goal of the promotion plan was to demonstrate how to use your marketing tactic (Lixin et al., 2018). Promotion is a direct technique for a corporation to reach out to the general population. Advertising, sales promotion, personal selling, public relations, and direct marketing are the five parts of this strategy that have an impact on the marketplace (Czinkota & Ronkainen, 2004).

People's perceptions of the benefits of using technology are referred to as "perceived usefulness of technology acceptance" (Venkatesh & Bala, 2008). On the other hand, perceived usefulness plays a role in an activity involving information technology systems (Bastari et al., 2020). Furthermore, based on the results of financial institution digitization, perceived usefulness is a more efficient means of attracting people since it saves time and energy in employing applications and other technologies to meet demand.

The way humans understandably build utilization inside a novel technical system is defined as perceived ease of use (Venkatesh & Davis, 2000). Furthermore, the varied ease allows individuals to have more operating opportunities to be interested in a new technology-related product (Dönmez-Turan & Kir, 2019). Furthermore, for consumers who use mobile banking, perceived ease is the most important feature (Dickinger & Kleijnen, 2008). It was shown that perceived ease of use was an effective strategy for customers to adopt mobile



banking software. Similarly, bank consumers are more inclined to use online banking because it is simple to use and integrates with the modernized banking system (Guriting & Oly Ndubisi, 2006).

Intention to use is referred to as a fundamental reaction to the actual actions of a person when they know and use new technologies (Bastari et al., 2020). Besides, the intention to use is also shown as an interest in continually participating or taking part in a particular system (Islam and Meantymeaki, 2011; Venkatesh and Bala, 2008). Intention to use as a behavioural construct could be accepted as people's understanding, behaviour, and decision to use new technology. This could occur because the intention to use is a reflection of an understanding of technology adoption that ends up in a personality's behaviour. This is supported by an announcement regarding the technology acceptance model, which states that intention to use will determine use behaviour (Purwanto & Loisa, 2020). Referring to the technology acceptance model (TAM) (Bastari et al., 2020), the intention to use is a keyway of determining whether motivated people have the intention to use technology systems in the future.



Figure 2: Research conceptual framework

Overall, by combining the TAM Model (Perceived Usefulness and Perceived Ease of Use) and the promotion strategies model (advertising, public relations, sales promotion, social media, and direct marketing) that have a positive influence on the customer's intention to adapt to the ACLEDA Mobile Application, this model is established to figure out the factors of promotion strategy that motivate customer intention to use the ACLEDA Mobile Application.

2.4 Summary of research hypotheses

In accordance with the developed conceptual model, the hypotheses were specifically formulated for this research as following:

- H1A: Advertising is an influence technique to promote perceived usefulness for adopting mobile banking.
- H1B: Social media is an effective technique to promote perceived usefulness for adopting mobile banking.



- H1C: Direct Marketing is an influence technique to promote perceived usefulness for adopting mobile banking.
- H1D: Sale Promotion is an influence technique to promote perceived usefulness for adopting mobile banking.
- H1E: Public Relation is an influence technique to promote perceived usefulness for adopting mobile banking.
- H2: Perceive Usefulness has a positive influence on his/her attitudes toward an intention to adopt ACLEDA Mobile Application.
- H3: Perceive Ease of Use has a positive influence on his/her attitudes toward an intention to adopt ACLEDA Mobile Application.

3. Research Methodology

3.1 Research design

The goal of the research was to fund out how to best promote the use of the ACLEDA app among users. This study utilized various methods and techniques, including sampling and analysis, to create a comprehensive and objective study. This study aims to investigate an issue that is not well identified in the Cambodian banking context, which is the adoption of the Android Mobile App. Through a survey, the primary data was collected in order to gather more detailed information on the various aspects of mobile banking in the country.

3.2 Research area

This study focuses on the impact of promotion strategy on mobile banking and is geared at users of mobile banking applications. Respondents who work in the banking industry and have used the ACLEDA Mobile Application.

3.3 Sampling and sample size

Sample size was decided by the customers who are using ACLEDA mobile app which is accounted for 1,945,646 ACLEDA Mobile App subscribers. Consequently, the sample size was determined by Cochran (1963) formula. The sample size was calculated with a desired sample size, population size of 1,945,646. The study size is 337, and it includes staff members, households, and students who use the ACLEDA mobile app to perform their online banking. This study will also focus on those who have a high school diploma or a graduate degree. We will also use stratified random sampling.

	Table 1. Summary of the measurement constructs					
Construct	Item	Reference				
Advertisin	I heard about ACLEDA Mobile through Advertising	Mortimer				
g	Advertising strategy of ACLEDA Mobile is attractive.	(2001)				
	Advertising strategy of ACLEDA Mobile is professional.					
Social	I heard about ACLEDA Mobile through social media	Wakolbinger,				
Media	Advertising of ACLEDA Mobile through social media is	Denk,&Obereck				
	attractiveness. er, 20					
	Advertising of ACLEDA Mobile through social media is					
	entertainment.					

(continued)



Construct	Item	Reference	
Direct	I heard about ACLEDA Mobile through Direct marketing	Brassington &	
Marketing	I feel the entertaining of sale person when promoting ACLEDA	Pettitt (2000),	
	Mobile.	Lee (2002)	
	I feel professionalism of the salesperson when promoting ACLEDA		
	Mobile.		
Sale	I heard about ACLEDA Mobile through Sale promotion	(Lusala Aliata et	
Promotion	I feel the entertaining of Sale promotion when promoting ACLEDA	al., 2012)	
	Mobile.		
	I feel professionalism of the Sale promotion when promoting		
	ACLEDA Mobile.		
Public	I heard about ACLEDA Mobile through public relation.	(Lusala Aliata et	
relation	I feel attractiveness of the public relation when promoting ACLEDA	al., 2012)	
	Mobile.	Brassington&	
	I feel professionalism of the public relation when promoting	Pettitt (2000)	
	ACLEDA Mobile.		
Perceives	Using ACLEDA Mobile app is beneficial in financial transaction.	Davis, 1989	
Usefulness	Using ACLEDA Mobile app saves time and cost.		
	Using ACLEDA Mobile app is useful.		
Perceived	ACLEDA mobile app is easy to use.	(Guriting & Oly	
Ease of	ACLEDA mobile app can be accessed everywhere.	Ndubisi, 2006)	
Use	ACLEDA mobile app can be flexible to use.	Davis, 1989	
Intention to	I plan to use of mobile banking technology for my business.	Fogarty and	
use	I prefer to use mobile banking application for payment.	Rose, (2006)	
	I strongly recommend my family to use ACLEDA Mobile app.	Purwanto and	
	I am willing to use ACLEDA Mobile app.	Loisa, 2020)	

 Table 1: Summary of the Measurement constructs(continued)

3.4 Data collection

The data was collected using a survey questionnaire, which will be stored in the Google Forms. The form was mainly distributed through social media platform (Facebook, Messenger, Instagram, and Telegram). The objective of the survey is to gather information about people's subjective states and attitudes. The all categories were to determine their personal interests.

3.5 Data analysis techniques

After all the relevant statistics has been gathered, it will likely be analysed relying at the responses of the respondents. The information changed into additionally analysed the use of SPSS, or Statistical package deal for social science. The information from the Google form become exported as an Excel desk, which become then loaded into SPSS tables. to explain the degree of agreement on every annoying statement, the researchers employed ANOVA, Linear Regression, Pearson Correlation, and descriptive information, consisting of frequency, percentage, suggest, and widespread deviation.

3.6 Result to the instrument test

Before having to do the actual test on the real respondent, the pilots test must be done on reliability & dependability of the listed questionnaire. The pilot test of 20 sample was



conducted through online platforms on Cambodian. 9 constructs were put as a trail test and illustrated in the table below that the Cronbach's Alpha of each constructed was scored more than 0.7(shown in Table 2) which was classified that constructed variable and factors are reliable to be implemented in this research (Nunnally, 1994).

Table 2: Reliability of Pilot Test	

No.	Item	Pilots Cronbach Alpha (n=20)
1	Advertising	0.721
2	Social media	0.733
3	Direct Marketing	0.740
4	Sale promotion	0.767
5	Public Relation	0.800
6	Perceived Usefulness	0.800
7	Perceived Ease of Use	0.747
8	Intention to Use	0.733
9	Advertising Strategy	0.783

Based on the start of evolution criteria (Armstrong, 1987), the variable becomes essential when score is higher. They questionnaire of variables were conducted in Seven scale points ranging from following.

Results and Discussions 4.

The data was gathered using a quantitative method and presented in ordinal, quantitative, and numerical formats. SPSS software is used to create the results or the data sample, there were 361 replies. The respondents were given a total of 400 questionnaires. ACLEDA Bank Plc's internal clients are employees who use its products and services. Clients that are not affiliated with the bank are referred to as "external customers".

4.1	Finding on respondents 'demographic

Character	Item	Frequency	Percentage
Gender	Female	165	48.96
	Male	172	51.03
Age	Under 20 years old	021	6.23
	Between 21 to 30	194	57.56
	Between 31 to 40	115	34.12
	Over 40 years old	001	0.29
Education	High School	013	3.85
	Undergraduate Degree	149	44.21
	Graduate Degree	172	51.03
	Other	003	0.89
Employment	Company Employee	144	42.72
Stratus	Government Officer	041	12.16
	Business Owner	083	24.62
	Currently Unemployed	065	19.28
	Other	004	1.18

(to be continued)



Character	Item	Frequency	Percentage
Frequency	At least once a week	192	56.97
	At least once a month	100	29.67
	At least once in six months	028	8.30
	At least once a year	009	2.67
	Other	008	2.37

Table 3: Demographic of Respondent (continued)

According to the data. There were 172 males and 165 females among the 337 valid respondents. The replies reveal that the majority of the participants in this survey were between the ages of 21 and 30, with a response rate of 57.56 percent. Another sample distribution shows that 51.03% of total participants have a graduate degree. 42.72% of the mobile banking users were company employees, Regarding the frequency of use, most of the respondents would use the mobile banking ACLEDA Mobile App at least once a week, with a 56.97% response rate, a huge difference from other respondents who preferred using the mobile banking app once a month with a 29.67% response rate.

4.2 Presentation of key finding

4.2.1 Analysis of agreement level

Variable	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std Deviation	Level of Agreement
v ariable	Iviiiiiiuiii	Waxiiiuiii	Wiedli	Std. Devlation	Level of Agreement
Advertising	2.33	7.00	5.5312	0.88441	Agree
Social Media	2.33	7.00	5.5430	0.89469	Agree
Direct Market	2.00	7.00	5.5351	0.86841	Agree
Sale Promotion	2.33	7.00	5.6597	0.85000	Agree
Public Relation	2.00	7.00	5.8625	1.00719	Agree
Perceived	2 00	7.00	5 (70)	0.94240	Agree
Usefulness	2.00	7.00	5.6706	0.84240	
Perceived Ease of	1 (7	7.00	5 72(0	0.94541	Agree
Use	1.07	7.00	5.7260	0.84541	
Intention Use	2.75	7.00	5.7315	0.78290	Agree

Table 4: Level of Agreement

The data indicated in the table 4 illustrated the level of agreement of each variable in this research. Since this research used the 7-point rating scale, the mean explained the effective level of each factor from the respondents. As far as the result has shown, 7 variables were stated as "Agree".

4.2.2 Reliability test

The highest is 0.893 for Perceive Usefulness, and SP which indicated that Sale promotion of each variable statistically reliable. The combination of all variables, as shown in Table 5, Statically exceeds 0.886 which is considered excellent.

Table 5: Reliability Test of Cronbach's Alpha on all variables

N°	Item	Cronbach Alpha (n=337)	
1.	All Variables	0.886	



4.2.3 Linear regression analysis

For Hypothesis Testing in Linear Regression Analysis, the specific research model, independent variables, and dependent variables are used.

4.2.3.1 Significant test of regression model

Table 6 showcased the ANOVA results of the impact of promotion strategies on the adoption of mobile banking.

	Table 0: ANOVA					
Model	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	
Regression	159.067	7	22.724	159.476	0.000^{b}	
Residual	46.879	329	0.142			
Total	205.947	336				

a. Dependent Variable: IU

b. Predictors: (Constant), PEU, DM, PR, AD, SP, PE, SM

Advertising, social media and other variables show a statistically significant relationship with intention to use (dependent variable) - but the p-value associated with this F value is very small (0.000). So, the group of independent variables included advertising, direct marketing, sale promotion, public relation, perceived usefulness, and perceived ease of use are not statistically significant.

4.2.3.2 First block of regression analysis

Table 7: Model Summary of DM, PR, AD, SP, SM,						
Model	Model R R Square Adjusted R Square Std. Error of the Estimate					
1	0.835 ^a	0.696	0.690	0.46906		

Results show that the model explains R=0.835 while R square= 0.696, adjusted to be 0.690 and the standard error of the estimate equals to 0.46906. Table 7 shows the coefficients of determination (R2 values) and adjusted R2 of the endogen constructs in the structural model.

Table 8: Regression Analysis on PS toward PE

	Unstandardiz	ed Coefficients	Standardized Coefficients		
Model	В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.
1 (Constant)	2.004	.296		6.759	.000
AD	.303	.048	.321	6.303	.000
SM	.202	.072	.225	2.812	.005
DM	226	.073	248	-3.106	.002
SP	.114	.064	.120	1.797	.073
PR	.251	.043	.303	5.884	.000

Dependent Variable: PE

Advertising, direct marketing and public relations have significant impact on customers' attitudes toward mobile banking. Customers like mobile banking and the convenience of using a new technology application, according to this data. Users see and accept mobile banking as a more convenient and faster means to conduct financial transactions.



4.2.3.3 Second block of regression analysis

The following table is the result of regression analysis for the relationship between PE and PEU toward intention of using mobile banking.

Tuble 7. Hoder Bullmary of Fe and FEe toward Intention to use					
Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate	
1	.874ª	.764	.763	.38128	
D	1. (0.)	O DELL DE			

Table 9: Model Summary of PU and PEU toward Intention to use

a. Predictors: (Constant), PEU, PE

Table 9 shows the coefficients of determination (R2 values= 0.764) and adjusted R Square equals to 0.763 of the endogen constructs in the structural model. R Values appears to be 0.874 and standard error of the estimate equals to be 0.38128. Thus, facilitating conditions has 38.128% of consumers' perceived behavioural control toward mobile banking adoption.

Table 10: Regression Analysis of PU and PEU toward Intention						
	Unstandar	dized	Standardized			
	Coefficien	ts	Coefficients			
Model	В	Std. Error	Beta	t	Sig.	
1 (Constant)	.838	.151		5.568	.000	
PE	.333	.039	.358	8.517	.000	
PEU	.525	.039	.567	13.490	.000	

a. Dependent Variable: IU

This result has a significant value of (PE= 0.000) and T = 8.517, indicating a positive point of facilitating conditions (=0.358). The ease condition is also given a large value of PEU (0.000) and a T of 13.490. It demonstrates that the disease has a considerable impact on behavioural control perception. The regression study also revealed that facilitating conditions had a positive impact on consumer perceived behavioural control toward mobile banking (=0.567) at a level significant (0.000). As a result, the researcher opts for the alternative hypothesis while dismissing the null hypothesis. Customers are satisfied with mobile banking since it makes their lifestyle more convenient and allows them to better manage their finances.

4.2.4 Hypotheses testing

The table 11 showcase the summary result from the tested hypotheses in the regression analysis that indicated the supported results of all hypotheses as significant levels.

Table 11: Hypotheses Result

Hypotheses	Sig.	Results
H _{1A} : Advertising is an effective technique to promote perceived usefulness for	0.00	Supported
adopting mobile banking.		
H _{1B} : Social media is an effective technique to promote perceived usefulness for	0.00	Supported
adopting mobile banking.		
H _{1C} : Sale Promotion is an effective technique to promote perceived usefulness	0.07	Unsupported
for adopting mobile banking.		

(continued)



Table 11: Hypotheses Result(continued)

Hypotheses	Sig.	Results
71	0	
H _{1D} : Direct marketing is an effective technique to promote perceived usefulness	0.00	Supported
for adopting mobile banking.		
H_{1E} : Public relation is an effective technique to promote perceived usefulness for	0.00	Supported
adopting mobile banking.		
H ₂ : Perceive Usefulness has a positive influence his/her attitude toward an	0.00	Supported
intention to use ACLEDA Mobile application.		
H ₃ : Perceive Ease of Use has a positive influence his/her attitude toward an	0.00	Supported
intention to use ACLEDA Mobile application		~
intention to use reliebrit mobile upplication.		

4.3 Discussion of results

The study has created a permission model which demonstrate the applicability of advertising, social media, sale promotion, public relation, direct marketing (promotion strategy's tactic) and Technology Acceptant Model on factor motivated adoption ACLEDA Mobile app. The outcome of the study is significant the model in insuring customer intention to use ACLEDA Mobile app.

The finding highlighted the three-significance faceted which influence customer's attitude toward an intention to use ACLEDA Mobile app. This result is satisfactory answered the research question and explained to the research objective.

4.3.1 Factors inspiring customer 's intention to use ACLEDA Mobile

The perceived utility and simplicity of utilizing the ACLEDA Mobile application influenced customers' intents. The promotion strategy's techniques (advertising, social media, sales promotion, public relations, and direct marketing) led customers to use mobile banking, according to a study.

4.3.2 Perceive usefulness

The researcher found out that a positive effect on intention of customer of using ACLEDA Mobile app. There is not much difference compared to a previous study. Perceive Usefulness has recognized as the most significant factor that influence customer's attitude about using the app.

4.3.3 Perceive ease of use

The perceived ease of use of the ACLEDA Mobile app was discovered as a significant factor influencing the customer's attitude toward using it. As a result of the app's versatility and understand ability, consumers thought it was user-friendly. (Raza et al., 2017).

4.3.4 Promotion strategy 's tactics (advertising, social media, sale promotion, public relation, direct marketing) on perceives usefulness

Advertising, social media, public relations, sale promotion, and direct market had an effective tactic on customer intention when using the ACLEDA Mobile application. The study also discovered that a good promotion technique is to successfully promote the benefits of using the mobile app for mobile banking.



5. Conclusion and Recommendation

5.1 Conclusion

The goal of this research project is to identify and evaluate the elements that influence the impact of promotion methods on mobile banking adoption. The purpose of this research is to see if conducting and analysing a case study using the ACLEDA Mobile app is feasible. The existing literature and models from worldwide researchers are restricted in this subject, resulting in this study using two variables of the TAM model with five types of external variables to spur additional research and discussion among Cambodian academics. This specific research implemented a Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) using perceived usefulness and perceived ease of use, which directly pointed to the intention of using the technology with the addition of five types of external factors (promotion strategy).

5.2 Research service providers and limitations

The findings of the study raised some doubts about our method. Regardless of whether the mobile platform is appropriate for the user's lifestyle, the platform should be used. Their fear persisted as a result of previous experiences, characteristics, and news.

5.3 Theoretical implications

By incorporating theories from the associated literature, the study adds to and enhances our knowledge of the most essential variables encouraging customers to utilize ACLEDA Mobile app services.

5.4 Research recommendations

The TAM model has been used to accept e-commerce acceptance by Cambodian researchers, which was considered limited in resources and literature, this research also focused on the specific group of the samples without including the elderly, so the results did not cover all aspects of the samples. In addition to not including the elderly in the survey, this research only focused on a few extended variables besides the technology acceptance model, such as advertising, social media, public relations, sales promotion, and direct marketing. Firstly, researchers should be done on promotion strategies for mobile banking, with PE and PEU having a direct impact on Intention to Use. Also, need to be conducted to test other aspects of variables that range with other existing literature that will be helpful in seeking an answer to the intention of adopting a particular technology. Moreover, COVID-19 pandemic also reduced the collecting data period. The researcher was unable to go to several locations to collect data. The information was acquired mostly through social media networks, utilizing random samples and basic techniques.



Reference

- Achrol, R. S. (1991). Evolution of the Marketing Organization: New Forms for Turbulent Environments. *Journal of Marketing*, 55(4), 77–93. https://doi.org/10.1177/002224299105500406
- Aithal, P. S. (2016). Ideal Banking Concept and Characteristics. International Research Journal of Management, IT and Social Sciences, 3(11). https://doi.org/10.21744/irjmis.v3i11.311
- Ajzen, I., & Fishbein, M. (1975). A Bayesian analysis of attribution processes. *Psychological Bulletin*, 82(2), 261–277. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0076477
- Alalwan, A. ;, Dwivedi, Y. K. ;, Rana, N. P. ;, Algharabat, R., Alalwan, A. A., Dwivedi, Y. K., Rana, N. P., & Algharabat, R. (2018). Examining factors influencing Jordanian customers' intentions and adoption of internet banking: Extending UTAUT2 with risk Item Type. *Journal of Retailing and Consumer Services* (Vol. 40). http://hdl.handle.net/10454/18067
- Alalwan, A. A. (2018). Investigating the impact of social media advertising features on customer purchase intention. *International Journal of Information Management*, 42(June), 65–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijinfomgt.2018.06.001
- Baptestone, R., & Rabechini, R. (2018). Influence of portfolio management in decisionmaking. Journal of Industrial Engineering and Management, 11(3), 406–428. https://doi.org/10.3926/jiem.2464
- Barnes, S. J., & Corbitt, B. (2003). Mobile banking: concept and potential. *International Journal of Mobile Communications*, 1(3), 273–288. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJMC.2003.003494
- Barroso, A., & Llobet, G. (2012). Advertising and consumer awareness of new, differentiated products. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 49(6), 773–792. https://doi.org/10.1509/jmr.11.0045
- Bastari, A., Eliyana, A., Syabarrudin, A., Arief, Z., & Emur, A. P. (2020). Digitalization in banking sector: the role of intrinsic motivation. *Heliyon*, 6(12). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e05801

Borden, N. H. (n.d.). The Concept of the Marketing Mix'.

- Chhun, B. (2005). A STUDY ON TRANSFORMATION OF THE BANKING SYSTEM IN CAMBODIA.
- Chitungo, S. K., & Munongo, S. (2013). *Extending the Technology Acceptance Model to Mobile Banking Adoption in Rural Zimbabwe* (Vol. 3, Issue 1).
- Customer Behaviour and Market Segmentation. (1996).
- Czinkota, M. R., & Ronkainen, I. A. (2004). the 2004 Georgetown Delphi Study a Forecast of International Business and Trade Shifts. 1–33.



davis1989TAM. (n.d.).

- Demirguc-Kunt, A., Klapper, L., Singer, D., & Bank, T. W. (2013). *Financial Inclusion and Legal Discrimination Against Women Evidence from Developing Countries*. http://econ.worldbank.org.
- Dickinger, A., & Kleijnen, M. (2008). Coupons going wireless: Determinants of consumer intentions to redeem mobile coupons. *Journal of Interactive Marketing*, 22(3), 23–39. https://doi.org/10.1002/dir.20115
- Dönmez-Turan, A., & Kir, M. (2019). User anxiety as an external variable of technology acceptance model: A meta-analytic study. *Procedia Computer Science*, *158*, 715–724. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2019.09.107
- Guriting, P., & Oly Ndubisi, N. (2006). Borneo online banking: evaluating customer perceptions and behavioural intention. *Management Research News*, 29(1/2), 6–15. https://doi.org/10.1108/01409170610645402
- Huili, Y., & Chunfang, Z. (2011). The Analysis of Influencing Factors and Promotion Strategy for the Use of Mobile Banking L'ANALYSE D'INFLUENCER DES FACTEURS ET LA STRATÉGIE DE PROMOTION POUR L'USAGE DES OPÉRATIONS BANCAIRES MOBILES. *Canadian Social Science*, 7(2), 60–63. www.cscanada.org
- Lee, Y., Kozar, K. A., & Larsen, K. R. T. (2003). The Technology Acceptance Model: Past, Present, and Future. *Communications of the Association for Information Systems*, 12. https://doi.org/10.17705/1cais.01250
- Lusala Aliata, V., Odondo, A. J., Onyango Aila, F., Ojera, P. B., Abong, B. E., & Odera, O. (2012). Influence of Promotional Strategies on Banks Performance. In *International Journal of Business* (Vol. 2, Issue 5). www.ijbhtnet.com
- Mangold, W. G., & Faulds, D. J. (2009). Social media: The new hybrid element of the promotion mix. *Business Horizons*, 52(4), 357–365. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2009.03.002
- Marakarkandy, B., Yajnik, N., & Dasgupta, C. (2017). Enabling internet banking adoption. Journal of Enterprise Information Management, 30(2), 263–294. https://doi.org/10.1108/JEIM-10-2015-0094
- Mols, N. P. (2000). The Internet and services marketing the case of Danish retail banking. *Internet Research*, *10*(1), 7–18. https://doi.org/10.1108/10662240010312093
- Mortimer, K. (2001). Services advertising: the agency viewpoint. *Journal of Services Marketing*, 15(2), 131–146. https://doi.org/10.1108/08876040110387926
- Narasimhan, C. (1988). Competitive Promotional Strategies. *The Journal of Business*, *61*(4), 427. https://doi.org/10.1086/296442
- Ofunya Afande, F., & Mathenge Paul Maina, F. (2015). Journal of Marketing and Consumer



Research www.iiste.org ISSN. In *An International Peer-reviewed Journal* (Vol. 11). www.iiste.org

- Patsiotis, A. G., Webber, D. J., & Hughes, T. (2013). Internet shopping and internet banking in sequence: An explanatory case study. *Journal of Financial Services Marketing*, 18(4), 285–300. https://doi.org/10.1057/fsm.2013.22
- Pour, P., Des, L. U., & Bancaires, O. (2011). The analysis of influencing factors and promotion strategy for the use of mobile banking/L'analyse d'influencer des facteurs et la stratégie de promotion pour l'usage des opérations bancaires mobiles. In *Canadian Journal of Social Science* (Vol. 7, Issue 2).
- Purwanto, E., & Loisa, J. (2020). The intention and use behaviour of the mobile banking system in Indonesia: UTAUT model. *Technology Reports of Kansai University*, 62(6), 2757–2767.
- Raza, S. A., Umer, A., & Shah, N. (2017). New determinants of ease of use and perceived usefulness for mobile banking adoption. *International Journal of Electronic Customer Relationship* Management, 11(1), 44–65. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJECRM.2017.086751
- Seneviratne, D. (n.d.). Bandura1981JPSP.PDF.
- Seng, K., & Lay, S. H. (n.d.). Financial Inclusion: Are Mobile Phones Helpful in Cambodia?
- Seng, & Kimty. (2017). Munich Personal RePEc Archive Considering the Effects of Mobile Phones on Financial Inclusion in Cambodia.
- Shanmugam, A., Thaz Savarimuthu, M., & Chai Wen, T. (2014). Factors Affecting Malaysian Behavioral Intention to Use Mobile Banking With Mediating Effects of Attitude. Academic Research International, 5(2). www.journals.savap.org.pk
- Tam, C., & Oliveira, T. (2017). Literature review of mobile banking and individual performance. In *International Journal of Bank Marketing* (Vol. 35, Issue 7, pp. 1042– 1065). Emerald Group Publishing Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJBM-09-2015-0143
- Tornatzky, L. G., & Klein, K. J. (1982). Innovation Characteristics and Innovation Adoption-Imple- mentation A Meta-Analysis of Findings. In *Ieee Transactions on Engineering Management* (Vol. 29, Issue 1, pp. 28–43).
- Valls-Pedret, C., Sala-Vila, A., Serra-Mir, M., Corella, D., De La Torre, R., Martínez-González, M. Á., Martínez-Lapiscina, E. H., Fitó, M., Pérez-Heras, A., Salas-Salvadó, J., Estruch, R., & Ros, E. (2015). Mediterranean diet and age-related cognitive decline: A randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, 175(7), 1094–1103. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.1668
- Venkatesh, V., & Bala, H. (2008). Technology Acceptance Model 3 and a Research Agenda on Interventions. In *The Author Journal compilation C* (Vol. 39). Decision Sciences Institute.



- Venkatesh, V., & Davis, F. D. (2000). Theoretical extension of the Technology Acceptance Model: Four longitudinal field studies. *Management Science*, 46(2), 186–204. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.46.2.186.11926
- Venkatesh, V., Morris, M. G., Davis, G. B., & Davis, F. D. (2003). User acceptance of information technology: Toward a unified view. *MIS Quarterly: Management Information Systems*, 27(3), 425–478. https://doi.org/10.2307/30036540
- Venkatesh, V., Thong, J. Y. L., & Xu, X. (2012). Venkatesh_Thong_Xu_MISQ_forthcoming (GENDER AGE EXPERIENCE). *MIS Quarterly*, 36(1), 157–178.
- Alsamydai, M. J. (2014). Adaptation of the Technology Acceptance Model (TAM) to the Use of Mobile Banking Services. International Review of Management and Business Research, 3(4), 2016–2028. www.irmbrjournal.com
- Barnes, S. J., & Corbitt, B. (2003). Mobile banking: concept and potential. International Journal of Mobile Communications, 1(3), 273–288. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJMC.2003.003494
- Czinkota, M. R., & Ronkainen, I. A. (2004). the 2004 Georgetown Delphi Study a Forecast of International Business and Trade Shifts. 1–33.
- Narasimhan, C. (1988). Competitive Promotional St
- Pour, P., Des, L. U., & Bancaires, O. (2011). The analysis of influencing factors and promotion strategy for the use of mobile banking/L'analyse d'influencer des facteurs et la stratégie de promotion pour l'usage des opérations bancaires mobiles. In Canadian Journal of Social Science (Vol. 7, Issue 2).
- rategies. The Journal of Business, 61(4), 427. https://doi.org/10.1086/296442



Factors Hindering University Students to Adopt ACLEDA Mobile

Phorn Ngam¹ & Sokha Norng²

Corresponding Author. Email: ngamphorn15@gmail.com 1 & 2. ACLEDA Institute of Business

ABSTRACT

The recent mobile revolution, combined with technological advancements, has allowed the world population to experience innovations of mobile phones to access financial information, banking services, and employing financial transactions, so-called mobile banking. In Cambodia, mobile banking usage has increased for years through the innovation of mobile applications from banks to MFIs. However, the behavioral intention to adopt a mobile banking system among Cambodian users remains little understood. Hence, the study aims to identify and explore the factors hindering the users' intentions to use mobile banking among university students in Cambodia. To describe the hindering factors, the study uses the Theory of Innovation Resistance, which focuses on 5 main barriers such as usage, value, risk, tradition, and image. A survey is used with 129 participants who had experienced using mobile banking in Phnom Penh. The results show that 5 barriers of TIR are not the main reasons that hinder consumers to adopt mobile banking. Through a qualitative insight, the study also indicated the three main reasons that university students do not use ACLEDA Mobile, namely a lack of retail shop partners, subjective norm (family or friend), and brand loyalty (stick to the existing brand of mobile banking).

Keywords: Theory Innovation Resistance(TIR), Mobile Banking, ACLEDA Mobile



1. Introduction

1.1 Background of the study

The improvements in technology and particularly mobile phones have revolutionized financial services provision and introduced new models in the banking sector. One of the newest breakthroughs of mobile phones is that the possibility for users to process access to financial information, banking services and implement money transactions through the mobile device, known as mobile financial services (Seng & Lay, 2018). Mobile financial services have seen in the most of the poor and low-income earners expand their financial services which are quite cheap, secure, reliable, and accessible (Gautier et al., 2020). The adoption of mobile banking presents a catalyst through which banking institutions could invest in systems aimed toward facilitating the method. Many authors acknowledge that mobile banking has been launched quickly in some developing countries with a high penetration rate of mobile phones within the market (Donner, 2007). As cited in Yang et al., (2021) high growth in mobile device usage and penetration has brought a positive impact on the publicity of mobile commerce utilization (Chen & Adams, 2005). The development of mobile service in Cambodia pushes banks and MFIs to build up their mobile financial app, which provides customers with a variety of accessibility to financial services such as check account balance, transfer, payment, top-up, and statement report.

1.2 Statement of the problem

To develop the application patterns for new technology, it is important to study how willing people are to try that new mobile service and then develop it to meet that willing. A preliminary survey with 30 students from various universities found that the use of ACLEDA Mobile is at a limited level among adults at higher education institution. This result contradicts with the work of (Em, Norng & Thab, 2021), which found that most consumers use ACLEDA Mobile.

1.3 Research objective

The study aims to explore the factors hindering the users towards the intentions to adopt ACLEDA Mobile among university students in Phnom Penh.

1.4 Research question

What factors hindering university students to adopt ACLEDA Mobile?

1.5 Significance of the study

This hardworking study would significantly benefit ACLEDA Mobile app developers as same as banks and MFIs. From key factors and comments of respondents, mobile app developers could use those perceptions to develop their platform to be higher quality, more convenient, and secure to meet consumer aspiration and lead to more use of ACLEDA Mobile. Last but not least, this article would become a useful source for future research.



2. Literature Review

2.1 Overview of the key concept on mobile banking

Mobile banking was accomplished primarily through text or SMS before the introduction and enable of mobile web services in 1999 which is known as SMS banking. At the time, SMS banking was the most popular banking product till 2010 it was developed with the advancement of smartphones with IOS and Android operating systems then become mobile banking. European banks were on the borderline of mobile banking service offering, by using the mobile web via WAP support, clients were able to download the banking apps onto their smartphones with more sophisticated interfaces and improved transactional abilities (Mobile Banking - Overview, History, Types, Importance, n.d.). As popularity and blowout of a mobile banking application, it was defined by different papers or researchers. Laukkanen & Kiviniemi (2010) define mobile banking as "an interaction through which a customer is connected to a bank via a mobile device" (p.373). In addition, mobile banking is a services and perform financial transactions (Anderson, 2010). Mobile banking is defined as "the financial services delivered via mobile networks and performed on a mobile phone" (Alampay & Moshi, 2018, p.4). This service provides much convenience and promptness to the banks' customers along with cost and time saving. Moreover, it enables the customer to access various transactions such as requesting their account balance (which is the latest transactions in their accounts), transferring funds between accounts, buying and selling orders for the stock exchange, receiving portfolio, and price information (Laukkanen & Lauronen, 2005).

2.2 Barriers to adopt mobile banking

Although mobile banking adoption has been strong growth over the earlier couple of years, it is still in its infancy. With all the laudable benefits of mobile banking, it is yet to realize larger-scale adoption, especially within the emerging economies. Several studies have analyzed the factors that encourage the use of these technologies by raising the opportunity that some of them may act as barriers. Investigation of those barriers has usually originated from what is known as consumer resistance to innovation (Ram & Sheth, 1989). The theory of innovation resistance (TIR) aims to clarify why customers resist innovations based on 5 main barriers such as usage, value, risk, tradition, and image. Barati & Mohammadi (2009) explain mobile services are innovation and each innovation comes with the resistance of customers; furthermore, factors that caused the present innovation must be considered before the acceptance model was built and if resistance to mobile banking is enhanced, intention to use this service is declined.



2.3 Conceptual model and operational definition



Figure 1: Conceptual Model of TIR Adoption on the study of intention to use ACLEDA Mobile

This study proposed the Theory of Innovation Resistance (TIR) as conceptual framework to understand customers' intention to adopt mobile banking. Five main barriers, such as usage, value, risk, tradition, and image have directly impacts on behavioral intention. And operational definition of each factor was listed below:

- Usage Barrier: this factor assumes that "the person acts in a very certain automatic way that creates him/her hold to already established behaviours. Therefore, it can be linkened to a routine, a habit, or a pattern of use" (Laukkanen et al., 2008)
- Value Barrier: the value barrier appears "after we consider the performance of innovation in relevance its price and to existing alternatives. If the performance is not high enough, people will have no incentive to adopt it"(Borraz-Mora et al., 2017)
- Risk Barrier: refers to "the uncertainty and side effects associated with the adoption of any innovation. About online activities, such risks are usually more related to financial aspects" (Laukkanen, 2016)
- Tradition Barrier: refers to "the obstacles posed by any innovation if that innovation brings changes in a user's existing routine, culture, and behaviour" (El Badrawy et al., 2012)
- Image Barrier: "deals with a negative impression of the innovation emerging from the perceived level of complexity associated with its usage or its origin" (Lian & Yen, 2013)
- Behavioural Intention: refers to "the motivational factors that influence a given behaviour where the stronger the intention to perform the behaviour, the more likely the behaviour will be performed"(Ajzen, 1991)

Overall, this model was established to figure out the factors that hinder customers' intentions to adopt mobile banking by appointed 5 barriers as independent variable and behavioral intention to use as dependent variable.



2.4 Summary of research hypotheses

According to proposed conceptual model, the study had formulated the following hypotheses:

- H1: Usage barrier has a negative effect on behavioral intention to use ACLEDA Mobile.
- H2: Value barrier has a negative effect on behavioral intention to use ACLEDA Mobile.
- H3: Risk barrier has a negative effect on behavioral intention to use ACLEDA Mobile.
- H4: Tradition barrier has a negative effect on behavioral intention to use ACLEDA Mobile.
- H5: Image barrier has a negative effect on behavioral intention to use ACLEDA Mobile.

3. Research Methodology

3.1 Research design

This research study was conducted in survey method with a qualitative insight on the reasons for not adoption ACLEDA Mobile since it focused on a group of individuals who had mobile devices (smartphone) and internet connections to penetrate the mobile banking. Firstly, a statistical study was employed by analyzing TIR. After that, previous studies of related literature were reviewed to identify the issues and get an in-depth understanding on the areas of mobile banking. Later, a logistics plan had been developed with the alignment of the research, followed by data collection design, sampling design, and measurement questions.

3.2 Research site

This study was conducted in Phnom Penh City by focusing on students who experienced in using mobile banking and the site was selected because of the better internet accessibility.

3.3 Target population and sample size

The researcher targeted university students whose occupational status was company employee, business owner, government officer, self-employed, currently unemployed, and who had experience in adopting mobile banking. Furthermore, this study selected 129 as sample size. Green (1991) "determined that $N \ge 50 + 8m$ is appropriate" which N stands for sample size and " m " refer to independent variables. Thus, this sample selection is appropriate and best practice of regression.

3.4 Research instruments

The data were collected through the survey questionnaire, designed with three sections. The first section focused on the personal data of the adopters, and the second section focused on measurement of the six variables with seven likert scale. The last section focused on a qualitative insights of the reasons why ACLEDA Mobile was not adopted.



Construct	Item	References
Usage	UB1: Using ACLEDA Mobile is inconsistent with the current routine.	Laukkanen
Barrier	UB2: Using ACLEDA Mobile is inconvenient in some situations.	(2016)
	UB3: It is complex to interact with ACLEDA Mobile.	
Value	VB1: Using ACLEDA Mobile is costly.	Laukkanen
Barrier	VB2: I cannot control my financial matters by myself when using	(2016)
	app.	
Rick Barrier	RB1 : I would not feel safe providing personal privacy information	$I_{ee}(2009)$
Hisk Durrer	over the ACLEDA Mobile.	Lee (2007)
	RB2: I'm worried to use ACLEDA Mobile because other people may	
	be able to access my account.	
	RB3: When transferring money using ACLEDA Mobile, I am afraid	
	that I will lose my money.	
Tradition	TB1. I prefer using my existing mobile app rather than changing to	Laukkanen
Barrier	ACLEDA Mobile	(2016)
Durrer	TB2: I think it is difficult to get my problem solved by the ACLEDA	(2010)
	Mobile service provider.	
	1	
Image	IB1: I am facing difficulties in using ACLEDA Mobile.	Laukkanen
Barrier	IB2: ACLEDA Mobile is not popular among adults.	(2016)
Rehavioral	BI1: Lintend to use ACLEDA Mobile for my banking needs	$I_{00}(2000)$
Intention	BI2: Lintend to use ACLEDA Mobile whenever I nurchase the	Venkatesh
mention	product online and offline	and Davis
	BI3: I will strongly recommend others to use ACLEDA Mobile.	(2000)
	BI4: I intend to use ACLEDA Mobile than any other app.	()
	· 11	

Table 1: Summary of Measurement Constructs

3.5 Data collection

This study used mainly the primary data, which obtained from the response of the students through the survey questionnaire. Due to the pandemic of COVID-19, the questionnaire was primarily distributed through social media (Facebook, Telegram, Instagram...). The respondents were considered trusted sources who could give reliable and credible responses which would be useful for data analysis.

3.6 Data analysis

Practically, the data set stored in the Google Form was exported as an excel file (*.xlsx) and imported into the SPSS for running the analysis. Adopting descriptive and inferential analysis, the study analyzed the mean, frequency, percentage, and standard deviation to examine levels of agreement, and then the study analyzed Cronbach alpha to check the internet consistency, the association of each variable, and Linear Regression analysis.



3.7 Reliability test

Table 2 illustrated the Cronbach's Alpha of 4 constructs scored more than 0.7 in both pilot test (n=30) and the actual result (n=129), which means that the constructed variables are reliable to be implemented in this research (Nunnally, 1994). Therefore, the constructs are good to be used to study on customers' intention to adopt ACLEDA Mobile.

No	Item	n= 30	n=129
1	Usage Barrier	0.894	0.805
2	Value Barrier	0.886	0.818
3	Risk Barrier	0.924	0.891
4	Tradition Barrier	0.564	0.627
5	Image Barrier	0.662	0.616
6	Behavioral Intention	0.877	0.848

Table 2: Reliability Test of Cronbach's Alpha on Each Variable

4. Data findings and discussion

4.1 Data findings

4.1.1 Demographic factors

The results of demographic factors illustrated as below table.

Table 3: Demographic Respondents

Item	Categories(N=129)	Frequency	Percentage
Gender	Female	84	65.11%
	Male	45	34.89%
Age	16-25 years old	124	96.12%
	26-35 years old	5	3.88%
	36-45 years old	0	0.00%
	Over 45 years old	0	0.00%
University	AIB	51	39.53%
	RUPP	12	9.30%
	Norton University	16	12.40%
	RULE	7	5.43%
	Cam Ed	8	6.02%
	Other	35	27.13%
Occupation	Company Employee	58	44.96%
overpation	Government Officer	1	0.78%
	Business Owner	3	2.33%
	Currently Unemployed	31	24.03%
	Self-employed(freelance)	11	8.53%
	Other	25	19.38%

(continued)



Item	Categories(N=129)	Frequency	Percentage
Frequency	Everyday	48	37.21%
	3 to 4 days a week	35	27.13%
	Once a week	19	14.73%
	Once a month	17	13.18%
	Once in every six months	10	7.75%

Table 3: Demographic Respondents (continued)

4.1.2 Analysis of agreement level

Armstrong, (1987) stated of evaluation criteria that "the variable becomes essential when the score is higher". Thus, the questionnaires of variables were conducted on a seven-point scale as follows:

- Strongly Disagree ranges from 1.00 to 1.85
- Disagree ranges from 1.86 to 2.71
- Somewhat Disagree ranges from 2.72 to 3.57
- Neutral ranges from 3.58 to 4.42
- Somewhat Agree ranges from 4.43 to 5.28
- Agree ranges from 5.29 to 6.14
- Strongly Agree ranges from 6.15 to 7.00

The result has shown in table 4, three variables were stated as " Neutral " for UB, TB, and IMB, as " Somewhat disagree " for VB and RB, and as " Agree " for BI.

	Variable	Min	Max	Mean	SD	Level of Agreement
1.	Usage Barrier (UB)	1.33	7.00	3.9841	1.38970	Neutral
2.	Value Barrier (VB)	1.00	7.00	3.5620	1.71278	Somewhat Disagree
3.	Risk Barrier (RB)	1.00	7.00	3.2403	1.68993	Somewhat Disagree
4.	Tradition Barrier (TB)	1.00	7.00	4.1434	1.47399	Neutral
5.	Image Barrier (IMB)	1.00	7.00	3.8333	1.54911	Neutral
6.	Behavioral Intention (BI)	2.25	7.00	5.8295	0.88608	Agree

Table 4: Level of Agreement of Hindering Factors

*Note: Somewhat Disagree: 2.72-3.57, Neutral: 3.58 – 4.42, Somewhat Agree: 4.43-5.28, Agree: 5.29 – 6.14, Strongly Agree: 6.15 – 7.00

4.1.3 Correlation analysis

This research brought 6 constructs into correlation analysis which was used to test correlation level and validity between all constructs. The closer of number in each variable reaches nearly +1, the stronger the correlations between variables (Pearson, 1926). Table 5 showcased that five variables are significantly correlated at the significant level of 0.01 (2-tailed), except BI which result illustrated the insignificant correlations.



Table 5: Pearson Correlation Matrix							
	UB	VB	RB	TB	IMB	BI	
UB	1.00						
VB	0.658**	1.00					
RB	0.471**	0.763**	1.00				
TB	0.649**	0.670**	0.560**	1.00			
IMB	0.592**	0.633**	0.600**	0.595**	1.00		
BI	0.137	0.118	0.095	0.072	0.025	1.00	

**. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

4.1.4 Linear regression analysis

Linear regression analysis is used to test hypotheses related to the research model between both independent variables and dependent variable (Khanchel, 2019). Additionally, the ANOVA (Analysis of variance) was used to test the adjust R square to check the fitness of the multiple regression models. The F test was employed to determine the significant of the Model; and t test was used to analyze the significant effect independent variable on dependent variable (Ken Black, 2010; Em et al., 2021).

To determine the impact of innovation resistance on behavioural intention, all of the variables were assigned as independent variables and Behavioural Intention (BI) was run as dependent variable. The result shows that R=0.176, R squared=0.031, and significant the p-value of the F distribution is 0.560 which is beyond 0.05. This means that the model did not statistically fit in the study. Furthermore, Table 6 shows that all independent variables, namely Usage Barrier (UB), Value Barrier (VB), Risk Barrier (RB), Traditional Barrier (TB), and Image Barrier (IMB) did not have a positive significant on Behavioural Intention (BI). Therefore, the study rejected all five hypotheses.

Model		Unstan	Unstandardized		t	Sig.
		Coeff	ficients	Coefficients		
		В	Std. Error	Beta		
	(Constant)	5.561	0.266		20.899	0.000
1	UB	0.105	0.084	0.164	1.246	0.215
	VB	0.037	0.086	0.071	0.425	0.671
	RB	0.034	0.075	0.066	0.457	0.648
	TB	(0.024)	0.079	(0.040)	(0.301)	0.764
	IMB	(0.076)	0.073	(0.133)	(1.051)	0.295

		• 1	
Table	6:	Coeff	ficients

a. Dependent Variable: BI

4.2 Discussion

The study investigated consumers' innovation resistance towards the use of ACLEDA Mobile among university students in Phnom Penh, Cambodia. The study proposes the conceptual model based on the Theory of Innovation Resistance (TIR) on the behavioral intention to adopt ACLEDA Mobile. However, the study rejects all hypotheses; in other words, the university students are not willing to use ACLEDA Mobile, not because of the innovative resistance, namely usage, value, risk, tradition, and imag barrier. The result of H1, H2, and



H3 contradicts to the study of Moorthy et al., (2017) and Oktavianus et al., (2017), which prove the impact of UB, VB, and RB on BI. Nonetheless, the result of H4 and H5 are in line with (Gupta and Arora, 2017; Laukkanen, 2016; Moorthy et al., 2017), which do not support the influence of TB and IMB on BI.

To further understand the reasons why university students do not adopt ACLEDA Mobile, an open question has been employed, and the result of Table 7 shows that among 129 respondents who do not use ACLEDA Mobile, 36.43% of them stress that some shops or suppliers do not use ACLEDA Mobile as payment method. Another 34.88% of them state that their family or friends do not use ACLEDA Mobile. Additionally, 24.81% of them prefer using the existing mobile banking app. Finally, 3.105% of the university students do not use ACLEDA Mobile is costly. They may refer to the annual charge fee, and only one respondent, among the 129 students, states *"I don't trust on ACLEDA Mobile"*.

Therefore, the university students are not resistant to the adoption of the new innovation. Most users found it difficult to make any payments through ACLEDA Mobile due to the lack of retail partners such as shop vendors or suppliers. Peer influence is another reason that cause them not to adopt ACLEDA Mobile. The result indicates that their family or friends do not use this app so there is no reason for them to use it as well. The final main reason is that they do not want to change their existing app because they are already familiar with it. Cost and trust are not the main reasons that cause the university students not to adopt ACLEDA Mobile.

1		
Reason	Frequency	Percentage
Some shops or suppliers do not use ACLEDA Mobile as the payment		
method	47	36.43%
My family or friends do not use ACLEDA Mobile	45	34.88%
I prefer to use an existing mobile banking app	32	24.81%
Using ACLEDA Mobile is costly	4	3.10%
I do not trust on ACLEDA Mobile	1	0.78%

Table 7: Most Influent Reason That Hinder Users Adopt ACLEDA Mobile

5. Conclusion and implication of the study

5.1 Conclusion

This study attempts to identify the factors hindering the users' intention to adopt ACLEDA Mobile by employing the Theory of Innovation Resistance (TIR) and a qualitative insight. The study uses survey questionnaire in order to collect primary data from 129 university students who are experiencing using mobile banking. After analyzing the data quantitatively, the study found Usage Barrier (UB), Value Barrier (VB), Risk Barrier (RB), Traditional Barrier (TB), or Image Barrier (IMB) do not have a negative significant effect on the behavioral intention to adopt ACLEDA Mobile. Through a qualitative insight, the study also indicated the three main reasons that university students do not use ACLEDA Mobile, namely a lack of retail shop partners, subjective norm (family or friend), and brand loyalty (stick to the existing brand of mobile banking).



5.2 Implication of the study

Theoretical implication

The study brings several insights into the Theory of Innovation Resistance (TIR) toward the use of mobile banking, namely ACLEDA Mobile. The five barriers such as UB, VB, RB, TB, and IMB do not predict the behavioral intention of the university students to adopt ACLEDA Mobile. This mean that they, whose age between 16 to 35, are not resistant to the adoption of technological innovation. Cambodian young adults are the early adopters (13.5%) and early majority (34%), stated in the Diffusion of Innovation Theory of Everett Rogers. The study suggests not to employ TIR in the analysis of the behavior of the young adults in adopting mobile banking (ACLEDA Mobile) in Cambodia. TIR can be applied in order to study the behavior of adults and elderly in adopting mobile banking.

Practical implication

Even though TIR are not the predictors of the behavioral intention of the university students to adopt ACLEDA Mobile, there are three main reasons indicated earlier should be taken into account. Decision makers in marketing field should integrate these reasons into their marketing strategies. They should make partnership with distribution channels such retail shops, shop vendors, express marts, shopping malls, and traditional markets (Psar). They should also touch the individual users such as households. The sale agents should encourage individual household to use ACLEDA Mobile in Phnom Penh city, towns and urbans in each province due to subjective norm. Last but not least, there should be a change agent that attracts the adopters of existing mobile banking to turn using ACLEDA Mobile. This change agent can be the network of idols or celebrities.

5.3 Limitations and further research

This study employs only TIR on the analysis of the behavior intention of university students to adopt ACLEDA Mobile in Phnom Penh. There are certain limitations such other target respondents, other mobile banking brands, and location; therefore, this study suggest the next researchers to fill in the above gap.



References

- Ajzen, I. (1991). The Theory of Planned Behavior. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 50(2), 179–211. https://sphweb.bumc.bu.edu/otlt/mphmodules/sb/behavioralchangetheories/BehavioralChangeTheories3.html
- Alampay, E. A., & Moshi, G. C. (2018). Impact of Mobile Financial Services in Low- and Lower-Middle-Income Countries: A Systematic Review.
- Anderson, J. (2010). M-banking in developing markets: competitive and regulatory implications. *Info*.
- Armstrong, N. (1987). *Desire and domestic fiction: A political history of the novel*. Oxford University Press.
- Barati, S., & Mohammadi, S. (2009). An Efficient Model to Improve Customer Acceptance of Mobile Banking. *Lecture Notes in Engineering and Computer Science*, 2179(1), 759–763.
- Borraz-Mora, J., Bordonaba-Juste, V., & Polo-Redondo, Y. (2017). Functional barriers to the adoption of electronic banking: The moderating effect of gender. *Revista de Economia Aplicada*, 25(75), 87–107.
- El Badrawy, R., Abd El Aziz, R., & Hamza, M. (2012). Towards an Egyptian mobile banking era. *Computer Technology and Application*, *3*(11).
- Gautier, T. T., Luc, N. N., & Djimoudjiel, D. (2020). Dynamic Analysis of Determinants of Financial Inclusion in Cameroon. *European Scientific Journal ESJ*, 16(01), 106–121. https://doi.org/10.19044/esj.2020.v16n1p106
- Laukkanen, P., Sinkkonen, S., & Laukkanen, T. (2008). Consumer resistance to internet banking: postponers, opponents and rejectors. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*.
- Laukkanen, T. (2016). Consumer adoption versus rejection decisions in seemingly similar service innovations: The case of the Internet and mobile banking. *Journal of Business Research*, 69(7), 2432–2439.
- Laukkanen, T., & Kiviniemi, V. (2010). The role of information in mobile banking resistance. *International Journal of Bank Marketing*.
- Laukkanen, T., & Lauronen, J. (2005). Consumer value creation in mobile banking services. *International Journal of Mobile Communications*, 3(4), 325–338. https://doi.org/10.1504/IJMC.2005.007021
- Lian, J.-W., & Yen, D. C. (2013). To buy or not to buy experience goods online: Perspective of innovation adoption barriers. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 29(3), 665–672.
- Mobile Banking Overview, History, Types, Importance. (n.d.). Retrieved October 1, 2021, from https://corporatefinanceinstitute.com/resources/knowledge/finance/mobilebanking/



Nunnally, J. C. (1994). Psychometric theory 3E. Tata McGraw-hill education.

- Ram, S., & Sheth, J. N. (1989). Consumer resistance to innovations: The marketing problem and its solutions. In *Journal of Consumer Marketing* (Vol. 6, Issue 2, p. 5). https://doi.org/10.1108/EUM00000002542
- Seng, K., & Lay, S. H. (2018). Financial Inclusion: Are Mobile Phones Helpful in Cambodia? Kimty Seng and Sok Heng Lay. *National Bank of Cambodia Working Paper*, 1–44.
- Yang, S., Norng, S., & Thab, C. (2021). Consumer's Attitudes toward the Intention to Adopt Mobile Payment System: A Study on Mobile Application of ABA Bank in Cambodia. *Key Remarks from Managing Director of ACLEDA Institute of Business (AIB)*, 1.



Factors Influencing Students' Major Choice Intention: A Case Study of Finance and Banking Major at AIB

Dina Lim¹, Ratha Long², Chandara Sam³ & Phorn Ngam⁴

Corresponding Author. Email: limdina924@gmail.com 1, 2, 3 & 4. ACLEDA Institute of Business

ABSTRACT

In the last few decades, the number of undergraduates who choose the major of Finance and Banking has remarkably increased at ACLEDA Institute of Business (AIB). To find out why there is a high enrolment rate in this major, it is important to investigate students' major choice intention. Hence, the study aims to identify the factors influencing students' choice of finance and banking major at AIB. The study has adapted a model from Theory of Reason Action with additional variables such as perception of major, perception of personal fit, constraints, apprenticeship, and student support service. Then, a quantitative approach has been employed using questionnaires for the data collection. The questionnaires are distributed to 300 AIB students as the participants and 200 of them have returned the questionnaires, accounting for about 67 percent. The results show that only three hypotheses have been supported. The findings from this research provide some implications for future researchers and literature.

Keywords: Theory of Reason Action (TRA), Major choice Intention, Finance and Banking, Multiple Regression


1. Introduction

1.1 Background of the study

Major selection requires a careful and significant consideration to make sure that our dream career can be realized. The selection has posed a concern not only to policymakers but also educators, firms, especially students and their parents since it could affect the country's economy and their career lives respectively. During this decision-making process, a number of factors, namely the student's environment, personality, perception, and expectation, may determine how students choose their majors at universities.

There are many fields available in the undergraduate programs at universities. Among them, Finance and Banking has become a popular one, which fits well with job market demands in Cambodia because of the banking sector and the rapid growth of financial system. Based on its successful long-standing experiences in banking operation, ACLEDA Bank Plc, one of the leading commercial banks in Cambodia, has started a high education institution, nowadays known as ACLEDA Institute of Business (AIB). AIB was recognized by the Royal Government of Cambodia through a sub-decree No 13. dated Jan 25, 2016, as a private higher education institution, transformed from ACLEDA Training Center (ATC), one of the ACLEDA Bank Plc's subsidiary companies. It offers higher education degree programs such as associate's, bachelor's, and master's), internal and external training programs to students, ACLEDA's staff, and local and international external trainees. Many fields are available at AIB such as (1) Finance and Banking, (2) Accounting, (3) International Business, (4) Risk Management and Insurance, (5) Supply Chain Management and Logistics, (6) English for Translation and interpreting, (7) English for Business Communication, (8) Teaching English as Foreign Language, (9) FINTECH, (10) Business Information Technology and (11) Computer Science and Engineering.

1.2 Research problem

Among all the majors available at AIB, Finance and Banking have appeared the most popular major among the students due to its highest enrolment rate over the last few years. It has remained questionable as to what influences the students' decisions to choose this major at AIB. Meanwhile, although many studies have been conducted to examine this issue in detail, there have remained limited studies in the Cambodian context and there is even none at AIB, which necessitates the investigation of this phenomenon at AIB to seek insights into this issue.

1.3 Research objectives

This study aims to investigate the factors influencing students' major choice intention at AIB with the focus on Finance and Banking Major.

1.4 Research questions

To reach the above research objectives, the researchers employ research question of:

"What factors influence students' major choice of Finance and Banking at AIB?"



1.5 Significance of the study

The findings of the current study may provide some insights into the factors influencing students' major choice intention and it would benefit AIB directly, especially management team, and marketing manager. They can use this study to set up and improve their promotional strategies and specially design their courses to meet the students' satisfaction. Others HEIs can also use the findings for their marketing improvement. Meanwhile, this study would become a useful source for further study.

2. Literature Review

2.1 Overview of Finance and Banking major

Finance is a field involved with the investment of assets and liabilities (known as elements of the balance statement) over space and time, often under conditions of risks or uncertainties. Moreover, it can also be defined as the science of money management through pricing the assets based on risk levels, fundamental values, and their expected rates of return. Furthermore, it can be broken into three sub-categories: public finance, corporate finance, and personal finance (Nair et al., 2013). Additionally, banking is the business processes or activities of a bank which is a commercial or government institution that offers financial services that include accepting savings, lending money, leasing properties to needy people, paying for cheques, providing mortgage facilities for valuable things, providing overdraft facilities to current account holders, acting as institutional investors in financial markets, issuing letters of credit in the business of import and export, acting as a money changer, issuing travellers' cheques, etc. are some of the activities carried out by modern banks in the banking industry. Nowadays, banking can be done via the internet, which is called online/ electronic/digital banking. So, these 2 terms seem work relatedly and be an interesting major.

The financial sector plays an important role in promoting economic growth and inclusiveness through facilitating savings and investments and fostering the efficient use of financial resources (Estrada et al., 2010). Over the periods of implementation of the last update of law, regulation, and Prakas compilation applied to the banks and financial institutions since 2011, the financial system has the notable progress. The banking and microfinance sector have been growing significantly in the terms of scope and scale. The advancement of financial infrastructure including continued modernization of payment systems, improved legal and regulatory framework, governance, transparency, and security network in the sector also contributed substantially to the efficient and secured functioning of the financial system. Meanwhile, the development of the financial sector also challenges that require resolution and additional strategies to align with the rapid evolution of financial markets, the evolution of international financial architecture, and momentum of local, regional, and global integration with digital banking, as well as the based past experiences and new lessons from implementation. However, this trend has been gradually changing but the aligned and professional human resources for serving this sector have still lacked and are highly demanded in our society.



As the reference to above mentions, the Bachelor's Degree in Finance and Banking is designed to the global, regional, and local latest trends of 21st-century business by reviewing and benchmarking many programs of business schools in the USA, EU, ASIA, and ASEAN accredited by AACSB, SACSCOC, ACEND, ACOTE, AAFS, ACCE, AQIP, CSWE, GCIE, IACBE, ACBSP, PAB, HLC, etc. and basing on the context of Cambodian Qualification Framework (CQF) and many stakeholders—alumni, employers, employees, students, guardians, experts, literature reviews, and researches—related to the fields to solve human resource requirement problems in the local, regional, and global marketplaces in the present and future. Furthermore, it will be updated continuously and regularly, once every cycle of the program, or based on the competent authority's requirement to meet the increasing demands for high-quality labor of our society. Moreover, the majority of decision-making to select a business major appears to be required a student to weigh up all possible outcomes, taking into consideration his or her personal preferences and the potential reactions of others to the decision.

2.2 Major choice selection

Influencing factors on student's major choice intention have been researched. Remarkably, recently research have been conducted on factors influencing students to choose business majors based on the Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA) with different approaches, for example studies of Zakaria et al., (2012); and Jackling & Keneley, (2009), used multiple regression, while Kuechler et al. (2009) use partial least square (PLS) regression. Interestingly, Sau (2014) uses confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) and structural equation modeling (SEM). As the result of those studies, student's decision making to select a particular major was influenced highly by interest, job availability and security, and compensation factors, whereas social factor was considered to be of low significant influence (Sau, 2014). However, Kuechler et al., (2009) have found that job availability, job security, job salary, curriculum difficulty, workload, personal image, are not influential factors, but social image, advisor, and family. The authors have concluded that students seem aware that employment opportunities exist. When the economic situation is healthy, there are a lot of jobs with better salary and job security in the market. The job availability, job security, and job salary were found to be of no influence. Sau (2014) has found that selecting a business major mostly requires students to weigh up all possible outcomes, taking into consideration his or her own personal preferences and the potential reactions of others to the decision. To conclude, the Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA) is appropriate to be used as a framework to investigate factors influencing student's major choice intention.

2.3 The Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA)

The Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA), derived from the social psychology setting, was proposed by Ajzen and Fishbein in 1980 (Otieno et al., 2016). TRA suggests that a person's behavioural intention depend on the person's attitude about the behaviour and subjective norms. If a person intends to act, it is then likely that the person will do it. TRA has been significantly applied in numerous studies that have addressed the study of human actions; for example, Lu et al. (2007) used TRA to predict the intention of shippers to use



Internet services in line shipping; Muse & Stamper, (2007) used TRA to investigate factors affecting job performance; Kuechler et al., (2009); Downey et al. (2011) used TRA to determine factors influencing the business major choice.

- 2.4 Conceptual framework of Theory of Reasoned Action (TRA) in study of students' major choice intention
- 2.4.1 Social norms and intention

Social Norm is defined as "the perceived social pressure to involve or not to involve in a behaviour" (Sau, 2014). According to the TRA, normative beliefs determine social norms, which in turn determine intention (Ajzen, 1991). Intentions are indications of how hard people are willing to try, and of how much effort they are planning to exert, to perform the behaviour (Ajzen, 1991). In recent times, parent, teacher/professor, advisor, and friend have been found as influential variables as normative belief. Zhang (2007) has found that professor and family are significantly affected on the social norm, whereas Kuechler et al. (2009) have found that advisors and family significantly influence major choice intention. However, Downey et al. (2011) have found that friend and professor were significantly influential on intention. Remarkably, most studies showed that parent, teacher/ professor, advisor and friends were found influential on major choice at different levels (Myburgh, 2005; Sugahara & Boland, 2009; Crampton et al., 2006; Strasser et al., 2002).

2.4.2 Constraints and intention

Constraints have been defined as "the factors that are assumed by researchers and perceived by individuals to inhibit or prohibit participation and enjoyment in leisure" (Jackson, 1993). Crawford and Godbey (1987) categorized constraints into intrapersonal, interpersonal, and structural constraints. Intrapersonal constraints are internal to an individual; they are mainly related to psychological states and attributes, such as lack of skills, perceived health problems, and perceptions about the availability of opportunities to participate (possibly personal intelligence). Interpersonal constraints are related to an individual's inability to find partners to participate with, whereas structural constraints are external to an individual and include factors related to lack of resources, facility, and financial problems (possibly tuition fee and duration of the study). In general, students prefer a short duration of study and low fee because it saves their time and money.

2.4.3 Perception of personal fit and intention

Perception is defined as "a process of recognition and interpretation of the stimuli from the environment through the human senses: vision, hearing, taste, smell, and touch" (Statt, 1997). Kotler and Armstrong (2010) have asserted that each individual receives and interprets the environmental stimulus in different ways due to the high subjectivity that is inherent to each one's perception. Influenced by their perceptions, students will choose a major which it fits with their interests, personality/ ability, value, and future works satisfaction.



2.4.4 Perception of major and intention

Every decision comes with outcomes. Some students chose to study this or that based on what they expected such as availability of employment, future earnings, job security, social status of the profession, personal growth and development, career flexibility and option, and self-employment opportunity. Sau (2014) shows that "students seem aware that employment opportunities exist." Students intended to study what will serve them with a high profit in the future.

2.4.5 Apprenticeship and intention

The apprenticeship program is a short-term training or on-the-job training, which sets out the knowledge, skills, and behaviours needed to take learners to the next stage of the education, training, or employment that will be developed. At AIB, students, who study in year 4 semester 1, are required to take an apprenticeship program with the skill of operation, credit, and marketing. Thus, this program provides practical experiences, enhances their knowledge and skill, and especially allows them to be well-prepared for their future workplace.

2.4.6 Student support service and intention

The student support service refers to the division, department, or unit which provides services to support students such as class preparation, job opportunities with banks or companies solving any issues or complaints of students. At AIB, the student support service is the unit of the Academic Student Office (ASO), which plays an essential role in finding and announcing job opportunities, and applying for jobs for students.

2.5 Conceptual model in the adoption of TRA on students' intention



Figure 1: Conceptual Model of Structured TRA on Students' Major Choice Intention to in AIB



2.6 Hypotheses

- H1: Perception of major has a positive significant effect on students' major choice intention.
- H2: Social norm has a positive significant effect on students' major choice intention.
- H3: Constraints have a negative effect on students' major choice intention.
- H4: Perception of personal fit has a positive significant effect on students' major choice intention.
- H5: Apprenticeship has a positive significant effect on students' major choice intention.
- H6: Student support service has a positive significant effect on the students' major choice intention.

3. Research Methodology

3.1 Research design

The quantitative method was used to conduct this correlational study since it focused on a group of individuals who intended to choose a Finance and Banking major in AIB. Primarily, the researchers reviewed the related literature to gain an in-depth understanding regarding the relevant topic, contextualizing it into the regional concept. Later, a logistics plan was then developed with the alignment of the research, followed by data collection design, sampling design, and measurement questions.

3.2 Sampling and sample frame

The dataset used in this study was collected via a survey questionnaire completed by students studying at AIB, Cambodia. This study selected 200 students as a sample size. Green (1991) determined that N > 50 + 8 m is appropriate for the best practice of regression analysis, and "m" represents the number of independent variables. Thus, this sample size selection was appropriate for the study.

3.3 Research tools & measurements of constructs

The researchers collected the data through survey questionnaires which were mainly made by Microsoft Form which could categorize the data which showcase clear results from desired samples. Moreover, the 7-Likert scale was employed to minimize the errors.

Construct	Item	References
	PM1: Availability of employment	
Perception of Major (PM)	PM2: Future earnings	
	PM3: Job security	
	PM4: Social status of the profession	Sau, (2014)
	PM5: Personal growth and development	
	PM6: Career flexibility and option	
	PM7: Self-employment opportunity	
		(continued)

Table 1: Construct Measurements of All Variables



Construct	Item	References	
	SN1: Parents or relatives pressure		
	SN2: Professor's advice		
Social Norm (SN)	SN3: Guidance or career counselors		
	SN4: Friends or peers	Sau, (2014)	
	SN5: Institute's promotion campaign		
	SN6: University's prestige		
	SN7: Previous experience		
	C1: Tuition Fee		
	C2: Duration of study		
Constraints(C)	C3: Difficult courses or qualification	Sau, (2014)	
	C4: Personal intelligence		
	PPF1: This major fits my interest		
Perception of	PPF2: Major fits my personality/ability	~ ~~~	
Personal Fit (PPF)	PPF3: Major fits my values	Sau, (2014)	
	PPF4: Major fits my future work satisfaction		
	MCI1: Lintend to choose a major		
Major Choice	MCI2: I always try to understand the major choice	Sau. (2014)	
Intention (MCI)	MCI3: I make a plan for a major choice		
	MCI4: I am willing to tell others about my major choice		
	A1: Provide practical experience		
Apprenticeship (A)	A2: Enhance knowledge of my major		
11 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	A3: Improve my skill/major		
	SSS1: Benefit to my study		
Student Support	SSS2: Help find works		
Service (SSS)	SSS3: Solve any problems		

Table 1: Construct Measurements of All Variables(continued)

3.4 Data collection

The primary data focused on responses from the selected respondents. Since this research was quantitative, 300 respondents were requested to fill out the survey questionnaires through Telegram.

3.5 Data analysis

Practically, the data set stored in the Microsoft Form was exported as an excel file (*.xlsx) and imported into the SPSS for the analysis. Adopting descriptive and inferential analysis, the researcher analysed mean, frequency, percentage, and standard deviation to examine levels of agreement (descriptive), followed by Cronbach's coefficient of reliability, correlation of each variable, and Linear Regression analysis (inferential).

3.6 Reliability test (Cronbach's alpha)

As shown in table 2, Cronbach's Alpha value of all constructs scored more than 0.7 in both the pilot test (n=30) and the actual result (n=200), which indicate that the constructed



variables and factors are reliable to be implemented in this research (Nunnally, 1994). Therefore, the constructs are good to be used to acquire the students' major choice intention.

No	Item	n= 30	n=200
1	Perception of Major (PM)	0.923	0.894
2	Social Norm (SN)	0.863	0.891
3	Constraints (C)	0.827	0.851
4	Perception of Personal Fit (PPF)	0.925	0.917
5	Major Choice Intention (MCI)	0.895	0.858
6	Apprenticeship (A)	0.939	0.869
7	Student Support Service (SSS)	0.891	0.844
	All Variables	0.953	0.908

Table 2: Reliability	Test of Cronbach'	s Alpha on	Each Variable
14010 = 11011401110	rest or cromowen	o i inpiña o ii	Davin (antaoiv

4. **Results and Discussions**

4.1 Results

4.1.1 Demographic factors

For respondent hometown, 59.50% of them were from the province while 40.50% were from Phnom Penh.

Table 3: Demographic respondent	ts
---------------------------------	----

Item	Categories(N=128)	Frequency	Percentage
Gender	Female	168	84%
	Male	32	16%
Age	Equal or under 17 years old	3	1.5%
	18-19 years old	86	43%
	20-21 years old	80	40%
	22-23 years old	22	11%
	24-25 years old	6	3%
	Over 25 years old	3	1.5%
Education	Bachelor	192	96%
	Associate	6	3%
	Master	2	1%
Year of study	1	100	50%
	2	4	2%
	3	32	16%
	4	64	32%
			(continued)



Item	Categories(N=128)	Frequency	Percentage
Occupation	Currently Unemployed	138	69%
	Company Employee	42	21%
	Government Officer	2	1%
	Business Owner	9	4.5%
	Self-employed	9	4.5%
Hometown	Phnom Penh	119	59.5%
	Province	81	40.5%

Table 3: Demographic respondents (continued)

4.1.2 Level of agreement

Armstrong (1987) asserts that the variable becomes essential when the score is higher as far as the evaluation criteria are concerned. The questionnaires of variables were conducted in Seven Scale points ranging from the following:

- Strongly Disagree ranges from 1.00 to 1.85
- Disagree ranges from 1.86 to 2.71
- Somewhat Disagree ranges from 2.72 to 3.57
- Neutral ranges from 3.58 to 4.42
- Somewhat Agree ranges from 4.43 to 5.28
- Agree ranges from 5.29 to 6.14
- Strongly Agree ranges from 6.15 to 7.00

As shown in Table 3, 5 variables such as Perception of Major, Perception of Personal Fit, Major Choice Intention, Apprenticeship, and Student Support Service were stated as "Agree" and the other 2 variables such as Social Norm and Constraints were stated as "Somewhat Agree".

Variable	Minimum	Maximum	Mean	Std. Deviation	Level of
					Agreement
Perception of Major	1.00	7.00	5.9271	0.93464	Agree
Social Norm	1.29	7.00	4.9971	1.30774	Somewhat
Constraints	1.50	7.00	5.0275	1.34332	Agree Somewhat Agree
Perception of Personal Fit	1.50	7.00	5.4838	1.21601	Agree
Major Choice Intention	1.75	7.00	5.4937	1.03835	Agree
Apprenticeship	2.00	7.00	5.7767	0.95230	Agree
Student Support Service	1.33	7.00	5.7983	1.02285	Agree

Table 4: Level of Agreement

*Note: Somewhat Agree: 4.43 – 5.28, Agree: 5.29 – 6.14, Strongly Agree: 6.15 – 7.00



4.1.3 Correlation analysis

Correlation analysis was used to test correlation level and validity between all constructs which in this research brought 7 constructs into testing. According to Pearson (1926), the correlation's values range between -1 to +1, meaning that the closer the number in each variable reaches nearly +1, the stronger the correlations are.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
1-Perception of Major	1							
2-Social Norm	0.420**	1						
3-Constraints	0.283**	0.759**	1					
4-Perception of Personal Fit	0.349**	0.662**	0.616**	1				
5-Major Choice Intention	0.448**	0.559**	0.533**	0.779**	1			
6-Apprenticeship	0.422**	0.608**	0.540**	0.754**	0.791**	1		
7-Student Support Service	0.421**	0.587**	0.592**	0.781**	0.758**	0.844**	1	

Table 5: Pearson Correlation Matrix

Table 4 illustrates that all the variables are significantly correlated at 0.01 (2-tailed). The results also showed positive correlations between variables with the lowest of 0.283 of Constraints towards Perception of Majors and highest of 0.844 of Student Support Service towards Apprenticeship.

4.1.4 Linear regression analysis

Linear regression analysis was used to test hypotheses related to the research model between both independent variables and dependent variables (Khanchel, 2019). Additionally, the ANOVA (Analysis of Variance) was used to test the Adjust R Square to check the fitness of the multiple regression models. The F test will apply to determine the significance of the Model; and the t-test will be used to analyse the significant effect of each independent variable on a dependent variable (Em et al., 2021).

Significant test of regression model

To find the overall significance of variables, F-test was deployed and let the p-value showcase the result as to whether or not it is significant. If the p-value is less than 0.05, the null hypothesis is rejected and the proposed hypothesis will be accepted. In another way, if the p-value is greater than 0.05, the null hypothesis is accepted and the proposed hypothesis will be rejected.

To discover the impact between variables, all of the variables except Major Choice Intention were assigned as independent variables and MCI was run as a dependent variable as shown in Table 5. The significance of the model can be accessed by the F statistic,



	Table 6: ANOVA					
	Model	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
	Regression	154.381	6	25.730	82.527	.000 ^b
1	Residual	60.174	193	0.312		
	Total	214.555	199			

meaning that at least one of the independent variables impacts the dependent variable (MacKinnon et al., 2000).

a. Dependent Variable: MCI

b. Predictors: (Constant), PM, SN, A, C, PPF, SSS

The result of Table 5 shows the degree of freedom between and within (6 and 193) and F value (82.527) and p-value of F(Sig.) was less than 0.05, showing that model as fully significant. Hence, the model was acceptable to study students' major choice intention in AIB. Moreover, there are at least one of the independent variables influencing Major Choice Intention (which is the dependent variable).

Table 6 illustrated the model summary including R, R Square, Adjusted R Square, and Std Error of the Estimate. This statistic indicated that the overall correlation was determined by R = 0.848. R Square equal to 0.720 is higher than Adjusted R Square of 0.711, while the standard error of the estimate appeared to be 0.55837. Thus, this result suggested that the combination of these variables made 71.1% of students' intention.

Table 7: Model Summary				
Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate
1	.848	.720	.711	.55837

a. Predictors: (Constant), PM, SN, A, C, PPF, SSS

Regression of all variables toward MCI

As shown in Table 7, all hypotheses, PM, SN, C, PPF, A, and SSS were run as independent variables of the regression analysis, whereas the MCI was addressed as a dependent variable at a significance level. As the result, each hypothesis was described below.

	Table 8: Coefficients					
	Model	Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients	t	Sig.
		В	Std. Error	Beta		
	(Constant)	(0.028)	0.299		(0.095)	0.925
	PM	0.142	0.049	0.127	2.909	0.004
	SN	(0.053)	0.052	(0.067)	(1.011)	0.313
1	С	0.038	0.048	0.049	0.786	0.433
	PPF	0.333	0.058	0.390	5.767	0.000
	А	0.423	0.083	0.388	5.097	0.000
	SSS	0.084	0.081	0.083	1.037	0.301

a. Dependent Variable: MCI



4.1.5 Results of hypothesis testing

The following table exhibits the summary result from the tested hypotheses within the regression analysis.

Table 9: Hypothesis Testing		
	Significance	Statistical
heses	Value	Significance
Perception of major has a positive significant effect on students' major choice intention.	0.004	Supported
Social norm has a positive significant effect on students' major choice intention.	0.313	Unsupported
Constraints have a negative effect on students' major choic intention.	e 0.433	Unsupported
Perception of personal fit has a positive significant effect on students' major choice intention.	0.000	Supported
Apprenticeship has a positive significant effect on students' major choice intention.	0.000	Supported
Student support service has a positive significant effect on the students' major choice intention.	0.301	Unsupported
	Perception of major has a positive significant effect on students' major choice intention. Social norm has a positive significant effect on students' major choice intention. Constraints have a negative effect on students' major choic intention. Perception of personal fit has a positive significant effect on students' major choice intention. Apprenticeship has a positive significant effect on students' major choice intention. Student support service has a positive significant effect on the students' major choice intention.	Table 9: Hypothesis TestingSignificance ValuePerception of major has a positive significant effect on students'0.004major choice intention.0.313Social norm has a positive significant effect on students' major0.313choice intention.0.313Constraints have a negative effect on students' major choice 0.433intention.0.000Perception of personal fit has a positive significant effect on students' major choice intention.0.000Apprenticeship has a positive significant effect on students' major choice intention.0.000Student support service has a positive significant effect on the students' major choice intention.0.301

Table 8 illustrated the results of hypotheses testing including significant value and statistical significance. As shown in table 8, 3 hypotheses were supported with significant value of 0.004, 0.000, and 0.000 representing the influences of perception of major, perception of personal fit, and apprenticeship on students' major choice intention. On the other hand, 3 hypotheses were unsupported, containing values of 0.313, 0.433, and 0.301 represented the influences of social norm, constraints, and student support service on students' major choice intention.

4.2 Discussion

The study found out that 3 hypotheses were supported and others were unsupported which were both aligned and contrasted with the study of (Sau, 2014). The result of H1 infers that students intended to study in AIB because they considered the benefits of major such as availability of employment, future earnings, job security, social status of the profession, personal growth and development, career flexibility and option, and self-employment opportunity. Otherwise, the result on hypothesis 2 showcased that social norm didn't support the students' major choice intention (t = 1.011, Sig. ≤ 0.313) due to socials (parents, relatives, professors, guidance or career counsellors, etc.) had no influences on student' decision. Likewise, hypothesis 3 was also unsupported (t =0.786, Sig. ≤ 0.433), which indicating that constraints (tuition fee, duration of study, and difficulties of course) had no negative effects on students' intention. It seems that tuition fee and duration are reasonable for them. On the other hand, perception of personal fit (H4) was proven to be a significant factor that influences the students' major choice intention (t = 5.767, Sig. ≤ 0.000). This



result implies Finance and Banking majors are fit with their interests, personality, value, and future work satisfaction. Furthermore, the result showcased that apprenticeship (H5) had a significant impact on the students' major choice intention (t =5.097, Sign. \leq .000). In other words, the students are interested in apprenticeship, which could provide them with the practical experience at the time of study as enhancing their knowledge and skill of their major. Lastly, hypothesis 6 was unsupported with a significant value of 0.301, pointing out that student support service had no impact on students' major choice intention.

5 Conclusion and Recommendation

5.1 Conclusion

The study aims to investigate factors influencing students' major choice intention. This study was crucial for conducting and analysing the case study on academic degree students of AIB, majoring in Finance and Banking. TRA model was used to analyse the students' intention with a quantitative approach. The findings showed that three hypotheses were supported (perception of major, perception of personal fit, apprenticeship have a positive significant effect on students' major choice intention) and the other three hypotheses were unsupported (social norm, constraints, and student support service have no impact on students' major choice intention).

5.2 Implication

The study offers several managerial implications. The results show that socials do not have an effect on students' major choice intention, and students' perception turns to be the important factor. In other word, students are responsible for their own choice. They have enough freedom to decide what they want to be. In this sense, their perception is the main indicator of whether or not to choose a major. Decision maker in management team or marketing field should focus on what deserve the needs of students in order to pursue their study at AIB; at the same time, AIB should continue developing curriculum and revising courses to make sure that the programs can produce human resources with high capacity. Lastly, although the results shown insignificant on student support service, this factor plays such an important role for students. However, employability would be in students' perception as they need to have a good job with high salary after graduation.

5.3 Limitations and further research

Each study always contains its limitations. First, the data used for this study was collected from AIB students only, which cannot be generalized to the target population. Second, the study focused on students' intention to choose major of Finance and Banking; however, these results cannot be used to predict students' intention to choose other majors. Lastly, the study employed only multiple regression. Thus, researchers suggest that future studies focus on other targeted respondents, using other approaches such as SEM and AMOS for data analysis.



References

- Ajzen, I. (1991). The Theory of Planned Behavior. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 50(2), 179–211. https://sphweb.bumc.bu.edu/otlt/mphmodules/sb/behavioralchangetheories/BehavioralChangeTheories3.html
- Armstrong, N. (1987). *Desire and domestic fiction: A political history of the novel*. Oxford University Press.
- Crampton, W. J., Walstrom, K. A., & Schambach, T. P. (2006). Factors influencing major selection by college of business students. *Issues in Information Systems*, 7(1), 226–230.
- Crawford, D. W., & Godbey, G. (1987). Reconceptualizing barriers to family leisure. *Leisure Sciences*, 9(2), 119–127.
- Downey, J. P., Mcgaughey, R., & Roach, D. (2011). Attitudes and influences toward choosing a business major: The case of information systems. *Journal of Information Technology Education: Research*, *10*(1), 231–251.
- Em, S., Norng, S., & Thab, C. (2021). The Analysis of Technology Acceptance Model on the Study of Consumer Attitudes toward the Intention to Adopt Mobile Banking App in Cambodia. *AIB Research Series*, *Volume 1*, 74–86. http://acledaaib.edu.kh/tc/eng/business-news-20210302.pdf
- Estrada, G. B., Park, D., & Ramayandi, A. (2010). Financial development and economic growth in developing Asia. *Asian Development Bank Economics Working Paper*, 233.
- Jackling, B., & Keneley, M. (2009). Influences on the supply of accounting graduates in Australia: a focus on international students. *Accounting & Finance*, *49*(1), 141–159.
- Jackson, E. L. (1993). Recognizing patterns of leisure constraints: Results from alternative analyses. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 25(2), 129–149.
- Khanchel, H. (2019). The Impact of Digital Transformation on Banking. *Journal of Business Administration Research*, 8(2), 20. https://doi.org/10.5430/jbar.v8n2p20
- Kotler, P., & Armstrong, G. (2010). Principles of marketing. Pearson education.
- Kuechler, W. L., McLeod, A., & Simkin, M. G. (2009). Why don't more students major in IS? *Decision Sciences Journal of Innovative Education*, 7(2), 463–488.
- Lu, C.-S., Lai, K., & Cheng, T. C. E. (2007). Application of structural equation modeling to evaluate the intention of shippers to use Internet services in liner shipping. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 180(2), 845–867.
- MacKinnon, D. P., Krull, J. L., & Lockwood, C. M. (2000). Equivalence of the mediation, confounding and suppression effect. *Prevention Science*, *1*(4), 173–181.
- Muse, L. A., & Stamper, C. L. (2007). Perceived organizational support: Evidence for a mediated association with work performance. *Journal of Managerial Issues*, 517–535.
- Myburgh, J. E. (2005). An empirical analysis of career choice factors that influence firstyear accounting students at the University of Pretoria: a cross-racial study. *Meditari*:



Research Journal of the School of Accounting Sciences, 13(2), 35–48.

- Nair, R., Gopalkrishnan, S., & Paryani, Y. (2013). Investment in Tax saving schemes by salaried class. *Journal of Commerce and Management Thought*, 4(2), 406–418.
- Nunnally, J. C. (1994). The assessment of reliability. *Psychometric Theory*.
- Otieno, O. C., Liyala, S., Odongo, B. C., & Abeka, S. O. (2016). *Theory of reasoned action* as an underpinning to technological innovation adoption studies.
- Pearson, K. (1926). On the coefficient of racial likeness. Biometrika, 105-117.
- Sau, L. (2014). FACTORS INFLUENCE ACCOUNTING MAJOR SELECTION. In *NUM Research Series* (Vol. 1).
- Statt, D. A. (1997). *Understanding the consumer: a psychological approach*. Macmillan International Higher Education.
- Strasser, S. E., Ozgur, C., & Schroeder, D. L. (2002). Selecting a business college major: An analysis of criteria and choice using the analytical hierarchy process. *American Journal* of Business.
- Sugahara, S., & Boland, G. (2009). The accounting profession as a career choice for tertiary business students in Japan-A factor analysis. *Accounting Education: An International Journal*, 18(3), 255–272.
- Zakaria, M., Fauzi, W. N. A. W., & Hasan, S. J. (2012). Accounting as a choice of academic program. *Journal of Business Administration Research*, 1(1), 43.
- Zhang, W. (2007). Why IS: Understanding undergraduate students' intentions to choose an information systems major. *Journal of Information Systems Education*, 18(4).

this page is intertionally let blank

ACLEDA INSTITUTE OF BUSINESS

#1397, Phnom Penh - Hanoi Friendship Blvd., Phum Anlong Kngan,
Sangkat Khmuonh, Khan Saensokh, Phnom Penh, Kingdom of Cambodia.
023 999 944 / 023 986 937 / 015 600 410

✿ www.acleda-aib.edu.kh

🖂 info@acleda-aib.edu.kh

O ACLEDA INSTITUTE OF BUSINESS